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The Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Peabody Essex Museum
Issue, Series 2002 (the “Series 2002 Bonds”) to be issued by the Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the
“Authority”) will be issued under a Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002 (the “Agreement”), between the
Authority, Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. (the “Museum”) and  Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as trustee (the “Trustee”), and
pursuant to Chapter 614 of the Massachusetts Acts of 1968, as amended from time to time (the “Act”).  The Series 2002 Bonds are
issuable only as fully registered bonds in denominations of $25,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof for the Series
2002 Bonds bearing interest at the Weekly Mode, Monthly Mode or Multiannual Mode, and in denominations of $5,000 or any integral
multiple thereof for the Series 2002 Bonds bearing interest at the Fixed Rate Mode.  When issued, the Series 2002 Bonds will be
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”).  Purchases of
beneficial interests in the Series 2002 Bonds will be made in book-entry-only form.  Purchasers of beneficial interests in the Series 2002
Bonds (the “Beneficial Owners”) will not receive physical delivery of certificates representing their interests in the Series 2002 Bonds.
Interest on the Series 2002 Bonds, together with the principal of and redemption premium, if any, and Purchase Price of the Series 2002
Bonds, will be paid directly to DTC, so long as the Series 2002 Bonds are held in book-entry-only form.  The final disbursements of such
payments to the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2002 Bonds will be the responsibility of DTC, the DTC Participants and the Indirect
Participants, all as defined and more fully described herein.  See “THE SERIES 2002 BONDS—Book-Entry-Only System” herein.

Upon issuance and prior to the conversion to a different Mode (as defined herein), the Series 2002 Bonds other than Pledged Bonds
(as defined herein) will bear interest at the Weekly Rate (as defined herein), which will be a variable rate established by the Remarketing
Agent (as defined herein).  In no event shall the Weekly Rate for the Series 2002 Bonds exceed ten percent (10%) per annum unless
increased in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.  Interest on the Series 2002 Bonds accruing at the Weekly Rate shall be
payable on the first Business Day of each calendar month, commencing January 2, 2003 (an “Interest Payment Date”).  As set forth
in the Agreement, the Series 2002 Bonds may be converted or reconverted to bear interest in a Weekly Mode, Monthly Mode or
Multiannual Mode or converted to a Fixed Rate Mode.

The Series 2002 Bonds are special obligations of the Authority payable solely out of the Revenues (as defined herein) of the
Authority paid to the Trustee, for the account of the Authority by the Museum in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement and
funds drawn under an irrevocable direct pay letter of credit (the “Letter of Credit”) issued by Citizens Bank of Massachusetts

(the “Bank”).  Under the Letter of Credit, the Bank is obligated to pay the Trustee, upon presentation of required documentation, the
amount necessary to pay together with other Eligible Funds (defined herein) held by the Trustee under the Agreement the principal
or Purchase Price (defined herein) of, and up to 45 days’ interest on, the Series 2002 Bonds.  The Letter of Credit will expire (unless
extended in accordance with its terms) on December 30, 2009 or earlier upon the occurrence of certain events described herein.

The Series 2002 Bonds will be subject to optional, mandatory and extraordinary redemption, to optional and mandatory tender
and to acceleration, all as described herein.  While the Series 2002 Bonds are in the Weekly Mode or the Monthly Mode, the owners of
the Series 2002 Bonds may have their Series 2002 Bonds purchased upon demand at par plus accrued interest upon seven days written
notice, as described herein.

THE SERIES 2002 BONDS SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE A DEBT OR LIABILITY OF THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS (THE “COMMONWEALTH”) OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF,
OR A PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE COMMONWEALTH OR ANY SUCH POLITICAL SUBDIVISION
THEREOF, BUT SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE REVENUES PROVIDED UNDER THE AGREEMENT.
NEITHER THE COMMONWEALTH NOR THE AUTHORITY SHALL BE OBLIGATED TO PAY THE SERIES 2002 BONDS
OR THE INTEREST THEREON EXCEPT FROM SUCH REVENUES.  NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE
TAXING POWER OF THE COMMONWEALTH OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF IS PLEDGED TO THE
PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2002 BONDS.  THE ACT DOES NOT IN ANY WAY
CREATE A SO-CALLED MORAL OBLIGATION OF THE COMMONWEALTH TO PAY DEBT SERVICE IN THE EVENT
OF DEFAULT BY THE INSTITUTION.  THE AUTHORITY DOES NOT HAVE ANY TAXING POWER.

The Series 2002 Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and accepted by the Underwriter subject to prior sale, to withdrawal or
modification of the offer without notice and opinions as to legality and certain other matters by Palmer & Dodge LLP, Boston,
Massachusetts, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Museum by its counsel, Ropes & Gray, Boston,
Massachusetts, for the Bank by its counsel, Edwards & Angell, LLP, Boston, Massachusetts and for the Underwriter by its counsel,
Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C., Boston, Massachusetts.  It is expected that the Series 2002 Bonds in definitive
form will be available for delivery to DTC or its custodial agent pursuant to a “FAST” closing in Boston, Massachusetts on or about
December 30, 2002.

Merrill Lynch & Co.
Dated: December 20, 2002



 

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PUBLIC OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR 
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE SERIES 2002 
BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE THAT MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. 
SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the Authority, the Museum or the 
Underwriter to give any information or to make any representations other than as contained in this Official 
Statement and the Appendices hereto in connection with the offering described herein, and if given or made, such 
other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing.  This 
Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities other than 
those identified on the cover page or an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy such securities in any 
jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or sale.  The Authority neither has nor assumes 
any responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Official Statement, other 
than that appearing under “THE AUTHORITY” and “LEGAL MATTERS” (but only insofar as it relates to the 
Authority). 

Certain information contained in this Official Statement has been obtained from the Museum, DTC, the Bank 
and other sources that are believed to be reliable.  No representation or warranty is made by the Authority, however, 
as to the accuracy or completeness of such information, and nothing contained in this Official Statement is, or may 
be relied on as, a promise or representation by the Authority.  The information herein relating to the Authority, and 
its affairs and condition, has been provided by such entity, and the Museum makes no representation with respect to 
or warrants the accuracy of such information.  This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of 
securities referred to herein and may not be used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose.  The information and 
expression of opinions set forth herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official 
Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no 
change in the affairs of the parties referred to above since the date hereof. 

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement.  The Underwriter 
has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibility to 
investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the 
Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. 
 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

 
 Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute “forward-looking 
statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 21E 
of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the United States Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended.  Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used such as “plan”, 
“expect”, “estimate”, “budget” or other similar words.  Such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited 
to, certain statements contained in Appendix A – “Certain Information about the Museum” herein. 
 
 THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES 
AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS 
DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR 
ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.  THE 
MUSEUM DOES NOT PLAN TO ISSUE ANY UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO THOSE FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS IF OR WHEN ITS EXPECTATIONS, OR EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES ON 
WHICH SUCH STATEMENTS ARE BASED OCCUR. 
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Relating to 
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MASSACHUSETTS HEALTH AND EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY 
VARIABLE RATE DEMAND REVENUE BONDS, PEABODY ESSEX MUSEUM ISSUE, SERIES 2002 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
 The purpose of this Official Statement is to furnish certain information in connection with the sale by the 
Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority”) of its $35,000,000 Variable Rate 
Demand Revenue Bonds, Peabody Essex Museum Issue, Series 2002 (the “Series 2002 Bonds”).  The Series 2002 
Bonds will be issued under a Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002 (the “Agreement”) between 
the Authority, Peabody Essex Museum (the “Museum”) and Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as trustee (the 
“Trustee”).  The Series 2002 Bonds are to be issued in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement and Chapter 
614 of the Massachusetts Acts of 1968, as amended from time to time (the “Act”).  The information contained in 
this Official Statement is provided for use in connection with the initial sale of the Series 2002 Bonds.  The 
definitions of certain terms used and not defined herein are contained in “Appendix C – Definitions Of Certain 
Terms.” 
 
 The Series 2002 Bonds are being issued to finance and refinance a portion of the costs of the construction and 
renovation of certain facilities located on the Museum’s campus.  See “THE PROJECT” and “ESTIMATED 
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” herein. 
 
 As security for the Series 2002 Bonds, the Museum will enter into a Reimbursement Agreement dated as of 
November 12, 2002 (the “Reimbursement Agreement”) with Citizens Bank of Massachusetts, Boston, 
Massachusetts  (the “Bank”), pursuant to which the Bank will issue in favor of the Trustee an irrevocable, 
transferable, direct-pay letter of credit (the “Letter of Credit”) in an amount sufficient to pay the aggregate principal 
amount of or a portion of the Purchase Price corresponding to the principal of the Series 2002 Bonds and up to 45 
days' interest on the Series 2002 Bonds, or a portion of the Purchase Price corresponding to interest (at a maximum 
rate of ten percent (10%) per annum, unless increased pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, and based upon a 
365-day year and the actual number of days elapsed) when the Series 2002 Bonds bear interest at the Weekly Rate.  
See “Appendix G – Summary of Certain Provisions of the Reimbursement Agreement.”  For more information 
regarding the Bank see “Appendix E – Certain Information About The Bank.” 
  
 The Series 2002 Bonds are limited obligations of the Authority and shall be payable solely from the payments 
to be made from certain funds pledged under the Agreement.  For so long as the Series 2002 Bonds are secured by a 
Credit Facility, funds pledged under the Agreement include draws by the Trustee honored by the issuer of the Credit 
Facility.  See “Appendix E – Certain Information About The Bank.” 
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SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2002 BONDS 

General Obligation 

The Authority, the Museum, and the Trustee have executed the Agreement, which provides that, to the extent 
permitted by law, the Agreement is a general obligation of the Museum and that the full faith and credit of the 
Museum are pledged to its performance. 

Under the Agreement, the Museum will agree to make loan payments sufficient to pay the principal or Purchase 
Price of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2002 Bonds when due.  As further security for the payment of 
the principal or Purchase Price of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2002 Bonds, the Authority will assign 
to the Trustee certain of the Authority's rights and remedies under the Agreement, including the right to receive 
payments from the Museum pursuant to the Agreement (other than payments for the use of the Authority or the 
Trustee or for the use of their respective officers, directors, employees or agents). 

THE SERIES 2002 BONDS ARE NOT SECURED BY A MORTGAGE LIEN OR SECURITY 
INTEREST IN ANY REAL OR PERSONAL PROPERTY OR REVENUES OF THE MUSEUM. 

Special Obligation of the Authority 

The Series 2002 Bonds are special obligations of the Authority, equally and ratably secured by and payable 
from a pledge of and lien on, to the extent provided by the Agreement, the moneys received by the Trustee for the 
account of the Authority pursuant to the Agreement. 

THE SERIES 2002 BONDS SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE A DEBT, LIABILITY OR SO-
CALLED MORAL OBLIGATION OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS OR ANY POLITICAL 
SUBDIVISION THEREOF, BUT SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE REVENUES DERIVED BY 
THE AUTHORITY UNDER THE AGREEMENT.  THE AUTHORITY DOES NOT HAVE TAXING POWER. 

The Letter of Credit 

Under the Letter of Credit, the Bank is obligated to pay to the Trustee, upon presentation of a sight draft and 
required accompanying documentation, the amount necessary to pay the principal or Purchase Price of and interest 
on the Series 2002 Bonds then due and payable.  The Letter of Credit provides that it will expire (unless extended in 
accordance with its terms) on December 30, 2009 or earlier upon the occurrence of certain events described herein.  
The Agreement also provides that the Trustee will make timely drawings under the Letter of Credit in accordance 
with the terms thereof (i) to pay when due (whether by maturity, redemption, acceleration or otherwise) the principal 
of and interest on the Series 2002 Bonds (other than Institution Bonds or Pledged Bonds) and (ii) to the extent that 
proceeds from the sale of Tendered Bonds which have been remarketed are not available therefor, to pay when due 
the Purchase Price of Series 2002 Bonds (other than Institution Bonds or Pledged Bonds). 

Under certain circumstances, the Letter of Credit may be replaced by a substitute Credit Facility.  (See “THE 
LETTER OF CREDIT AND THE BANK” herein). 

THE AUTHORITY 

The Authority is a body politic and corporate and a public instrumentality of The Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts (the “Commonwealth”) organized and existing under and by virtue of the Act.  The purpose of the 
Authority, as stated in the Act, is essentially to provide assistance for nonprofit public and private institutions for 
higher education, private nonprofit schools for the handicapped, nonprofit hospitals and their nonprofit affiliates, 
nonprofit nursing homes and nonprofit cultural institutions in the construction, financing, and refinancing of projects 
to be undertaken in relation to programs for such institutions. 
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Authority Membership and Organization 

The Act provides that the Authority shall consist of nine members who shall be appointed by the Governor and 
shall be residents of the Commonwealth.  At least two members shall be associated with institutions for higher 
education, at least two shall be associated with hospitals, at least one shall be knowledgeable in the field of state and 
municipal finance (by virtue of business or other association) and at least one shall be knowledgeable in the field of 
building construction.  All Authority members serve without compensation, but are entitled to reimbursement for 
necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties as members of the Authority.  The Authority shall 
elect annually one of its members to serve as Chairman and one to serve as Vice Chairman. 

The members of the Authority are as follows: 

 DAVID T. HANNAN, Chairman; term as member expires July 1, 2006.   
 

Mr. Hannan, a resident of Hingham, is President and Chief Executive Officer of South Shore Hospital and its 
not-for-profit, tax-exempt parent organization, South Shore Health & Educational Corporation of South Weymouth, 
Massachusetts.  He is a member of the American College of Healthcare Executives, and the American Hospital 
Association.  

 
JOSEPH G. SNEIDER, Secretary; term as member expires July 1, 2005. 

 
Joseph G. Sneider, a resident of Newton, is Chairman and Chief Financial Officer of C&S Candy Co., Inc. 

located in Brockton and Justice of the Peace Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  Mr. Sneider served as a trustee of 
Boston University Medical Center, (University Hospital), Boston.  Mr. Sneider served as Senior Vice President of 
Olympic International Bank & Trust of Boston.  He also served on a number of public boards and commissions, and 
he belongs to several civic associations. 

 
ROBERT E. FLYNN, M.D.; term as member expires July 1, 2006.   

  
Dr. Flynn, a resident of Dedham, is the former Chair of the Board of Caritas Christi, a current member of the 

Board of Governors of Caritas Christi, the former Secretary of Health Care Services for the Archdiocese of Boston, 
the Past Chairperson of the Massachusetts Hospital Association, and former Chairman of the Department of 
Medicine at St. Elizabeth's Medical Center of Boston.  In 1991, Dr. Flynn was named a Distinguished Professor by 
Tufts University School of Medicine.  He is a Trustee of St. Elizabeth’s Medical Center, Good Samaritan Hospice 
and St. Mary’s Women and Infant’s Center.  His current memberships in Medical Societies include the Boston 
Society of Psychiatry and Neurology, the Massachusetts Medical Society, and the American Medical Association, 
and he is a Fellow of the American Academy of Psychiatry and Neurology. 

 
MARVIN A. GORDON; term as member expires July 1, 2003. 

 
Mr. Gordon, a resident of Milton, is Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer of Whitehall 

Companies in Norwood, Massachusetts.  From 1994 to 1996, Mr. Gordon served on the board of Directors to 
Techniek Development Co. of San Diego, California.  He also served as Chairman of the Board of US Trust Norfolk 
(Milton Bank and Trust) from 1974 to 1976 and as Vice President and Member of the Executive Committee from 
1971 to 1974.  Mr. Gordon has been actively engaged in non-profit, charitable and civic activities.  His affiliations 
include Treasurer and Chairman of the Finance Committee of Milton Hospital Corporation, President, Milton Fuller 
Housing Corporation, and Corporator of Curry College.  Mr. Gordon has been elected to and appointed to a number 
of public boards and belongs to several civic associations.  Mr. Gordon holds a degree from Harvard College and 
Harvard Business School. 
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JOHN E. KAVANAGH, III; term as member expires July 1, 2004. 
 

Mr. Kavanagh, a resident of Ipswich, is President and Chairman of William A. Berry & Son, Inc., one of the 
oldest construction companies in the country.  During his 16 years as President, he has redirected the company’s 
focus from restoration specialties to a full-service building and construction management organization, with 
emphasis on meeting the full range of customer needs: planning, design, construction, operation and maintenance 
services.  Mr. Kavanagh is Chairman of the Board of the North Shore Music Theater, Corporator of Brigham and 
Women’s Hospital and Partners Healthcare, Corporator of Danvers Savings Bank and a former member of Tufts 
University Board of Overseers.  
 

ALLEN R. LARSON, ESQ.; term as member expires July 1, 2007. 
 

Allen R. Larson, a resident of Yarmouth Port, is the founding principal of a law firm and a separate consulting 
firm, the Enterprise Management Group, that advise clients on matters of government regulation, business 
competition, market entry, and economic development.  Prior to establishing his law firm in 1984, Mr. Larson 
worked as an antitrust attorney for the Federal Trade Commission in Washington, D.C.  Currently, he is a Trustee of 
Cape Cod Community College, President of the Cape Cod Center for Sustainability, a Director of the YMCA-Cape 
Cod, and a Member of the Yarmouth Town Finance Committee.  Mr. Larson holds a degree from Dartmouth 
College and earned a J.D. from Albany Law School and an M.B.A. from the University of Minnesota. 
 

DAVID E. PHELPS; term as member expires July 1, 2009. 
 

Mr. Phelps, a resident of Pittsfield, is President and Chief Executive Officer of Berkshire Health Systems.  From 
1989 to 1992, Mr. Phelps was the Senior Vice President of Berkshire Health Systems and Chief Operating Officer of 
Berkshire Health Systems Management Services, Inc.  His honors and board memberships include Past Chairman, 
Pittsfield Economic Development Authority; President of the Massachusetts Council of Community Hospitals; 
Board of Trustees of the Massachusetts Hospital Association; Board Member, Massachusetts Board of Directors of 
BankNorth; Corporator of the Boys & Girls Club of Pittsfield; Corporator of the Berkshire Museum; and 1997 
Recipient of the “Lawrence W. Strattner Distinguished Citizen Award”.  Mr. Phelps holds a B.A. from St. Mary’s 
University and an M.B.A. from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. 
 

ROBERT M. PLATT;  term as member expires July 1, 2009. 
 
RINA K. SPENCE;  term as member expired July 1, 2001.  Ms. Spence will continue to serve until she is 

reappointed or her successor takes office. 
 

Ms. Spence, a resident of Cambridge, is President and Chief Executive Officer of iEmily.com, Inc. a health and 
wellness website for teen girls.  She was also founder of Spence Centers for Women’s Health, a network of 
comprehensive outpatient health facilities.  Prior to Spence Centers for Women’s Health, Ms. Spence served as the 
president and chief executive of Emerson Hospital for ten years.  She was also the founding executive director of the 
Commonwealth Health Care Corporation; a prepaid managed care plan for health care delivery to Medicaid 
recipients.  Ms. Spence has been actively engaged in the civic life of Boston and its corporate affairs for more than 
25 years.  Her affiliations include The Partnership and the Wang Center.  Ms. Spence is a trustee of Eastern 
Enterprises and a Director of Berkshire Mutual Life and a Trustee of the State Street Master Trust.  Ms. Spence 
holds a degree from Boston University and Harvard University’s John F. Kennedy School of Government. 

Staff and Advisors 

BENSON T. CASWELL, a resident of North Andover, was appointed Executive Director of the Authority on 
April 9, 2002, and is responsible for the management of the Authority’s affairs.  From 1992 through 2002, Mr. 
Caswell worked for Ponder & Co. in Chicago where he was a Senior Vice President.  From 1987 through 1992, he 
was Vice President of Ziegler Securities, Chicago, Illinois.  From 1983 through 1986, he was an attorney with 
Gardner, Carton & Douglas.  Mr. Caswell holds a Juris Doctor from the University of Chicago, an MBA from 
Lehigh University and a BS from the University of Maine. 
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PALMER & DODGE LLP, attorneys of Boston, Massachusetts, are serving as Bond Counsel to the Authority 
and will submit their approving opinion with regard to the legality of the Series 2002 Bonds as provided by the 
Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Appendix H. 

The Act provides that the Authority may employ such other counsel, engineers, architects, accountants, 
construction and financial experts, or others as the Authority deems necessary. 

Powers of the Authority 

Under the Act, the Authority is authorized and empowered, among other things, directly or by and through a 
participating institution for higher education, a participating school for the handicapped, a participating hospital or 
hospital affiliate, a participating nursing home or a participating cultural institution as its agent, to acquire real and 
personal property and to take title thereto in its own name or in the name of one or more participants as its agent; to 
construct, reconstruct, remodel, maintain, manage, enlarge, alter, add to, repair, operate, lease as lessee or lessor, and 
regulate any project; to enter into contracts for any or all of such purposes; or for the management and operation of a 
project; to issue bonds, bond anticipation notes and other obligations, and to fund or refund the same; to fix and 
revise from time to time and charge and collect rates, rents, fees and charges for the use of and for the services 
furnished or to be furnished by a project or any portion thereof and to enter into contracts in respect thereof; to 
establish rules and regulations for the use of a project or any portion thereof; to receive and accept from any public 
agency loans or grants for or in the aid of the construction of a project or any portion thereof; to mortgage any 
project and the site thereof for the benefit of the holders of revenue bonds issued to finance such project; to make 
loans to any participant for the cost of a project or to refund outstanding obligations, mortgages or advances issued, 
made or given by such participant for the cost of a project; to charge participants its administrative costs and 
expenses incurred; to acquire any federally guaranteed security and to pledge or use such security to secure or 
provide for the repayment of its bonds; and to do all things necessary or convenient to carry out the purposes of the 
Act.  Additionally, the Authority may undertake a joint project or projects for two or more participants. 

Indebtedness of the Authority 

The Authority has heretofore authorized and issued certain series of its revenue bonds for private colleges and 
universities, private hospitals and their affiliates, community providers, cultural institutions, schools for the 
handicapped and nursing homes in the Commonwealth.  Each series of revenue bonds has been a special obligation 
of the Authority. 

The Authority expects to enter into separate agreements with eligible institutions in the Commonwealth for the 
purpose of financing projects for such institutions.  Each series of bonds issued by the Authority constitutes a 
separate obligation of the borrowing institution for such series, and the general funds of the Authority are not 
pledged to any bonds or notes. 

THE SERIES 2002 BONDS 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Series 2002 Bonds.  Reference is made to the Series 
2002 Bonds for the complete text thereof and to the Agreement for a more detailed description of such provisions.  
The discussion herein is qualified by such reference. 

Pledge of Revenues Under the Agreement 

Under the Agreement, the Authority assigns and pledges to the Trustee in trust upon the terms of the Agreement 
(i) all Revenues to be received from the Museum or derived from any security provided thereunder and (ii) all rights 
to receive such Revenues and the proceeds of such rights.  Under the Act, to the extent authorized or permitted by 
law, the pledge of Revenues is valid and binding from the time when such pledge is made and the Revenues and all 
income and receipts earned on funds held by the Trustee for the account of the Authority shall immediately be 
subject to the lien of such pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of such pledge 
shall be valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the 
Authority irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof. 
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The assignment and pledge by the Authority does not include (i) the rights of the Authority pursuant to 
provisions for consent, concurrence, approval or other action by the Authority, notice to the Authority or the filing 
of reports, certificates or other documents with the Authority, or (ii) the powers of the Authority as stated in the 
Agreement to enforce the provisions thereof. 

General 

The Series 2002 Bonds shall be dated the date of their original issuance and shall mature on July 1, 2033.  The 
Series 2002 Bonds shall be initially issued in the Weekly Mode.  While in the Weekly Mode, Monthly Mode or 
Multiannual Mode, the Series 2002 Bonds shall be issued in denominations of $25,000 or any multiple of $5,000 in 
excess thereof.  From and after the Fixed Rate Conversion Date and upon satisfaction of certain conditions set forth 
in the Agreement, the Series 2002 Bonds shall be issued in denominations of $5,000 or any multiple thereof. 

The Series 2002 Bonds in the Weekly Mode and Monthly Mode, respectively (except Pledged Bonds), shall 
bear interest at the Weekly Rate and Monthly Rate determined in accordance with the Agreement from the date 
thereof or from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or provided for.  Interest on the Series 2002 
Bonds bearing interest at a Weekly Rate or Monthly Rate will be payable on the first Business Day of each month 
for an Interest Accrual Period consisting generally of the preceding calendar month, with the first Interest Payment 
Date commencing January 2, 2003, and on maturity or redemption or mandatory tender dates.  Interest on Series 
2002 Bonds bearing interest at the Multiannual Rate and from and after the Fixed Rate Conversion Date will be 
payable on January 1 and July 1, with the first Interest Payment Date being the first day of either January or July 
specified in writing by the Museum to the Trustee, which date shall be at least two months but less than ten months 
after the Fixed Rate Conversion Date. 

While Series 2002 Bonds are in the Weekly or Monthly Modes, interest shall be computed on the basis of a 
365- or 366-day year, as appropriate, and actual days elapsed.  Interest on the Series 2002 Bonds in the Multiannual 
or Fixed Rate Modes shall be computed on the basis of a 360 day year of twelve 30-day months.  The interest on the 
Series 2002 Bonds until they come due shall be payable on the Interest Payment Dates applicable to the Mode the 
Series 2002 Bonds are in from time to time.  Interest on overdue principal of any Series 2002 Bonds shall bear 
interest at the rate last established for the Series 2002 Bonds before the principal became overdue until duly paid or 
provided for or until the Series 2002 Bonds have been accelerated pursuant to the provisions of the Agreement, but 
unpaid interest shall not bear interest after its due date. 

While the Series 2002 Bonds bear interest at the Weekly Rate, Monthly Rate or Multiannual Rate, interest on 
the Series 2002 Bonds shall be payable in immediately available funds by wire or bank transfer within the 
continental United States from the Trustee to the Registered Owners, determined as of the close of business on the 
applicable record date, at their addresses as shown on the registration books maintained by the Trustee.  While the 
Series 2002 Bonds bear interest at the Fixed Rate, interest on the Series 2002 Bonds shall be payable by check or 
draft mailed by the Trustee to the Registered Owners of the Series 2002 Bonds, determined as of the close of 
business on the applicable record date, at their addresses as shown on the registration books maintained by the 
Trustee except for interest on any Bond in the Book-Entry Only System, which is payable in the same manner as 
Series 2002 Bonds bearing interest at the Weekly Rate. 

The principal or Purchase Price of any Bond bearing interest at the Weekly Rate, Monthly Rate or Multiannual 
Rate will be payable by wire or bank transfer within the continental United States in immediately available funds 
from the Trustee to the Registered Owner at its address shown on the registration books maintained by the Trustee 
upon presentation and surrender of such Bond at the corporate trust office of the Trustee at Flagship Bank and Trust 
Company c/o Chittenden Trust Company, Two Burlington Square, Burlington Vermont 05401, or such other address 
specified in writing by the Trustee to the Bondowners. 

While Series 2002 Bonds bear interest at the Weekly Rate or Monthly Rate, if any payment, redemption or 
maturity date for principal, premium or interest shall not be a Business Day, then the payment thereof shall be made 
on the next succeeding Business Day, and interest shall accrue until payment.  
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Determination of Weekly Rate 

Prior to conversion to a different mode, the Series 2002 Bonds (except Pledged Bonds) shall bear interest at the 
Weekly Rate, which rate shall be determined periodically by the Remarketing Agent not later than the Effective 
Date as the lowest rate which in its judgment, on the basis of prevailing market conditions, would permit the sale of 
the Series 2002 Bonds at par on and as of the Effective Date.  In no event will the Weekly Rate on the Series 2002 
Bonds (other than Pledged Bonds) exceed ten percent (10%) per annum  (the “Maximum Interest Rate”) unless the 
Museum has increased the Maximum Interest Rate pursuant to the Agreement and the amount of the Credit Facility 
has been increased accordingly. 

If for any reason the interest rate on the Series 2002 Bonds cannot be established for any Rate Period as 
described above or is held invalid or unenforceable by a court of law, the interest rate on the Series 2002 Bonds 
during such Rate Period will equal the Interest Index as determined by the Remarketing Agent.  If for any reason the 
Remarketing Agent fails to announce the Effective Rate for any Rate Period, the Effective Rate for that Rate Period 
shall be the same as the Effective Rate for the prior Rate Period.  While the Series 2002 Bonds are in the Weekly 
Mode, any owner of the Series 2002 Bonds may obtain the Effective Rate by contacting the Remarketing Agent.     

The Weekly Rate or Monthly Rate will be determined and announced not later than the Effective Date. The 
Effective Date initially shall be the date of original delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds and thereafter each Thursday 
(or the next succeeding day if Thursday is not a Business Day) while the Series 2002 Bonds in the Weekly Mode 
and the first Business Day of each month in the Monthly Mode.  Pursuant to the Agreement, the Remarketing Agent 
shall notify the Trustee of the change in the Weekly or Monthly Rate, if any, to take effect on the next succeeding 
Effective Date.  Each determination and redetermination of the Weekly or Monthly Rate shall be conclusive and 
binding on the Authority, the Trustee, the Bank, the Museum and the Bondowners. 

Conversion Option 

The interest rate on all, but not less than all, of the Series 2002 Bonds may be converted on any Interest 
Payment Date, at the election of the Museum, from the Weekly Mode to the Monthly Mode, Multiannual Mode or 
Fixed Rate Mode, upon compliance by the Museum with the provisions of the Agreement.  At least 30 days 
preceding the proposed conversion date, the Trustee shall mail by first class mail a notice of the proposed 
conversion to the registered owners of all Outstanding Series 2002 Bonds (other than Pledged Bonds).  Any Series 
2002 Bonds converted to the Weekly or Monthly Mode shall be supported by a Credit Facility.  Series 2002 Bonds 
to be converted to the Multiannual or Fixed Rate Mode may be supported by a Credit Facility.  Series 2002 Bonds in 
the Fixed Rate Mode may not be converted to another Mode. 

Upon conversion to the Fixed Rate Mode, the converted Series 2002 Bonds shall be subject to mandatory 
sinking fund redemption (or serial maturities as provided in the next sentence) beginning on the July 1 following the 
Fixed Rate Conversion Date so as to produce as nearly as practicable level annual debt service payments as 
determined by the Remarketing Agent based on prevailing financial market conditions and provided to the Museum 
and the Trustee in a redemption schedule prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date.  If directed by the Museum at 
least seven Business Days prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, the Remarketing Agent, if it determines in its 
sole discretion that serialization will achieve a lower net interest cost on the Series 2002 Bonds, shall determine 
separate Fixed Rates to be assigned to Series 2002 Bonds to be redeemed from sinking fund installments in such 
amounts and in such years as the Remarketing Agent determines will achieve the lowest net interest cost on the 
Series 2002 Bonds; provided, however, that the principal amount of the Series 2002 Bonds to be so selected shall 
equal the mandatory sinking fund installments therefor established as provided above.  Each Bond to be redeemed 
from sinking fund installments in the years to which a particular Fixed Rate is assigned shall be deemed to mature 
on the last date on which any Bond bearing interest at such Fixed Rate is to be redeemed from sinking fund 
installments.  The Remarketing Agent shall determine a separate Fixed Rate for each such maturity of Series 2002 
Bonds.  On the date of determination thereof, the Remarketing Agent shall notify the Trustee by telephone 
confirmed in writing of the amounts and years assigned to the Series 2002 Bonds and the Fixed Rate.  The Trustee 
shall promptly select, by random drawing, the particular Series 2002 Bonds or portions thereof to be assigned to the 
years and in the amounts as determined by the Remarketing Agent. 
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the preconditions to conversion to another Mode established by the 
Agreement are not met by 10:00 a.m. New York, New York time on the Conversion Date, the Trustee shall deem 
the proposed conversion to have failed and shall immediately notify the Remarketing Agent, and the Series 2002 
Bonds shall remain in the Weekly Mode, although such Series 2002 Bonds shall be subject to mandatory tender.  
See “THE SERIES 2002 BONDS – Mandatory Tender.”  In no event shall the failure of Series 2002 Bonds to be 
converted to another Mode for any reason be, in and of itself, deemed to be a Default or Event of Default under the 
Agreement, so long as the Purchase Price of all Series 2002 Bonds required to be purchased is made available. 

Transfer and Exchange 

Except for Series 2002 Bonds in the Book-Entry Only System, each Series 2002 Bond is transferable by its 
registered owner, in person or by its attorney duly authorized in writing, at the corporate trust office of the Trustee, 
at Flagship Bank and Trust Company c/o Chittenden Trust Company, Two Burlington Square, Burlington Vermont 
05401, or such other address specified in writing by the Trustee to the Bondowners, upon surrender of such Series 
2002 Bond to the Trustee for cancellation.  Upon the transfer, a new Series 2002 Bond or Series 2002 Bonds in 
authorized denominations of the same aggregate principal amount will be issued to the transferee at the same office.  
No Series 2002 Bond in the Weekly or Monthly Mode shall be transferred by any person other than the Remarketing 
Agent, except in connection with a tender to purchase as provided in the Agreement except that Pledged Bonds may 
be transferred to the provider of a substitute Credit Facility as provided in the Agreement.  No transfer will be 
effective unless represented by such surrender and reissue. Series 2002 Bonds in the Book-Entry Only System are 
transferable in accordance with such Book-Entry Only System. See “THE SERIES 2002 BONDS – BOOK-ENTRY 
ONLY SYSTEM.” The Series 2002 Bonds may also be exchanged at the corporate trust office of the Trustee, at 
Flagship Bank and Trust Company c/o Chittenden Trust Company, Two Burlington Square, Burlington Vermont 
05401, or such other address specified in writing by the Trustee to the Bondowners, for a new Series 2002 Bond or 
Series 2002 Bonds in authorized denominations of the same aggregate principal amount without transfer to a new 
registered owner.  Exchanges and transfers will be without expense to the Bondowner except for applicable taxes or 
other governmental charges, if any.  The Trustee will not be required to make an exchange or transfer of the Series 
2002 Bonds (except in connection with any optional or mandatory tender of the Series 2002 Bonds) (i) if the Series 
2002 Bonds (or any portion thereof) have been selected for redemption or (ii) during the fifteen (15) days preceding 
any date fixed for selection for redemption if the Series 2002 Bonds (or any portion thereof) are eligible to be 
selected for redemption.  

Optional Tender 

While in the Weekly Mode or Monthly Mode, any Series 2002 Bond or portion thereof (other than Institution 
Bonds or Pledged Bonds) shall be purchased, at the election of the owner thereof, at a price (the “Purchase Price”) 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount tendered for purchase plus accrued and unpaid interest 
thereon to the Purchase Date (as hereinafter defined), upon: 

(1) delivery to, and receipt by, the Trustee of a written irrevocable notice from the owner of such Series 2002 
Bond (“Bondowner's Election Notice”) which (a) requests the purchase of such Series 2002 Bond or portion thereof 
by stating the principal amount of such Series 2002 Bond or portion thereof (or in its entirety only if the Series 2002 
Bond has previously been reduced below $25,000 by partial redemption) to be purchased (a “Tendered Bond”), 
which portion shall be a minimum of $25,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof, provided the 
remaining principal amount of any Series 2002 Bond partially tendered shall not be less than $25,000) and stating 
the date on which the Tendered Bond shall be purchased, which date shall be a Business Day at least seven calendar 
days following the receipt by the Trustee of the Bondowner's Election Notice (the “Purchase Date”), (b) contains the 
name of the Bondowner, (c) irrevocably requests such purchase, and (d) contains an undertaking of the Bondowner 
to deliver the Series 2002 Bond to the Trustee in accordance with (2) below; and 

(2)  except as otherwise provided in the Agreement for Series 2002 Bonds in the Book-Entry Only System, 
delivery of the Tendered Bond to the office of the Trustee at or prior to 10:00 a.m., New York, New York time, on 
the Delivery Date with an appropriate endorsement for transfer or accompanied by a bond power endorsed in blank; 
provided, however, the Tendered Bond shall only be deemed properly tendered if the Tendered Bond delivered to 
the Trustee conforms in all respects to the description thereof in the Bondowner’s Election Notice. 
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If the Purchase Date is an Interest Payment Date, accrued interest shall be paid separately and not as part of the  
Purchase Price on said date.  While in the Weekly Mode, the Series 2002 Bonds will be purchased on the Business 
Day specified in the Bondowner’s Election Notice.  While in the Monthly Mode, the Series 2002 Bonds will be 
purchased on any Effective Date. 

If the Series 2002 Bonds are held in registered form with DTC, they shall be tendered in accordance with the 
rules and procedures established by DTC.  (See “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”) 

Any Series 2002 Bond which is the subject of a Bondowner's Election Notice described in (1) above, but which 
is not tendered in accordance with (2) above, shall be deemed tendered and all rights of the owner thereof shall be 
satisfied from the deposit with the Trustee of the Purchase Price in trust for the benefit of such owner until the Series 
2002 Bond purchased with such moneys shall have been delivered to or for the account of such owner.  Owners of 
Series 2002 Bonds to be tendered which are not delivered to the Trustee shall have no further rights with respect to 
such Series 2002 Bonds except to receive payment of the Purchase Price therefor upon surrender of such Series 
2002 Bonds to the Trustee. 

No Tender Permitted Under Certain Circumstances  

The owners of the Series 2002 Bonds shall have no right to exercise an optional tender described therein, and 
the Series 2002 Bonds will not be purchased, if at the time fixed for purchase an acceleration of the Series 2002 
Bonds shall have occurred and not have been annulled in accordance with the Agreement.  

Mandatory Tenders 

 Expiration of Credit Facility without Substitution or Replacement; Substitution of Credit Facility.  The 
Series 2002 Bonds in the Weekly or Monthly Mode are subject to mandatory tender for purchase in connection with 
the expiration or termination or substitution of the Credit Facility and failure by the Museum to provide for the 
delivery to the Trustee of an extension of the then existing Credit Facility or a substitute Credit Facility at least 
forty-five (45) days prior to the Interest Payment Date preceding the expiration or termination date of the Credit 
Facility then in effect, and in connection with the substitution of a Credit Facility, unless the Trustee receives written 
notice from S&P, if the Series 2002 Bonds are then rated by S&P, that such substitution will not result in a reduction 
or withdrawal (excluding a reduction or withdrawal resulting from a change in Mode) of the ratings on the Series 
2002 Bonds.  The Trustee shall give at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Bondowners of any 
substitution of a Credit Facility that does not require a mandatory tender in accordance with the Agreement.  The 
extension of an existing Credit Facility shall not constitute a substitute Credit Facility or result in a mandatory tender 
of the Series 2002 Bonds. 

 Change in Mode. In the event the Series 2002 Bonds in the Weekly or Monthly Mode are converted to 
another Mode, the Series 2002 Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase upon not less than thirty (30) 
days’ prior written notice from the Trustee, which notice shall state that the Series 2002 Bonds are subject to 
mandatory tender for purchase on the Conversion Date. 

Redemption Prior to Maturity 

Extraordinary Redemption Without Premium.  To the extent moneys are transferred to the Bond Fund (i) after 
completion of the Project or (ii) pursuant to certain events, including a loss of, damage to or destruction of property 
of the Museum at the direction of the Bank under the Reimbursement Agreement, such moneys (and earnings 
thereon) shall be used to reimburse the Bank for moneys drawn on the Credit Facility (after applying such moneys to 
redeem Pledged Bonds) to redeem an equal amount of Series 2002 Bonds allocable to such moneys within one year, 
as a whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date, without premium.  If the amount so transferred in any one calendar year is less than $5,000, the 
Trustee shall apply it to reimburse the Bank for drawings on the Credit Facility for regularly scheduled payments of 
debt service instead of calling Series 2002 Bonds for redemption. 
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Mandatory Redemption Without Premium In the Event of Act of Bankruptcy of the Bank.  The Series 2002 
Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption if, within 30 days of the occurrence of an Act of Bankruptcy of the 
Bank, a substitute Credit Facility has not been issued to the Trustee.  In such event, the Series 2002 Bonds shall be 
subject to redemption in whole within one hundred thirty (130) days after the occurrence of the Act of Bankruptcy 
of the Bank, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date, without premium. 

Sinking Fund Redemption.  Prior to the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, the Series 2002 Bonds, other than 
Institution Bonds, shall be redeemed at their principal amounts without premium, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date, from moneys drawn on the Credit Facility, if any, (other than in the case of Pledged Bonds), on 
July 1 of each of the years and in the amounts as follows: 

Year Principal Amount Year Principal Amount 
2008 $   875,000 2021 $1,325,000 
2009 900,000 2022 1,375,000 
2010 925,000 2023 1,425,000 
2011 975,000 2024 1,475,000 
2012 1,000,000 2025 1,500,000 
2013 1,025,000 2026 1,550,000 
2014 1,075,000 2027 1,600,000 
2015 1,100,000 2028 1,650,000 
2016 1,125,000 2029 1,725,000 
2017 1,175,000 2030 1,775,000 
2018 1,200,000 2031 1,825,000 
2019 1,250,000 2032 1,900,000 
2020 1,300,000 2033 1,950,000 

 

Mandatory Redemption Without Premium - Expiration of Credit Facility.  The Series 2002 Bonds in the 
Multiannual or Fixed Rate Mode if they are secured by a Credit Facility are also subject to redemption prior to 
maturity in the event of the expiration of the Credit Facility and failure by the Museum to provide for delivery to the 
Trustee of a substitute Credit Facility (or notice of extension of the existing Credit Facility) at least 45 days prior to 
the Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the expiration date of the Credit Facility then in effect.  In any 
such event, the Series 2002 Bonds shall be redeemed in whole and not in part from funds drawn on the expiring 
Credit Facility on such Interest Payment Date at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount 
redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without premium. 

Optional Redemption.  The Series 2002 Bonds are also subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of 
the Museum, as a whole or in part at any time, (A) on or prior to the Conversion Date to the Fixed Rate Mode, only 
from moneys drawn on the Credit Facility, if any, in the denomination of $5,000 or any multiple of thereof at a 
redemption price equal to the principal amount to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without 
premium, (B) from and after the Conversion Date to the Multiannual Mode, as provided in the Agreement, or (C) 
from and after the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, in the denomination of $5,000 or any multiple thereof on and after 
the dates and at the prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount to be redeemed) set forth in the following 
table, plus accrued interest to the redemption date: 
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Redemption Date       Redemption Price 

First Optional Redemption Date      102% 

First Anniversary of the First 
 Optional Redemption Date       101 
 
Second Anniversary of the First  
Optional Redemption Date, and thereafter    100 

 

provided, however, that if the number of years between the First Optional Redemption Date and the final maturity 
date of the Series 2002 Bonds is less than ten, the Series 2002 Bonds shall not be subject to optional redemption. 

At the request of the Museum, by giving written notice to the Trustee at the time the Museum gives notice of 
conversion of the Series 2002 Bonds to the Fixed Rate, the Remarketing Agent may, at the direction of the 
Institution, establish such revised optional redemption dates and premiums as the Remarketing Agent shall, having 
due regard for prevailing financial market conditions, deem appropriate.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained in the Agreement, no such notice shall be effective unless the Museum shall have delivered to the Trustee 
and the Remarketing Agent at the time of delivery of such notice (1) an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that 
the establishment of such revised optional redemption dates and premiums is lawful under the Act and permitted by 
the Agreement and does not affect the exclusion of the interest on the Series 2002 Bonds from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes, and (2) a resolution of the Authority approving such revised optional redemption dates 
and premiums.  Upon the satisfaction of the conditions specified in the Agreement, the revised optional redemption 
dates and premiums shall be conclusive and binding upon the Authority, the Museum, the Trustee and the 
Bondowners. 

At any time during which the Series 2002 Bonds are Pledged Bonds, the Series 2002 Bonds which are Pledged 
Bonds are subject to redemption at the option of the Museum, in whole or in part at any time, in multiples of $5,000, 
at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest, if any, to the 
redemption date, without premium. 

Partial Redemptions.  In the event of any partial redemption the Series 2002 Bonds shall be redeemed in 
authorized denominations in such order of maturity as the Museum shall direct or, in the case of a redemption of a 
maturity for which sinking fund installments have been established, such redemption shall reduce the mandatory 
sinking fund redemption obligation, if any, in such order of maturity as the Museum shall direct, and within any 
maturity the particular Series 2002 Bonds or portions thereof shall be selected by the Trustee by random drawing.  
The Trustee may provide for the selection for redemption of portions of Series 2002 Bonds.  So long as Cede & Co., 
as nominee of DTC, is the Bondowner, the particular Series 2002 Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed within a 
maturity shall be selected by DTC, in such manner as DTC may determine. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Pledged Bonds shall be redeemed prior to the redemption of any other Series 
2002 Bonds and may be redeemed in denominations of $5,000 or any multiple thereof. 

Notice of Redemption 

When Series 2002 Bonds are to be redeemed, the Trustee shall give notice to the Bondowners in the name of 
the Authority, which notice shall identify the Series 2002 Bonds to be redeemed, state the date fixed for redemption 
and specify the office of the Trustee or its agent at which such Series 2002 Bonds will be redeemed.  The notice 
shall further state that on such date there shall become due and payable upon each Series 2002 Bond to be redeemed 
the redemption price thereof, together with interest accrued to the redemption date, and that moneys therefor having 
been deposited with the Trustee, from and after such date, interest thereon shall cease to accrue and that the Series 
2002 Bonds or portions thereof called for redemption shall cease to be entitled to any benefit under the Agreement 
except the right to receive payment of the redemption price.  The Trustee shall mail the redemption notice no more 
than 60 nor less than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the Registered Owners of any Series 2002 
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Bonds which are to be redeemed, at their addresses shown on the registration books maintained by the Trustee or its 
agent.  Failure to mail notice to a particular Bondowner, or any defect in the notice to such Bondowner, shall not 
affect the redemption of any other Series 2002 Bond. Any notice of optional redemption shall state that the 
redemption is conditional and, if so, the notice shall state what the conditions are. 

Book-Entry-Only System 

 The DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2002 Bonds.  The Series 2002 Bonds will be issued as 
fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as 
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued for each 
maturity of each series of the Series 2002 Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be 
deposited with DTC. 

 DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York 
Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the 
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, 
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities and Exchange Act of 
1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 2 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate 
and municipal debt issues, money market instruments from over 85 countries that DTC’s participants (“Direct 
Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales 
and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and 
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities 
certificates.  Direct Participants includes both U.S. and non-U.S securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust 
companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The 
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC, in turn is owned by a number of Direct Participants of 
DTC and Members of the National Securities Clearing Corporation, Government Securities Clearing Corporation, 
MBS Clearing Corporation, and Emerging Markets Clearing Corporation, (NSCC, GSCC, MBSCC, and EMCC, 
also subsidiaries of DTCC), as well as the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange, LLC, 
and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such 
as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear 
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect 
Participants”).  DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating: AAA. The DTC Rules applicable its Participants are on 
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.  

 Purchases of the Series 2002 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which 
will receive a credit for the Series 2002 Bonds on DTC's records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of 
each Bond (a “Beneficial Owner” and collectively, the “Beneficial Owners”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and 
Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. 
Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well 
as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner 
entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interest in the Series 2002 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries 
made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will 
not receive certificates representing their ownership interest in the Series 2002 Bonds except in the event that use of the 
book-entry system for the Series 2002 Bonds is discontinued. 

 To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2002 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered 
in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC.  The deposit of Series 2002 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. 
or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual 
Beneficial Owners of the Series 2002 Bonds;  DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to 
whose accounts such Series 2002 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and 
Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

 Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect 
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by 
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. 
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 Redemption notices shall be sent to Cede & Co.  If less than all of the Series 2002 Bonds are being redeemed, 
DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 

 Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Series 2002 
Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, 
DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Authority as soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns 
Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2002 Bonds are 
credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

 Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Series 2002 Bonds will be made to Cede & 
Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC's practice is to credit 
Direct Participants' accounts, upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detailed information from the Authority 
or Trustee or Paying Agent on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records.  
Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is 
the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the 
responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Paying Agent, the Museum or the Authority, subject to any 
statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Redemption proceeds, distributions, and 
dividend payments to Cede & Co., (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of 
DTC) is the responsibility of the Authority, the Trustee or the Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct 
Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the 
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

 The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that 
the Authority believes to be reliable, but none of the Authority, the Museum or the Underwriter takes responsibility for 
the accuracy thereof. 

 No Responsibility of Authority, Trustee, Museum and Paying Agent.  None of the Authority, the Paying 
Agent, the Museum or the Trustee will have any responsibility or obligations to direct participants or the 
persons for whom they act as nominees with respect to the payments to or the providing of notice for direct 
participants, indirect participants, or beneficial owners. 

 So long as Cede & Co. is the Registered Owner of the Series 2002 Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references 
herein to the Bondowners or Registered Owners of the Series 2002 Bonds shall mean Cede & Co. and shall not 
mean the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2002 Bonds. 

Certificated Bonds 

 DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Series 2002 Bonds at any 
time by giving reasonable notice to the Authority and the Trustee. In addition, the Authority may determine that 
continuation of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository) is not in the best 
interests of the Beneficial Owners. If for either reason the Book-Entry Only system is discontinued, Bond certificates 
will be delivered as described in the Agreement and the Beneficial Owner, upon registration of certificates held in the 
Beneficial Owner’s name, will become the Bondowner.  Thereafter, Series 2002 Bonds may be exchanged for an equal 
aggregate principal amount of Series 2002 Bonds in other authorized denominations and of the same maturity, upon 
surrender thereof at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee.  The transfer of any Bond may be registered on 
the books maintained by the Trustee for such purpose only upon the assignment in the form satisfactory to the Trustee.  
For every exchange or registration of transfer of Series 2002 Bonds, the Authority and the Trustee may make a charge 
sufficient to reimburse them for any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange 
or registration of transfer, but no other charge may be blade to the Bondowner for any exchange or registration of 
transfer of the Series 2002 Bonds.  The Trustee will not be required to transfer or exchange any Bond during the notice 
period preceding any redemption if such Bond or any part thereof is eligible to be selected or has been selected for 
redemption. 

 



14 

THE LETTER OF CREDIT AND THE BANK  
Letter of Credit 
 
The following description is subject in all respects to the complete terms of the Letter of Credit, the form of which is 

attached hereto as “Appendix F - Proposed Form of the Letter of Credit.” 
 
 Concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds, the Letter of Credit will be issued by the Bank pursuant to 
the Reimbursement Agreement. The Letter of Credit irrevocably authorizes draws in accordance with its terms in an 
aggregate amount not exceeding $35,431,507 (as reduced or reinstated from time to time in accordance with the 
provisions of the Letter of Credit, the “Stated Amount”) of which an amount not exceeding $35,000,000 (as reduced  or 
reinstated from time to time in accordance with the terms of the Letter of Credit, the “Principal Component”) may be 
drawn upon with respect to payment of the unpaid principal amount or the portion of Purchase Price corresponding to 
principal of the Series 2002 Bonds, and an amount not exceeding $431,507 (as reduced or reinstated from time to time in 
accordance with the terms of the Letter of Credit, the “Interest Component”) may be drawn upon with respect to 
payment of up to 45 days of interest accrued on the Series 2002 Bonds or that portion of the Purchase Price 
corresponding to interest accrued on the Series 2002 Bonds (computed at the maximum annual rate of interest of 10% on 
the basis of a 365-day year and the actual number of days elapsed). 
 

Subject to the provisions contained in the immediately following paragraphs, each drawing under the Letter of 
Credit shall reduce the applicable Stated Amount by the amount of such drawing. 
 

After a drawing for the Purchase Price of the Series 2002 Bonds upon an optional or mandatory tender of the Series 
2002 Bonds, the Stated Amount shall be reinstated only upon reimbursement to the Bank for amounts drawn under the 
Letter of Credit and receipt of a certificate by the Bank from the Trustee in the form required under the Letter of Credit.  
With respect to a drawing for interest made on an Interest Payment Date as a scheduled periodic payment of interest on 
the Series 2002 Bonds, if the Trustee shall not have received, within ten calendar days after any payment in respect of 
such drawing, written notice from the Bank to the effect that (i) an “Event of Default” has occurred under the 
Reimbursement Agreement and (ii) the Interest Component of the Letter of Credit will not be reinstated, then the Interest 
Component will be reinstated effective the eleventh calendar day after such payment to an amount equal to 45 days' 
accrued interest (computed at the maximum rate of interest of 10% on the basis of a 365-day year) on the then applicable 
Principal Component.  The Principal Component and Interest Component shall not be reinstated for any drawing made 
with respect to a mandatory redemption. 

   
Termination of Letter of Credit 
 
The Letter of Credit will terminate automatically upon the earliest of (i) honoring of the final drawing available to be 

made under the Letter of Credit, (ii) 5:00 p.m. on the day of receipt by the Bank of written certificate from the Trustee 
(accompanied by the Letter of Credit) to the effect that the Trustee has accepted a substitute Credit Facility in accordance 
with the terms of the Agreement, but only upon the effective date of such substitute Credit Facility, (iii) 5:00 p.m. on the 
date a certificate is received by the Bank from an authorized officer of the Trustee (accompanied by the Letter of Credit) 
stating that a Fixed Rate Conversion Date has occurred or that a Multiannual Rate has become effective with respect to 
any Series 2002 Bonds, or (iv) 5:00 p.m. (Boston, Massachusetts time) on the stated expiration date.  
 

Substitute Credit Facility 
 

The Agreement provides that at certain times prior to the expiration of the Letter of Credit, the Museum may 
provide for delivery to the Trustee of a substitute Credit Facility subject to certain limitations, including the payment in 
full of all obligations under the Reimbursement Agreement.  The Agreement contains provisions with respect to the 
acceptability of the substitute Credit Facility.  Under the Agreement, the Trustee shall provide not less than 30 days’ 
written notice to the owners of the Series 2002 Bonds of the termination or release of the Credit Facility and the identity 
of the provider of the substitute Credit Facility. If any such substitution results in a withdrawal or reduction of the ratings 
on the Series 2002 Bonds in the Weekly or Monthly Modes by S&P, if the Series 2002 Bonds are then rated by S&P, the 
Series 2002 Bonds shall be subject to mandatory tender.  See “THE SERIES 2002 BONDS – Mandatory Tenders.” 
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Said substitute Credit Facility shall require the issuer thereof to pay, upon presentation of drafts and certificates 
required therein, to the Trustee, and in accordance with the terms thereof, up to an amount equal to the aggregate 
principal amount of Series 2002 Bonds then Outstanding whether at maturity, upon redemption or otherwise plus (A) 
forty-five (45) days of accrued interest at the Maximum Interest Rate on the principal amount of Series 2002 Bonds then 
Outstanding in the Weekly Mode or Monthly Mode or (B) an amount equal to two hundred ten (210) days of accrued 
interest (or such lesser or greater number of days as may be required by S&P, if the Series 2002 Bonds are then rated by 
S&P, in the Multiannual or Fixed Rate Mode) on all Series 2002 Bonds then Outstanding in the Multiannual Mode or 
Fixed Rate Mode. 

 
The Bank 

 
See “Appendix E – Information Concerning Citizens Bank of Massachusetts” for a summary description and certain 

financial information of the Bank. 
 

BONDOWNERS’ RISKS 

General 

Purchase of the Series 2002 Bonds involves certain investment risks.  In order to identify risk factors and make 
an informed investment decision, potential purchasers should be thoroughly familiar with this entire Official 
Statement (including the Appendices hereto) in order to make a judgment as to whether the Series 2002 Bonds are 
an appropriate investment.  Certain of the risks associated with the purchase of the Series 2002 Bonds are described 
below.  The following list, while not setting forth all the factors which must be considered, contains some of the 
factors which should be considered prior to purchasing the Series 2002 Bonds.  This discussion of risk factors is not, 
and is not intended to be, comprehensive or exhaustive. 

Limited Obligations 

The Series 2002 Bonds and the interest thereon are limited obligations of the Authority payable solely and only 
from the revenues and other amounts pledged therefor pursuant to the Agreement.  The Series 2002 Bonds are not 
an indebtedness of the Authority, the Commonwealth or any political subdivision thereof.  None of the Authority, 
the Commonwealth, any political subdivision thereof, the directors, officers, employee and agents of the Authority 
or any person executing the Series 2002 Bonds shall be liable on the Series 2002 Bonds, nor shall the Series 2002 
Bonds be payable out of any funds or properties other than as set forth in the Agreement.  The Series 2002 Bonds 
shall not constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of any constitutional, statutory or charter debt limitation or 
restriction and are not payable in any manner by taxation.  The Authority has no taxing power. 

Payment of Debt Service 

The principal or Purchase Price of, and up to 45 days’ interest on, the Series 2002 Bonds are payable from the 
amounts paid by the Bank drawn under the Letter of Credit.  The Museum is required to reimburse the Bank for 
drawings under the Letter of Credit.  Failure to reimburse the Bank pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement shall 
result in an “event of default” thereunder, which upon written notice to the Trustee, shall result in an “Event of 
Default” under the Agreement.  An Event of Default may result in an acceleration of the Series 2002 Bonds.  No 
representation or assurance can be made that revenues will be realized by the Museum in the amounts necessary to 
make payments at the times and in the amounts sufficient to pay the Bank amounts due under the Reimbursement 
Agreement.  The realization of future revenues is dependent upon, among other things, completion of the Project on 
a timely basis, the Museum’s continued ability to raise money from public and private sources, the continued 
relevance of its collections and other resources, its ability to attract visitors through exhibitions of its own works and 
works owned by third parties, including traveling exhibitions, the ability of the Museum to provide educational and 
cultural services, management capabilities, economic developments in the Museum’s service area and conditions in 
the tourism industry generally, including perceived dangers in traveling or visiting public buildings due to terrorist 
threats, the Museum’s ability to control expenses, competition, costs, legislation, governmental regulation and 
developments affecting the federal or state tax-exempt status of non-profit organizations and future changes in other 
conditions that are unpredictable.  Unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which cause variations from 
the Museum’s expectations.   
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In the event that the Bank is unable to fulfill its commitment under the Letter of Credit, the Series 2002 Bonds 
are required to be accelerated.   

The Letter of Credit; Substitute Credit Facility  

Payment of principal, redemption price or purchase price of and interest on, the Series 2002 Bonds is secured by 
the Letter of Credit.  The Letter of Credit is the Bondowners’ primary expected source of payment and of principal 
or Purchase Price of and interest on the Bonds.  Payment of these amounts will depend on the creditworthiness of 
the Bank.  For information on the Letter of Credit and the Bank, see “THE LETTER OF CREDIT AND THE 
BANK” and Appendix E – “Information Concerning Citizens Bank of Massachusetts” herein.  There can be no 
assurance that the Bank will maintain its present financial condition or that an adverse change in such condition will 
not adversely affect its ability to honor future drawings under the Letter of Credit.  In addition, the Agreement 
provides that a substitute Credit Facility may be substituted for the Letter of Credit; provided, among other things, 
that any rating then maintained on the Bonds is not withdrawn or lowered as a result of such substitution.  There can 
be no assurance, however, as to the identity of any such future provider of a substitute Credit Facility or that such 
provider will maintain its financial condition and honor future drawings under such substitute Credit Facility.  A 
change in the creditworthiness of the Bank or any subsequent bank could result in a change in the rating on the 
Bonds. 

  Financial Status of the Museum and the Project 

Information with respect to the Museum and the Project is included as Appendix A.  The information was not 
obtained from an independent third party.  The financial success of the Museum and/or the Project may affect the 
risk of an acceleration of the Series 2002 Bonds prior to maturity. 

If the Museum were to file a petition for relief under the Federal Bankruptcy Code, such filing would constitute 
an “Event of Default” under the Agreement permitting, with the consent of the Bank, an acceleration of the Series 
2002 Bonds. 

Series 2002 Bonds Not Secured by Real or Personal Property 

The Series 2002 Bonds are not secured by a mortgage lien or security interest in any real or personal property of 
the Museum or any other party.   

Enforceability of Remedies 

The remedies available to the Trustee, the Bank, the Authority and the Bondowners upon an event of default 
under the Agreement or the Reimbursement Agreement are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions which 
are, in turn, often subject to discretion and delay.  Under existing constitutional and statutory laws and judicial 
decisions, including specifically Title 11 of the United States Code (the Federal Bankruptcy Code), a particular 
remedy specified by the Agreement or the Reimbursement Agreement may not be readily available or, if available, 
may be limited or subject to substantial delay.  The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the 
issuance and delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds will be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal 
instruments by limitations imposed by principles of equity and by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, 
moratorium and similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. 

No Redemption Upon Loss of Tax Exemption 

As described under “Tax Exemption” herein, non-compliance with certain requirements of the Internal Revenue 
Code could cause interest on the Series 2002 Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes 
retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds.  The Series 2002 Bonds are not required to be redeemed 
and are not subject to mandatory acceleration, and the interest rates on the Series 2002 Bonds will not be changed, in 
the event interest thereon is determined to be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes, although 
such action could constitute an Event of Default under the Agreement and might result in acceleration of the Series 
2002 Bonds. No provision has been made to compensate Bondowners for federal income taxes, interest and/or 



17 

penalties which may be assessed in connection with any such tax liability or such determination or for any other loss 
or any diminution of gain which may occur. 

Early Redemption  

The Series 2002 Bonds are subject to redemption upon the occurrence of certain events more particularly 
described under “THE BONDS – Redemption Prior to Maturity”.  Rights or redemption include the right of optional 
redemption of the Museum.  Owners of the Series 2002 Bonds are subject to these rights or redemption and 
Bondowners may be unable to continue to hold their Series 2002 Bonds in the event of redemption.  See “THE 
BONDS – Redemption Prior to Maturity” herein. 

Possible Acceleration of the Series 2002 Bonds 

 Under the terms of the Agreement, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default thereunder, all of the Series 
2002 Bonds may be declared by the Trustee to be immediately due and payable.  In such event, the principal of the 
Series 2002 Bonds, without premium, and all interest accrued thereon to the accelerated payment dates shall become 
due and payable. 

THE SERIES 2002 BONDS ARE BEING OFFERED SOLELY ON THE BASIS OF THE FINANCIAL 
STRENGTH OF THE BANK AND NOT ON THE FINANCIAL STRENGTH OF THE MUSEUM OR ANY 
OTHER SECURITY NOTWITHSTANDING THE INFORMATION RELATING TO THE MUSEUM 
INCLUDED HEREIN.  THE OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2002 BONDS WILL NOT BE ABLE TO ASSESS 
THE LIKELIHOOD THAT PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2002 BONDS WILL BE ACCELERATED 
BEFORE THE STATED MATURITY THEREOF BECAUSE OF AN EVENT OF DEFAULT UNDER THE 
REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT, UPON WHICH ACCELERATION THE SERIES 2002 BONDS 
WOULD CEASE TO ACCRUE INTEREST AND WOULD BE PAYABLE AT PAR. SEE “THE LETTER 
OF CREDIT AND THE BANK” HEREIN.  

THE PROJECT 

 For a description of the projects being financed and refinanced with the proceeds of the Series 2002 Bonds, see 
Appendix A under the heading “The Project.” 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The proceeds of the Series 2002 Bonds are expected to be applied as follows: 

Sources of Funds  

Principal amount of the Series 2002 Bonds $35,000,000 

Total Estimated Sources of Funds $35,000,000 

Uses of Funds  

Repayment of Indebtedness for Project Costs and Reimbursement to the Museum for Advances 
d b i

$30,000,000 

Deposit to the Construction Fund, including Capitalized Interest 4,531,672 

Costs of Issuance and related fees, including Underwriter’s Discount and Letter of Credit Fee       468,328 

Total Estimated Uses of Funds $35,000,000 

 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

The Authority has determined that no financial or operating data concerning the Authority is material to any 
decision to purchase, hold or sell the Series 2002 Bonds and the Authority will not provide any such information.  
The Museum has undertaken all responsibilities for any continuing disclosure to Bondowners as described below, 
and the Authority shall have no liability to the Bondowners or any other person with respect to such disclosures. 
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The Museum has agreed for the benefit of the Bondowners and any beneficial owners in the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement between the Museum and Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as dissemination agent (the 
“Dissemination Agent”) to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the Museum by no 
later than 120 days after the end of each fiscal year commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2003 (the 
“Annual Information”), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events, if material, all as may 
be required by applicable rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time.  The 
Dissemination Agent is obligated to file Annual Information with each Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities 
Information Repository (“NRMSIR”) now or hereafter recognized by the Securities and Exchange Commission and 
with the state depository in the Commonwealth, if any (the “State Repository”).  The Dissemination Agent is 
obligated to file notices of enumerated events with the NRMSIRs, the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the 
“MSRB”) and with the State Depository, if any.  The nature of the information to be included in the Annual 
Information and the notices of enumerated events is set forth in Appendix I.   

A failure by the Museum or the Dissemination Agent to comply with the provisions of the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement will not constitute an Event of Default under the Agreement  (although Bondowners or 
beneficial owners of Series 2002 Bonds will have an action for specific performance). Under Rule 15c2-12 (the 
“Rule”) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to municipal disclosure, a failure of 
the Museum or the Dissemination Agent to comply with the disclosure requirements must be reported in accordance 
with the Rule and must be considered by any broker, dealer before recommending the purchase or sale of Series 
2002 Bonds in the secondary market.  Consequently, such failure may adversely affect the transferability and 
liquidity of the Series 2002 Bonds. 

 The Museum has not previously been subject to the Rule and has never been required to comply with the 
provisions of the Rule. 

TAX EXEMPTION 

In the opinion of Palmer & Dodge LLP, Bond Counsel to the Authority (“Bond Counsel”), based upon an 
analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings, and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, compliance 
with certain covenants, interest on the Series 2002 Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”).  Bond Counsel is of the further 
opinion that interest on the Series 2002 Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual 
or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel observes that such interest is included in adjusted 
current earnings when calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable income. 

 Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Series 2002 Bonds and any profit on 
the sale of the Series 2002 Bonds are exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes and that the Series 2002 
Bonds are exempt from Massachusetts personal property taxes. Bond Counsel has not opined as to other 
Massachusetts tax consequences arising with respect to the Series 2002 Bonds.  Prospective purchasers of the Series 
2002 Bonds should be aware, however, that the Series 2002 Bonds are included in the measure of Massachusetts 
estate and inheritance taxes, and the Series 2002 Bonds and the interest thereon is included in the measure of certain 
Massachusetts corporate excise and franchise taxes.  Bond Counsel has not opined as to the taxability of the Series 
2002 Bonds or the income therefrom under the laws of any state other than Massachusetts.  A complete copy of the 
proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel for the Series 2002 Bonds is set forth in Appendix H hereto – “Proposed 
Form of Bond Counsel Opinion.” 

 The Code imposes various restrictions, conditions and requirements relating to the exclusion from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes of interest on obligations such as the Series 2002 Bonds.  The Authority and the 
Museum have covenanted to comply with certain restrictions designed to ensure that interest on the Series 2002 
Bonds will not be included in federal gross income.  Failure to comply with these covenants may result in interest on 
the Series 2002 Bonds being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, possibly from the date of 
original issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds.  The opinion of Bond Counsel assumes compliance with these 
covenants.  Certain requirements and procedures contained or referred to in the Agreement and other relevant 
documents may be changed and certain actions (including, without limitation, defeasance of the Series 2002 Bonds) 
may be taken or omitted under the circumstances and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in such 
documents.  Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine (or to inform any person) whether any actions taken (or 
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not taken) or events occurring (or not occurring) after the date of issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds may adversely 
affect the value of, or the tax status of interest on, the Series 2002 Bonds.  Further, no assurance can be given that 
pending or future legislation, including amendments to the Code, if enacted into law, or any proposed legislation, 
including amendments to the Code, or any regulatory or administrative development with respect to existing law, 
will not adversely affect the value of, or the tax status of interest on, the Series 2002 Bonds.  Prospective purchasers 
of the Series 2002 Bonds are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to proposals to restructure the 
federal income tax. 

 Although Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the Series 2002 Bonds is excluded from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes and is exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes, the ownership or 
disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Series 2002 Bonds may otherwise affect a Series 2002 
Bond owner’s federal or state tax liability.  The nature and extent of these other tax consequences will depend upon 
the particular tax status of the Series 2002 Bond owner or the Series 2002 Bond owner’s other items of income or 
deduction.  Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such other tax consequences, and Series 2002 Bond 
owners should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to such consequences. 

On the date of delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds, the original purchasers will be furnished with an opinion of 
Bond Counsel substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix H. 

LEGALITY OF SERIES 2002 BONDS FOR INVESTMENT AND DEPOSIT 

The Act provides that the Series 2002 Bonds are securities in which all public officers and public bodies of the 
Commonwealth and its political subdivisions, all Massachusetts insurance companies, trust companies, savings 
banks, co-operative banks, banking associations, investment companies, executors, administrators, trustees, and 
other fiduciaries may properly and legally invest funds, including capital in their control or belonging to them.  The 
Series 2002 Bonds, under the Act, are securities which may properly and legally be deposited with and received by 
any Commonwealth or municipal officer or any agency or political subdivision of the Commonwealth for any 
purpose for which the deposit of bonds or obligations of the Commonwealth is now or may hereafter be authorized 
by law. 

COMMONWEALTH NOT LIABLE ON SERIES 2002 BONDS 

The Series 2002 Bonds shall not be deemed to constitute a debt or liability of the Commonwealth or any 
political subdivision thereof, or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Commonwealth or any such political 
subdivision, but shall be payable solely from the Revenues derived by the Authority under the Agreement.  Neither 
the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Commonwealth or any political subdivision thereof is pledged to the 
payment of the principal of or the interest on the Series 2002 Bonds.  The Act does not in any way create a so-called 
moral obligation of the Commonwealth or of any political subdivision thereof to pay debt service in the event of 
default by the Museum.  The Authority does not have taxing power. 

DESCRIPTION OF RATING 

Standard & Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (“S&P”), has given the Series 2002 Bonds a 
long-term rating of “AA-” and a short-term rating of “A-1+”.   Such ratings reflect only the views of S&P, and any 
desired explanation of the significance of such rating may be obtained from S&P, 55 Water Street, New York, New 
York  10041.  Generally, a rating agency bases its ratings on the information and materials furnished it and on 
investigations, studies and assumptions by the rating agency.  There is no assurance that a particular rating will 
apply for any given period of time or that it will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the 
agency originally establishing the rating, circumstances so warrant.  The Underwriter has undertaken no 
responsibility either to bring to the attention of the owners of the Series 2002 Bonds any proposed revision or 
withdrawal of any rating of the Series 2002 Bonds or to oppose any such proposed revision or withdrawal.  Any 
downward revision or withdrawal of a rating, or either of them, could have an adverse effect on the market price of 
the Series 2002 Bonds.  Any rating should not be taken as a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Series 2002 
Bonds. 
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UNDERWRITING 

The Series 2002 Bonds are being purchased for reoffering by Merrill Lynch & Co. (the “Underwriter”) pursuant 
to a bond purchase contract between the Authority and the Underwriter.  The Underwriter has agreed to purchase the 
Series 2002 Bonds at an aggregate discount of $68,250 from the public offering prices of the Series 2002 Bonds set 
forth on the cover page hereof.   

REMARKETING AGENT 

The initial Remarketing Agent shall be Merrill Lynch & Co.  The Remarketing Agent will set interest rates on 
the Series 2002 Bonds and perform the other duties and remarket Series 2002 Bonds as provided for in the 
Agreement, subject to the provisions of any remarketing agreement. The Remarketing Agent may deal in Series 
2002 Bonds for its own account or as broker or agent for others and may do anything any other Bondowner may do 
to the same extent as if the Remarketing Agent were not serving as such. 

LEGAL MATTERS 

All legal matters incidental to the authorization and issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds by the Authority are 
subject to the approval of Palmer & Dodge LLP, Bond Counsel, whose opinion approving the validity and tax 
exempt status of the Series 2002 Bonds will be delivered with the Series 2002 Bonds.  A copy of the proposed form 
of the opinion is attached hereto as Appendix H.  Certain legal matters will be passed on for the Museum by its 
counsel, Ropes & Gray, Boston, Massachusetts, for the Bank by its counsel, Edwards & Angell, LLP, Boston, 
Massachusetts, and, for the Underwriter by its counsel, Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C., 
Boston, Massachusetts. 

There is not now pending any litigation restraining or enjoining the issuance or delivery of the Series 2002 
Bonds or questioning or affecting the validity of the Series 2002 Bonds or the proceedings and authority under 
which they are to be issued.  Neither the creation, organization, or existence of the Authority, nor the title of the 
present members or other officers of the Authority to their respective offices is being contested.  There is no 
litigation pending which in any manner questions the right of the Authority to make a loan to the Museum to finance 
and refinance the Project in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Agreement. There is no litigation 
pending or threatened against the Bank which an unfavorable decision would have a material adverse effect on the 
financial position of the Bank.  See Appendix A with respect to the absence of material litigation affecting the 
Museum. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

The references to the Act and the Agreement are brief summaries of certain provisions thereof.  Such summaries 
do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to the Act and the Agreement for full and complete statements 
of such provisions.  The agreements of the Authority with the Bondowners are fully set forth in the Agreement, and 
neither any advertisement of the Series 2002 Bonds nor this Official Statement is to be construed as constituting an 
agreement with Bondowners.  So far as any statements involve matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so 
stated, they are intended merely as such and not as representations of fact.  Copies of the documents mentioned in 
this paragraph are on file at the offices of the Authority and the Trustee. 

Information relating to DTC and the book-entry-only system described under the heading “THE SERIES 2002 
BONDS--Book-Entry-Only System” is based on information furnished by DTC and is believed to be reliable, but 
none of the Authority, the Underwriter or the Museum makes any representations or warranties whatsoever with 
respect to such information. 

Attached hereto as Appendix A is a letter from the Museum to the Authority which contains certain information 
relating to the Museum and the Project.  With respect to the letter from the Museum, while the information 
contained therein is believed to be reliable, the Authority and, except as set forth on the inside cover page, the 
Underwriter do not make any representations or warranties whatsoever with respect to such information.  Appendix 
B to this Official Statement sets forth the audited financial statements of the Museum for the fiscal year ended 
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December 31, 2001, and the report of the independent accountants.  The Authority and the Underwriter have relied 
on the information contained in Appendix A and Appendix B. 

Appendix C - “Definitions Of Certain Terms” and Appendix D - “Summary Of The Agreement” and Appendix 
I – “Proposed Form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement” have been prepared by Palmer & Dodge LLP, Bond 
Counsel to the Authority.  Appendix H contains the proposed legal opinion of Palmer & Dodge LLP, Bond Counsel 
to the Authority. 

Appendix E -“Certain Information About The Bank” has been provided by the Bank.  While the information 
contained therein is believed to be reliable, the Authority and the Underwriter do not make any representations or 
warranties whatsoever with respect to such information. 

Appendix F contains a form of the Letter of Credit to be issued by the Bank with respect to the Series 2002 
Bonds.   

Appendix G – “Summary of Certain Provisions of the Reimbursement Agreement” has been prepared by 
Edwards & Angell, LLP, counsel to the Bank.  All appendices are incorporated as an integral part of this Official 
Statement. 

The Museum has reviewed the portions of this Official Statement describing the Museum and the Project, 
including those sections entitled “THE PROJECT,” “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” and 
“BONDOWNERS’ RISKS’ (but only insofar as they relate to the Museum or the Project) and has furnished 
Appendix A to this Official Statement.  At the closing, the Museum will certify that such portions of this Official 
Statement (except for any forecasts and opinions contained herein, including Appendix A) do not contain an untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit a statement of material fact necessary to make the statements made therein, in 
the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading and that the aforesaid forecasts and 
opinions are believed to be reasonable in light of the experience of the officers of the Museum and the facts known 
to them at that time. 

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement by its Executive Director have been duly authorized by the 
Authority. 

MASSACHUSETTS HEALTH AND 
EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY 
 
 
By: /s/ Benson T. Caswell    
 Executive Director 

 



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



APPENDIX A 
 

PEABODY ESSEX MUSEUM, INC. 
EAST INDIA SQUARE 

SALEM, MASSACHUSETTS 01970 

 
 December 20, 2002 
 
 
Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority 
99 Summer Street, Suite 1000 
Boston, Massachusetts 02110 
 
Dear Members of the Authority: 
 

We are pleased to submit the following information with respect to Peabody Essex 
Museum, Inc. (the “Museum” or the “Peabody Essex Museum”).  This letter and the information 
contained herein are submitted to the Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority 
(the “Authority”) for inclusion as Appendix A to the Official Statement relating to the Authority’s 
Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Peabody Essex Museum Issue, Series 2002 (the 
“Bonds”).  Any capitalized term, unless otherwise defined in this Appendix A, shall have the 
meaning set forth in the Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002 among the 
Museum, the Authority and Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee.  The Museum is a 
non-profit corporation formed under Massachusetts law and is exempt from federal income 
taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  Unless 
otherwise indicated, all cities and towns referred to herein are located in the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts.  All references to years herein refer to a fiscal year ended December 31 unless 
otherwise specified. 

INTRODUCTION 

The Museum is the oldest continuously operating museum in the United States.  With 
more than 2.4 million objects, books and works on paper, its collections include exceptionally 
important works of American Decorative Art, Folk Art and Costumes; Asian Art; Asian Export 
Art; Maritime Art and History; Photography; African Art; Native American Art; and Oceanic Art.   
The Museum also houses the Phillips Library, one of New England’s largest research libraries, 
and one of the nation’s largest and most important collections of historic buildings, including the 
only antique Chinese house located outside China.  The Museum serves audiences in Greater 
Boston, New England, the nation, and the world, providing opportunities through permanent and 
changing exhibitions, programs, and publications to explore the creative interconnections 
between peoples and their art, histories, and cultures.  

HISTORY AND MISSION 

General 

The origins of the Museum date to 1799 and the founding of the East India Marine 
Society, an elite social, intellectual, and charitable organization comprised of Salem sea captains 
who had sailed beyond the Cape of Good Hope or Cape Horn.  As entrepreneurs at the forefront 
of America’s developing global trade, Society members were among the most intellectually 
curious individuals of their day, with a profound interest in the world around them and a 
conviction that it was essential for America to engage with the world and to understand and 
appreciate people, art and cultures different from their own.  The Society’s charter included the 
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establishment of a “museum of natural and artificial curiosities, particularly such as are to be 
found beyond” the two Capes.  The collections rapidly outgrew the Society’s rented hall, and East 
India Marine Hall – the cornerstone of today’s Museum campus – was dedicated in 1825. 

The Museum is equally heir to the Essex Institute, another venerable Salem museum and 
library, founded in 1821, whose collections reflected a commitment to preserving regional 
decorative art, folk art, architecture and cultural history.  In 1867, the East India Marine Society’s 
collections and a portion of the Essex Institute’s, became incorporated as the Peabody Academy 
of Science, supported by the financial generosity of philanthropist George Peabody.  In 1915, the 
institution was renamed the Peabody Museum of Salem.  The process of consolidating with the 
Essex Institute, partially effected in 1867, became complete in 1992, when a full consolidation 
occurred to create the Peabody Museum of Salem and Essex Institute, Incorporated.  On 
November 20, 1995, an amendment was filed changing the Museum’s name to the Peabody Essex 
Museum, Inc. The former Essex Institute housed outstanding collections of regional decorative 
art, architecture, furniture, manuscripts, photographs, and early imprints, and in the late 
nineteenth century, the Institution had become an early and important force in the field of historic 
preservation.  These collections are of national significance and importance due to the early 
influence on decorative art in America by communities on Boston’s “North Shore,” including 
Salem.  The collections of the former Peabody Museum of Salem and the Essex Institute were 
complementary, with highly significant collections of art and culture from around the world, 
together with collections of maritime art and history.  Both institutions represented intellectual, 
social, and cultural currents spanning three centuries, and their fusion as the Peabody Essex 
Museum created a wholly new, unique, and important museum of national and international 
standing and significance. 

The Museum’s Mission 

The Museum’s mission is “to increase knowledge and appreciation of outstanding artistic 
and cultural expressions created by people around the world.  Research, preservation, acquisition, 
exhibition, education, and publication programs support this mission.  To fulfill its mission, the 
Museum will provide services, programs, and facilities that engage the mind, stimulate the 
senses, and enrich the spirit.” 

To that end, the Museum has embarked on a bold new endeavor – to create a new 
museum that reflects our interdisciplinary and global era, a museum that transcends old 
boundaries among the disciplines of art, history, and culture.  By interweaving works of creative 
expression from around the world and applying a contemporary sensibility and interpretive tools, 
the Museum hopes to reveal connections between the past, present and future, and provide 
unrivaled opportunities to enable visitors to experience myriad works of cultural expression and 
find connections to the individuals who created them. 

Geographic Area and Demographics 

The Museum is located in Salem, Massachusetts, 16 miles north of Boston.  A harbor 
community of 40,000, Salem's history is rich, from its founding as one of the earliest colonial 
settlement sites to its rise as the first major port in the United States active in the East India trade 
and its heyday as a thriving hub of American commerce. The city’s development has produced a 
rich ethnic diversity.  Today Salem’s public school system serves children speaking 20 different 
languages.  
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The Museum draws its audience from the Greater Boston area and beyond.  Management 
believes that the renovated and expanded Museum will be one of Greater Boston’s major tourist 
destinations.  Through its changing exhibition program, supported by one of the largest suites of 
galleries dedicated to changing exhibitions on the East Coast, management believes that the 
Museum will draw repeat visitors from Greater Boston, New England and the Mid-Atlantic 
states.  Major changing exhibitions the Museum has presented in the past have drawn up to 40% 
of total attendance from outside Greater Boston.  

GOVERNANCE 

General 

The primary governing body of the Museum is a Board of Trustees of not more than 30 
(currently 23) members.  Trustees serve three-year terms.  Officers of the Board include a 
Chairman, President, Vice Presidents, Secretary and Treasurer.  The Board of Trustees meets 10 
times a year.  A non-governing Board of Overseers, comprised of not more than 100 people 
(currently 36), exists as an advisory body elected by the Trustees, and overseers serve five-year 
terms. 

The current members of the Museum’s Board of Trustees, their principal committee 
assignments, and occupations are as follows: 

 
Name 

Trustee  
Since (note *) 

Committee 
Assignments 

 
Occupation 

Randolph P. Barton 1992 Executive  
Collections Development 
Marketing 

Principal, Corn Bay 
Associates 
Manchester, MA 
 

Thaddeus Buczko 1999 Building Attorney, Whipple & 
King, P.C. 
Salem, MA 
 

C. Richard Carlson,         
Treasurer 
 

1992 Executive  
Investment  
Finance  
Building 
 

Principal, UBS  
PaineWebber 
Boston, MA 

Martha Chayet 2000 Development Community Leader 
Manchester, MA 
 

Carter H. Harrison,  
Vice Chair 

1992 Executive  
Finance  
Building  
Collections 
Trustees/Overseers 
Personnel 
 

Principal, Lookout 
Associates 
Topsfield, MA 

Sean Healey 2002 New trustee, not yet 
assigned to committees 

President, Affiliated 
Managers Group 
Pride’s Crossing, MA 
 

Ulf B. Heide 1999 Finance Houses/Grounds 
Building  
Marketing 

Chairman, Technical 
Manufacturing, Inc. 
Peabody, MA 
 

Carla B. Herwitz 1999 Executive  
Collections 
Trustees/Overseers 

Partner, Choate, Hall & 
Stewart 
Boston, MA 
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Howard Hodgson 2002 New trustee, not yet 
assigned to committees 

Principal, Cabot Properties 
LLP 
Boston, MA 
 

John C. Holt 2001 Marketing Community Leader 
Marblehead, MA 

 
Timothy A. Ingraham 1992 Development Collections 

Houses/Grounds Building  
Planned Giving 
Programs/Exhibitions 
 

Community Leader 
Pride’s Crossing, MA 

George Lewis 1992 Investment  
Planned Giving 

Partner, Saltonstall & 
Company 
Boston, MA 
 

Carolyn Lynch 1996 Collections Community Leader 
Marblehead, MA 
 

Daniel R. MacDougall 2001 Development Marketing  
Corporate 

Community Leader 
Gloucester, MA 
 

John O. Parker,  
Chair 

1992 Executive  
All Others 

Principal, Parker Capital 
Management 
Boston, MA 
 

Lea B. Pendleton, Secretary 1994 Executive 
Trustees/Overseers 
Personnel 

Partner, Morse, Barnes-
Brown & Pendleton 
Waltham, MA 
 

Stuart W. Pratt 1992 Executive Houses/Grounds 
Building Marketing 
Trustees/Oversees 

Chairman, NAI Hunneman  
Corporation 
Boston, MA 
 

George Putnam 2002 New trustee, not yet 
assigned to committees 

Chairman, Putnam 
Investments 
Boston, MA 
 

Robert N. Shapiro,  
Vice Chair (note **) 

1993 Executive Development 
Trustees/Overseers 

Partner, Ropes & Gray 
Boston, MA 
 

Ronald L. Skates 2002 Development Collections Community Leader 
Manchester, MA 
 

Samuel Thorne 2001 Finance  
Investment 

Principal, Thorne Trading 
Co., LLC 
Boston, MA 
 

Rose-Marie Van Otterloo 2002 Collections Community Leader 
Marblehead, MA 
 

Richard Wheatland II 1992 Executive Development 
Houses/Grounds Building 
Trustees/Overseers Planned 
Giving 

Principal, Acadia 
Management Co. 
Boston, MA 
 

 
Note *:  Dates of initial service are shown from the date of merger of the Peabody Museum of Salem and the Essex 
Institute in 1992.  Many of the current trustees have governance relationships of more than 20 years with the 
predecessor institutions. 
Note **: Mr. Shapiro’s firm, Ropes & Gray, is serving as counsel to the Museum for this transaction. 
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Trustee Committees 

The   Board of Trustees has the following standing committees, which meet regularly to 
handle assigned responsibilities and make recommendations to the Board.  Principal committee 
assignments for each Trustee as of the current date are listed in the table above. 

The Executive Committee exercises all powers of the Board and performs all duties of the 
Board at times when the Board is not in session. 

The Finance Committee reviews and approves for recommendation to the Board an 
annual budget, reviews and recommends financing when appropriate, and serves as the Audit 
Committee of the Board. 

The Investment Committee oversees the investment of all of the Museum’s funds. 

The Building Committee is charged with oversight of all matters related to the Museum’s 
facilities, including the planning and execution of the new construction and renovation project. 

The Collections Committee develops plans, policies and procedures, and makes 
recommendations to the Board, with respect to acquisitions, dispositions, display, preservation, 
risk management and security of works of art for the Museum. 

The Museum Development Council is responsible for, develops and participates in all 
fund-raising programs for operations, capital needs and endowment, including the annual fund, 
memberships (including corporate memberships with the Board’s Corporate Committee), planned 
giving (with the Board’s Planned Giving Committee), special project funding, grants and prospect 
research. 

The Houses and Grounds Committee oversees all physical and programmatic matters 
relating to the Museum’s collection of historic structures and gardens. 

The Marketing Committee oversees all branding, positioning, advertising and public 
relations activities of the Museum, both institutional and program- or exhibition-specific. 

The Personnel Committee is charged with oversight of all human resources activities and 
employee benefit programs maintained by the Museum. 

The Programs and Exhibitions Committee evaluates and makes recommendations to the 
Board with respect to all education and public program offerings and all major exhibitions. 

The Trustees and Overseers Committee serves as a nominating and evaluative body for 
both the Board of Trustees and the Board of Overseers. 

Management 

The Board of Trustees has delegated authority for the management and daily operations 
of the Museum to the Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer, who chairs a senior 
management team of nine individuals, each of whom brings extensive experience and expertise to 
his or her position.  Major responsibilities of the senior management team, in addition to specific 
line responsibilities of all of the individuals, include oversight of all Museum operations, and 
facilitation and implementation of all interdepartmental initiatives.  The Executive Director and 
members of that team, along with selected biographical information, are as follows: 



A-6 

Dan L. Monroe, Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer, age 58.  Mr. Monroe has 
served as Executive Director since 1993, prior to which he served as President/Chief Executive 
Officer of the Portland (Oregon) Museum of Art from 1984 to 1993, and as Deputy Director of 
the Alaska State Museum System from 1973 to 1984.  He is past president of the American 
Association of Museums and the American Chapter of the International Council of Museums.  He 
played a central role in the formulation and passage of the Native American Graves Protection 
and Repatriation Act of 1990 and was appointed by the Secretary of the Interior to serve on its 
seven-member Review Committee from 1990 to 1995.  He is a member of the Museum Trustees 
Advisory Committee, and was chair of the Museum Advocacy Committee, a group that oversees 
national advocacy for museums in Congress, from 1987 to 1992.  Mr. Monroe has also served as 
President of the Western Museums Conference, a regional museum organization encompassing 
nine western states, including California, and as a Museum Advisor for the Getty Institute’s 
renowned Museum Management Institute.  He holds a B.A. degree from the University of 
Colorado. 

William LaC. Phippen, Deputy Director for Collections, Design and Research, age 
49.  Mr. Phippen has held a number of roles in his 27 years at the Museum, and currently 
oversees all collections management, exhibition installation, and activities of the research library 
and publications group, as well as coordinates the activities of the building project team.  He has 
a B.A. from Tufts University and an M.A. in Museum Studies from George Washington 
University. 

John R. Grimes, Curator of Native American and African Art, Deputy Director for 
Special Projects, age 43.  Mr. Grimes has been with the Museum since 1978.   In addition to his 
curatorial role, he oversees all multimedia interpretive development and the Museum’s website, 
photographic services, and installation of technology for the exhibition galleries.  He also serves 
as principal coordinator of all activities under an Education Through Cultural and Historical 
Organizations (ECHO) grant from the United States Department of Education which supports 
both the Museum Action Corps, a museum studies program for high school students, and the New 
Trade Winds program, a joint cultural exchange program with the Alaska Native Heritage Center 
in Anchorage and the Bishop Museum in Honolulu.   

Vasundhara Prabhu, Deputy Director for Interpretation, Education and Public 
Programs, age 49.  Ms. Prabhu joined the Museum in 2001 from the Fine Arts Museums of San 
Francisco, where she was Director of Education for seven years.  Previously, she was Director for 
Education at the Los Angeles Museum of Contemporary Art; and served at the Boston Children’s 
Museum and the H. F. Johnson Museum of Art at Cornell University. The American Association 
of Museums has selected Vas Prabhu as the 2002 winner of the EdCom Award for Excellence in 
Practice; previously, both the California Art Education Association and the National Art 
Education Association have honored Ms. Prabhu as Art Educator of the Year.  She holds a B.A. 
from Cornell University, and earned her M.A. at Bank Street College of Education.  

Howard J. Finney, Jr., Deputy Director for Marketing and Communications, age 45.   
Mr. Finney joined the Museum in 2001 after four years as Director of Marketing for the San 
Francisco Museum of Modern Art. He also led marketing efforts at the Exploratorium; worked 
for ten years in senior positions in advertising; and has had other extensive experience in the 
private sector. He leads marketing, media relations, general membership, and visitor services.  He 
has a B. A. degree from the University of Pennsylvania. 
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Bradford Wm. Voigt, Deputy Director for Development, age 42.  Mr. Voigt joined the 
Museum in 2002 and has a strong record in the fundraising community, most recently as 
Assistant Dean for Development at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard 
University, where he had worked since 1994. While at Harvard Mr. Voigt directed a $125 million 
campaign resulting in 17 new endowed faculty chairs and 40 new named student financial aid 
funds and played a principal development staff role in securing a $50 million grant from the Ford 
Foundation to establish a new Institute for Government Innovations.  He earned his B.A. from 
Brown University. 

Frederick MacDougall Johnson, Deputy Director for Exhibitions, age 53.  Mr. 
Johnson has led exhibition design at the Museum since 1979. He was promoted to this newly 
created position in 2001, and serves on the Exhibition Planning Team and on the team of senior 
managers who are overseeing conceptual and technical plans for reinstallation of the Museum’s 
permanent collections.  Mr. Johnson has a B.F.A. from the Massachusetts College of Art. 

Paul S. Goodof, Chief Operating Officer, age 53.  Mr. Goodof has more than 25 years’ 
experience in finance and management. He oversees the Museum’s accounting staff, human 
resources, information systems, facilities management, security, and the Museum’s enterprise 
units – the Museum Shop, functions and rentals, wholesale and licensing, and group tours.   He 
holds an A.B. and an M.B.A. from Harvard University. 

The Chief Curator position at the Museum is newly created and currently vacant, but a 
number of promising candidates have emerged from a national search, and it is anticipated that an 
individual will be hired by early 2003, and that person will join the senior management team.  In 
addition, 12 senior curators (who have approximately 15 curatorial and collection assistants) will 
fall under the direct supervision of this position.  At present, Mr. Monroe is performing the duties 
of the Chief Curator. 

Employees 

At present, the Museum employs 258 persons, 151 full-time and 107 on a  part-time 
basis. 

None of the Museum’s employees are represented by a union or other collective 
bargaining entity.  Management is not aware of any organizing activity or of any work disruption 
involving its employees. 

FACILITIES 

The Museum Campus 

The Museum’s main campus, comprising approximately five acres in downtown Salem, 
is located on parts of four adjacent blocks at the junction of Essex and Liberty Streets in the heart 
of Salem’s historic district.  At the southwest corner is the so-called Liberty complex, comprised 
of a series of interconnected buildings:  East India Marine Hall, built in 1824; East Hall, built in 
1889; Weld Hall, built in 1910; the Dodge Wing, built in 1976; and the Asian Export Wing, built 
in 1988.  These five structures contain approximately 130,000 square feet and house galleries, 
education and program spaces, a gift shop and a cafe above grade, and collections storage and 
mechanical equipment in the basements.  The Liberty complex is being renovated as part of the 
Project. 
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At the northwest corner is the former Bowker retail building, dating back to 1836 and 
comprising 17,000 square feet.  This site was renovated in 1997 to serve as office and support 
space for the Museum. 

At the northeast corner are several Museum structures.  The former Salem Armory 
drillshed was renovated in 1998 in partnership with the United States Park Service (which 
continues to own, in condominium form, the street floor space for a Visitor Center).  The 
basement and upper floor spaces have become collection storage spaces for the Museum, totaling 
24,000 square feet.  The Phillips Library, fully renovated in 1995, is housed in two connected 
structures, Plummer Hall, which was built in 1857, and Daland House, built in 1852, comprising 
54,000 square feet of space.   The Phillips Library houses reading rooms, support spaces, 
collection storage spaces and stacks, an auditorium, and gallery space for library-related exhibits.  
At the eastern and northern edges of this block are several of the Museum’s historic houses, 
including the John Ward House (1684), a Quaker Meeting House (1688), the Crowninshield-
Bentley House (1727), the Beebe Summer House (1799), the Gardner-Pingree House (1804), the 
Andrew Safford House (1809) and the Lye-Tapley Shoe Shop (1830).  At the corner of this block 
facing Liberty and Essex is Armory Park, a public park constructed by the Museum on the site of 
the main Armory building (which was destroyed by fire in the mid-1980’s) and dedicated in May 
of 2002 to the veterans of Essex County in a ceremony that reenacted the first colonial muster.   

Other historic structures owned by the Museum are located throughout Salem and include 
the Ropes Mansion and Gardens, the Cotting-Smith Assembly House, and the Peirce-Nichols 
House, all fine examples of early nineteenth-century architecture. 

New Facilities 

The southeast corner of Essex and Liberty Streets is the site of the Museum’s current 
expansion.  With the cooperation of the City of Salem, Liberty Street between Essex and Charter 
Streets was sold to the Museum in October, 2000, along with a municipal parking lot, creating a 
development site of slightly more than one acre.  Combined with property the Museum already 
owned in that block, the available land was designed into the plans for the new facility. 

THE PROJECT 

In December of 2000, the Museum broke ground on a new 115,000-square-foot building, 
and began renovations to the existing Liberty complex.  Designed by Moshe Safdie Associates, 
with landscaping by Michael Van Valkenburgh, the new structure will more than double the 
existing gallery space of the Museum and add an auditorium, public function and support space, 
and, in the basement, vital new exhibit preparation facilities.  The renovations, in addition to 
retrofitting former gallery spaces in the Dodge building for the new Education Center and its 
classroom and studio spaces, will update all of the Museum’s existing buildings in the Liberty 
complex with new fire and life safety systems as well as climate control capacity for both gallery 
and collection storage areas. 

The total cost of the Project is approximately $78 million.  Hard costs of construction are 
projected to be approximately $55 million, and soft costs (architectural, engineering, legal and 
accounting) are anticipated to be $11 million.  In addition, the cost of interior fit-up and exhibit 
installation is expected to total approximately $12 million.  As of December 1, 2002, 
approximately $62 million of costs had been paid – $46 million of hard costs, $10 million of soft 
costs, and $6 million of installation and fit-up – from bank debt, advances by the Museum, and 
Museum equity. 
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In order to complete the Project and open the new and renovated facilities to the public in 
June, the Museum’s facilities will be closed to the public between approximately February 15, 
2003 and June 20, 2003.  The Museum anticipates a one-time loss of revenue from the temporary 
closure of approximately $175,000. 

USE OF BOND PROCEEDS 

The Museum currently has a borrowing facility of $20 million from Salem Five Cents 
Savings Bank and Eastern Bank, the entirety of which has been drawn, to pay costs of the Project 
in advance of permanent financing.  $10 million of this facility is secured by a pledge of 
unrestricted endowment, and the remainder is secured by a first mortgage on the Liberty complex 
where the new construction and renovation is in process.  The loan is interest-only, and matures 
on February 1, 2005. 

A portion of the Bond proceeds will refinance the current borrowing and, together with 
payments of pledges, gifts or other equity, will fund (or reimburse the Museum for) additional 
construction, renovation and fit-up/installation costs, and costs of issuance of the Bonds and 
related fees, including capitalized interest on the Bonds for up to two years.  Specifically, the 
costs to be paid from Bond proceeds are: 

Costs of construction and fit-up, including Capitalized      
Interest (in addition to costs funded by equity) 

$  4,531,672 

Refinancing of existing bank debt 
Reimbursement of Museum advances 

  20,000,000 
  10,000,000 

Funding of bond issuance costs and related fees        468,328 
 

Total uses of funds $35,000,000 
 

All remaining Project costs, anticipated to be approximately $13 million (in addition to the $2.9 
million noted in the table above), will be paid from pledges, gifts or other equity of the Museum. 

It is anticipated that up to 50% of the Bonds will be retired within the first three years of 
issuance from new campaign commitments. 

FUNDRAISING AND DEVELOPMENT 

The Third Century Campaign 

Immediately following the 1992 merger of the Peabody Museum of Salem with the Essex 
Institute, the Board of Trustees of the Museum authorized a capital campaign for the purposes of 
(a) funding the consolidation activities of the two entities, (b) accomplishing needed renovations, 
and (c) increasing the endowment of the combined entity.  As the strategic planning continued 
through 1994, the campaign goals were reevaluated and the fund-raising target was increased to 
meet more ambitious operating plans, including total renovations of the Phillips Library, creation 
of object storage in the Armory drillshed, creation of much-needed office space, and planning for 
a significant Museum expansion.  Through a number of iterations over the years since that 
planning process, the goal of what had been named the Third Century Campaign was increased to 
its current total of $125 million. 
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To date, a total of $98 million has been pledged to the Third Century Campaign, with $93 
million collected and the balance receivable over the next two years.  $27 million remains to be 
raised, and significant fund-raising resources are being applied to the task of broadening and 
deepening the Museum’s philanthropic support base and securing new commitments to meet the 
remaining goals by 2005. 

Other Gifts 

In addition to the Third Century Campaign commitments to date, over the period from 
inception of the campaign the Museum has received additional major donor support totaling more 
than $30 million for specific programmatic purposes and for acquisitions, and the Museum has 
raised substantial funds (undisclosed at the request of donors) to support the acquisition, 
preservation, re-erection and interpretation of Yin Yu Tang, a 200-year-old merchant’s house 
from China’s Anhui province, to be located on the Museum’s campus directly adjacent to the 
newly-constructed auditorium and gallery buildings.  Taken together with the Third Century 
Campaign, the Museum has raised in excess of $140 million in the last 10 years. 

Strategic Plan 

The Museum undertook its first strategic planning process in 1994.  Since that time, 
unprecedented advances have been made in virtually every area of operation.  Measured by 
assets, the Museum is now the second largest museum in the Greater Boston area and among the 
largest in New England.  In the last eight years, its endowment has increased from $23 million to 
more than $75 million; its operating budget has increased four-fold; acquisitions of objects by 
purchase or donation have exceeded $30 million; all existing primary facilities have been 
renovated; a new office center has been created, along with two added facilities for support 
activities; eight new curatorial departments have been added; one of the largest expansion and 
renovation projects for a museum in the nation is expected to be open to visitors in June, 2003;  
and the Museum’s visibility has increased dramatically and attendance has more than doubled. 

A second strategic planning effort is currently underway, and will build upon the first 
plan to guide the Museum through its first six or seven years following the anticipated opening of 
the expanded facility in 2003.  The second planning effort will provide the foundation for 
presenting art and the world in which it was made, and for bringing art, architecture and culture 
together in ways found nowhere else.  The new Museum will feature more than 250,000 square 
feet of galleries and public spaces (up from 130,000 square feet); entirely new installations of its 
collections (most of which have not been exhibited before); twenty historic structures, including 
Yin Yu Tang; a major research library; and numerous parks and gardens.  With new interpretive 
strategies and the presentation of all its collections, the Museum will provide visitors a rich and 
varied menu of opportunities to explore and discover the art and culture of New England, Asia, 
Africa, Native America, and Oceania.  

Development Office 

 The Museum’s development staff of 15 people oversees and coordinates donor 
cultivation, engagement and solicitation in support of the Third Century Campaign, giving for 
specific Museum initiatives, unrestricted annual giving, Museum memberships, corporate and 
foundation relations, grant-writing, and Museum events.   
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Condensed Statements of Activities and Financial Position 

The table set forth on the next page presents summary financial data for the Museum as 
of and for each of the five fiscal years in the period ended December 31, 2001 and for the nine-
month period ended September 30, 2002.  The information for fiscal years 1997 through 2001 has 
been summarized from audited financial statements of the Museum, and for the nine-months 
ended September 30, 2002, has been summarized from unaudited financial statements of the 
Museum, and with respect to fiscal year 2001, should be read in conjunction with the Museum’s 
audited financial statements, including the notes thereto, contained in Appendix B to this Official  
Statement.  In the opinion of the Museum’s management, there has been no material adverse 
change in the financial condition of the Museum since December 31, 2001, the date of the last 
audited financial statements. 
 



SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
    PEABODY ESSEX MUSEUM, INC.

Unaudited
                            As of and for the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 9 Months
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Ended

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 9/30/2002
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES DATA:
Operating Support & Revenue:

Contributions & bequests $ 5,948,271 $ 9,881,743 $ 14,685,457 $ 18,046,870 $ 19,989,343 $ 11,575,310
Grants 858,377 126,785 124,625 500,873 939,667 659,841
Income from invested funds 2,221,815 3,193,351 2,693,648 3,817,757 3,141,600 2,035,639
Memberships 265,485 264,963 283,970 366,483 424,585 297,626
Admissions 270,912 278,837 266,389 502,246 546,410 232,633
Education programs 355,718 375,800 444,641 426,307 402,521 229,269
Merchandising & rentals 1,157,397 1,014,275 1,062,061 1,233,537 1,281,422 600,789
Miscellaneous 229,667 345,447 308,193 364,856 389,853 262,306
Transfer to Non-Operating (See Note 1) 0 0 0 (3,504,021) (3,265,623) (1,589,550)

------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
Total support & revenue $ 11,307,642 $ 15,481,201 $ 19,868,984 $ 21,754,908 $ 23,849,778 $ 14,303,863

Operating Expense:
Program services $ 3,645,094 $ 4,012,204 $ 6,337,683 $ 5,256,192 $ 6,082,975 $ 4,987,179
Supporting services 3,590,480 3,356,055 4,426,730 6,768,015 7,094,776 5,007,286

------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
Total operating expense $ 7,235,574 $ 7,368,259 $ 10,764,413 $ 12,024,207 $ 13,177,751 $ 9,994,465

Change in net assets from
      operating activities $ 4,072,068 $ 8,112,942 $ 9,104,571 $ 9,730,701 $ 10,672,027 $ 4,309,398

Non-Operating Activities:
Net realized investment gains (losses) $ 5,363,009 $ 6,565,985 $ 5,270,405 $ 4,968,295 $ (1,434,824) $ 12,796,455
Net unrealized investment gains (losses) 3,107,223 5,427,216 21,970,888 (7,071,274) (7,365,557) (18,187,013)
Change in value of funds held by others 2,049,119 1,905,238 1,834,150 (227,425) (1,020,889) (947,272)
Additional pension liability expense 0 0 (469,367) 0 (365,599) 0
Transfer from Operating (see Note 1) 0 0 0 3,504,021 3,265,623 1,589,550
Net acquisition of collection items (1,216,961) (1,426,961) (1,278,334) (5,511,826) (4,487,150) (2,264,233)
Depreciation (see Note 2) (672,622) (1,055,065) (1,168,426) (1,308,777) (1,445,488) (1,161,706)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets (247,419) 0 0 0 (76,062) 0

------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
Change in net assets from 
      non-operating activities $ 8,382,349 $ 11,416,413 $ 26,159,316 $ (5,646,986) $ (12,929,946) $ (8,174,219)

Beginning Net Assets $ 85,798,026 $ 98,252,443 $ 117,781,798 $ 153,045,685 $ 157,129,400 $ 154,871,481

Ending Net Assets $ 98,252,443 $ 117,781,798 $ 153,045,685 $ 157,129,400 $ 154,871,481 $ 151,006,660

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION:
Total Current Assets $ 3,986,600 $ 6,126,535 $ 7,445,622 $ 5,618,794 $ 10,257,302 $ 5,324,117
Investments & Other 95,215,796 112,552,911 147,474,004 153,920,186 152,583,735 167,412,349

------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
Total Assets $ 99,202,396 $ 118,679,446 $ 154,919,626 $ 159,538,980 $ 162,841,037 $ 172,736,466

========= ========= ========= ========= ========= =========

Notes & Mortgages Payable $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 3,500,000 $ 18,000,000
Other Liabilities 949,953 897,648 1,873,941 2,409,580 4,469,556 3,729,806
Net Assets:

Unrestricted 26,472,055 27,542,889 31,715,760 38,372,044 67,550,064 69,423,340
Temporarily restricted 46,918,083 61,305,522 90,179,644 88,451,526 57,829,029 55,888,695
Permanently restricted 24,862,305 28,933,387 31,150,281 30,305,830 29,492,388 25,694,625

------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------
Total Net Assets $ 98,252,443 $ 117,781,798 $ 153,045,685 $ 157,129,400 $ 154,871,481 $ 151,006,660

Total Liabilities & Net Assets $ 99,202,396 $ 118,679,446 $ 154,919,626 $ 159,538,980 $ 162,841,037 $ 172,736,466
========= ========= ========= ========= ========= =========

Notes:    1) Effective fiscal 2000, the Museum redefined operating activities to reflect allocations to the Board-designated fund as transfers 
to Non-Operating Activities.

2) Depreciation expense for years prior to fiscal 2000 has been reclassified to conform to the fiscal 2000 presentation.
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 The Museum currently has a defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) covering all 
employees, subject to vesting requirements, and benefits are determined by length of service and 
compensation in an employee’s final years of service.  The Plan is currently fully compliant with 
all provisions and regulations of ERISA and PBGC, and the Museum makes annual contributions 
pursuant to calculations by an independent actuary.  At December 31, 2001, due to market 
conditions and to recommended changes in actuarial assumptions, the Plan’s assets were less than 
the calculated liability, and the financial statements contained in Appendix B reflect an 
underfunded status.  On December 10, 2002, on the recommendation of the Investment 
Committee and in anticipation of a possible termination of the Plan and creation of a replacement 
defined contribution plan in 2003, the Museum’s Trustees approved a transfer of $2.2 million 
from endowment funds to eliminate the underfunding. 
 
Membership and Attendance 

The following table sets forth the annual Museum attendance and total Museum 
membership for the last five fiscal years. 

Fiscal Year Attendance Membership 
   
2001 163,217 5,268 
2000 178,551 4,431 
1999 136,816 3,670 
1998 129,053 3,489 
1997 131,527 3,547 

 
Annual Contributions for Operations 

The development office of the Museum seeks to maximize annual contributed support 
from members, donors, corporations and foundations in support of Museum operations.  The table 
below summarizes the annual receipts for the last five fiscal years. 

Fiscal Year Membership $ Annual Fund $ Corporate $ All Other $(*) 
     
2001 $331,365 $867,577 $100,700 $197,719 
2000 $271,705 $725,910 $76,950 $470,803 
1999 $228,335 $607,631 $56,425 $244,185 
1998 $212,440 $585,769 $62,650 $219,598 
1997 $211,333 $421,953 $57,715 $154,040 
 
 
Note(*):  “All other” includes unrestricted operating grants from foundations plus receipts from 
special events. 
 
Budget Procedures and Financial Controls 

The Museum’s senior management, in concert with the Trustees’ Finance Committee, 
sets the principal operating objectives for each succeeding fiscal year.  The Chief Operating 
Officer then meets with all department heads to draft a proposed budget.  This draft is reviewed 
and amended as required, and presented to the Finance Committee for their consideration in the 
fall of each year.  Upon the review and approval of the Finance Committee, the approved budget 
is forwarded to the full Board of Trustees for final approval at their December meeting.  
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Management reviews income and expenditures each month and reports to the Finance Committee 
on all activity, with particular focus on any variances of substance. 

As part of budget and regular financial review procedures, the Finance Committee meets 
approximately 10 times each year and reports to the Board.  It also serves as the Museum’s Audit 
Committee.  The Museum’s independent accountants work in conjunction with the Audit 
Committee. 

Investments 

The Museum’s investments as of December 31 for each year since 1998 and as of 
September 30, 2002, are summarized in the table below.  The market value of investments is 
based on a number of factors including publicly reported prices, valuations provided by each of 
the Museum’s investment managers, and valuation of other assets which are provided 
periodically.  The assets themselves are invested in a fungible pool, and are not segregated except 
by explicit donor stipulation. 

The value and earnings of the Museum’s investments are subject to changes in the 
financial markets, and are subject to various other risks as well, including fluctuations in the 
equity markets and particular equity securities, credit, interest rate and liquidity risk, lack of a 
ready market for certain securities or investments, and reliance upon third party investment 
advisors.  Past investment performance cannot be relied upon as an indicator of future results. 

Peabody Essex Museum Investments at Market 
(in 000’s) 

 12/31/98 12/31/99 12/31/00 12/31/01 09/30/02* 
     
Equities $  51,303 $  75,885 $  73,330 $ 64,766 $  35,796
Fixed-Income 16,862 16,024 15,924 15,541 20,922
Cash/ Equivalent**      1,432     1,986     1,655     2,091     18,621
Total Investments $  69,597 $  93,895 $  90,909 $ 82,398 $75,339
Rates of Return*** 23.39% 40.76% -0.37% -5.84% -3.92%
 
 
Notes: * The September 30, 2002 values reflect a scheduled redemption of a significant private 

equity holding which was received in cash as of the end of the month.  Subsequent to 
month-end, approximately $15 million of Cash/Equivalent was invested in fixed-income 
instruments, producing an asset allocation as of early October, 2002, of approximately 
48% equities and 52% fixed income. 
** The Cash/Equivalent figures shown here exclude cash related to the Third Century 
Campaign and therefore differ from the figures in the footnotes to the audited statements.     
*** The rates of return are calculated using changes in market value net of inflows from, 
and outflows for, operations.  

 
The Investment Committee of the Board of Trustees provides oversight over the 

allocation of long-term invested funds and the performance of fund managers.  At present, the 
Committee utilizes five investment managers for the Museum’s equity portfolio and two for the 
fixed income portion.  The Committee has adopted an investment policy which seeks to 
maximize the long-term total returns, and each year approves a spending formula based upon a 
three-year rolling average of the value of the portfolio. 
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OPERATIONS 

General 

The Museum currently serves an average of 165,000 visitors a year, including 
approximately 20,000 school age children.  New programming initiatives over the past several 
years have increased the Museum’s visibility regionally, nationally and internationally.  The total 
number of Museum visitors has grown from 105,000 in 1995 to more than 163,000 in 2001, an 
increase of more than 55%.  In that period, the number of gallery visitors nearly doubled, while 
attendance at public programs increased by more than 200%, from 9,000 to 27,000 attendees.  

Year-round interpretive programs are designed, scheduled, and priced to accommodate 
the needs and interests of both local residents and out-of-town visitors.  The Museum is open 
from 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. six days a week and from noon to 5:00 p.m. on Sundays.  The 
Museum is closed on Mondays from November through March.  Programs are held during open 
hours and evenings.  The Phillips Library is open four days a week year-round.  

The Museum’s galleries, the Phillips Library, and the Museum Office Center are 
wheelchair-accessible, and the Museum’s docent program involves volunteers with disabilities 
who also serve as accessibility consultants.  Additionally, the Museum retained consultants and 
advisors specifically versed in the requirements of the Americans With Disabilities Act  
throughout the design process for the expansion and renovations.  A TTY machine was recently 
purchased to improve accessibility to the Museum’s telephone information line and staff.  The 
outdoor seating area adjacent to the café was recently adapted to be fully accessible.  The 
Museum is seeking funding for other accessibility projects, particularly for its historic houses.  
Plans for 2003 include the formation of a more formal advisory group involving persons with 
disabilities in plans to improve accessibility to all Museum programs and historic properties.   

Collections 

The Museum’s collections derive from intellectual, social, and cultural currents more 
than 200 years of institutional history.  They are exceptional in their scope, diversity, quality, and 
early provenance, and some are considered by scholars to be among the best of their kind 
anywhere.  These include: 

The Asian Export Art collection represents the synthesis of art and culture resulting from 
trade between East and West, and is the most comprehensive collection of its kind in the 
world.  Comprised of more than 15,000 objects made in Asia for Western markets from 
the 15th to 20th centuries, it includes superior examples of paintings, furniture, porcelain, 
textiles, art and decorative art objects of ceramic, silver, gold, pewter, ivory and other 
materials. 

The Maritime Art and History collection is internationally renowned for holdings of 
approximately 30,000 paintings, drawings and prints.  It includes a major collection of 
watercolors by the Roux family of marine artists, paintings by Fitz Hugh Lane and Felice 
Corne and marine works by such masters as Sargent, Wyeth, and Copley.  Other holdings 
comprise 20,000 maritime objects of the 17th to 20th centuries such as ship models, and 
decorative and folk art. 
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The Architecture collection includes 18 historic American structures and a major 
architectural fragment collection.  Four buildings are National Historic Landmarks; eight 
are listed on the National Register of Historic Places.  In 1998, the Museum acquired the 
only complete example of traditional Chinese domestic architecture in the United States, 
built by a Chinese merchant family at nearly the same time (circa 1825) as other houses 
in the Museum’s collection were built by early Salem merchants.  Known as Yin Yu 
Tang (Hall of Great Abundance), the Qing dynasty house will provide opportunities for 
the public to explore Chinese art, architecture, and culture.   

The Asian collections are individually and collectively of international significance.  The 
Japanese collection is among the finest in the world; the major portion of this extensive 
(25,000 works) collection was begun in 1877; it is one of the world’s largest and most 
comprehensive collections of the art and culture of Japan.  The Korean collection of 
traditional arts is deemed by Korean scholars to be the best of its kind in the nation.  The 
Chinese collection includes important Qing Dynasty works, including ceramics, textiles, 
and decorative arts.  The extensive Indian art collection comprises folk art from the 
period 1800 to the 20th century, and a major collection of contemporary fine Indian art, 
the Herwitz collection, which was donated to the Museum in 2000.  The  Himalayan 
collection holds important Tibetan and Nepalese works, including one of the earliest 
extant dated Nepalese thankas, as well as a major collection of 19th and 20th century 
Bhutanese textile arts. 

The Oceanic collection is internationally recognized, with origins in the first objects 
donated to the Museum in 1799.  Including more than 20,000 objects, the collection 
includes many masterworks, notably the monumental sculptural representation of the 
Hawaiian god Kukulailimoku, selected by J. Carter Brown for the 1996 Olympic Games 
exhibition, Rings.  Melanesian holdings include comprehensive collections from the 
peoples of New Guinea’s Sepik River basin and highlands and the Asmat peoples of 
West New Guinea. 

The American Decorative Art collection comprises works made or used in New England 
from the mid-17th century to the present.  One of the more complete of its kind, the 
collection encompasses 23,000 examples of fine, folk, and decorative arts:  period 
furniture illuminating all aspects of society, from the elite to the working class;  a major 
collection of American glass; portraits and landscape paintings; sculpture and folk art; 
textiles and needlework; toys and games; and a spectacular collection of American 
costumes, ranking among the best in the nation.  

The Native American collection is the oldest on-going collection of Native American art 
in the hemisphere. Totaling some 20,000 historic works and 50,000 archaeological 
objects, the earliest acquisitions derive from Salem’s maritime and missionary enterprise 
in the Northwest, Great Lakes, Southeast, and New England/Canadian coasts.  Early 
acquisitions include masterworks rare outside the earliest European collections.  Until 
1996, when the Museum mounted the major traveling exhibitions Gifts of the Spirit, the 
collection was largely unknown. 

Among the least widely known of the Museum’s collections are the African collections.  
Like the Native American collection, the African holdings represent the earliest ongoing 
collection of African art in the country.  Included are important paintings and religious art 
from Ethiopia, sculpture and textiles from the Congo basin and Madagascar, a collection 
of classical Egyptian art that was the first to be publicly displayed at an American 
museum, and a rare group of South African Zulu artworks, acquired by New England 
missionaries in the 19th century.  
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The Photography collection contains more than a million rare and vintage photographs, 
including one of the world’s finest collections of 19th century Asian photography, 
important early American photographic portraits, architectural and landscape images, and 
a large body of early photographic works undertaken in the Pacific Islands.  A curatorial 
department was created for photography in 2000.  The Museum’s installation of the 
“Imperial Palace” exhibition included photographs from the Museum’s 19th century 
Asian photography collections, and the Museum’s collection of Edward S. Curtis’s 
master platinum exhibition prints is currently the subject of an exhibition and catalog 
publication. 

The collection of Works of Art on Paper includes tens of thousands of original American 
and Asian works by 18th and 19th century artists, as well as 19th and 20th century 
American, European, and Asian prints.  Among the latter is a comprehensive collection 
of early European printed views of the Pacific Islands from Cook’s and other voyages of 
exploration. 

The Phillips Library houses 400,000 volumes and more than 5,000 linear feet of 
manuscripts; it is one of New England’s largest and most heavily used research libraries.  
Its collections include important early American imprints, the world’s best collection of 
works by Nathaniel Hawthorne, one of New England’s largest collections of ships’ logs 
and journals, and original documents from the 1692 Salem witch trials. 

The Museum’s extensive and historic Natural History collection is being deployed in new 
educational interactive gallery installations.  Theme-based, hands-on exhibits are 
developed by educators to allow children to discover connections between culture and 
nature, using objects from various art collections in combination with natural history 
objects, multi-media, and other interpretive techniques. 

In addition, the Museum has reaffirmed its commitment to collecting Contemporary Art, 
which has been fundamental to the collecting philosophy from the Institution’s 
beginnings.  For example, in Japan in 1799, Captain Deveraeux collected for the Museum 
the latest wood black prints by Utamaro.  Contemporary works that enhance continuity, 
interpretability, and relevance have recently been added to many of the collections, 
notably numerous additions to Native American and American Decorative Art 
collections. 

Exhibitions 

As a central part of its mission, the Museum produces exhibitions with the potential of 
fostering understanding across cultural boundaries.  The gallery facility currently under 
construction, along with renovation and reconfiguration of existing galleries, will provide space 
needed to fulfill the Museum’s goals for permanent and changing exhibitions.  In the old facility, 
installations presented only a very limited selection of the collections.  New, more flexible 
installations of the Museum’s collections are being designed to permit rotation on a much more 
frequent basis than in the past, in recognition that only selections from the collections can be 
shown at any given time.  This will assure freshness in the Museum’s offerings and add incentive 
for repeat visitation.  New installations will incorporate unobtrusive forms of multi-media such as 
interactive stations and personalized audio wands or other devices; video installations will be 
incorporated, generally in areas separate from the gallery proper.  New installations will 
incorporate current Museum audience behavior research and accommodate multiple learning and 
viewing styles. 
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In addition to the permanent exhibitions, the Museum regularly organizes changing and 
traveling exhibitions, both from its own collections and with borrowed works, and hosts several 
major traveling exhibits annually.  All of the gallery spaces on the upper level of the new and 
renovated structures have been designed to accommodate the needs of rotating shows.  In the last 
three years, the Museum has staged a number of special exhibitions, including: 

-- Odyssey: A Journey Into World Art.  Created to celebrate the Museum’s Bicentennial, 
this exhibition of three hundred of the Museum’s objects representing centuries of artistic 
achievement from around the globe, drew connections that spanned the world and cut 
across cultural bounds, uniting people, art and ideas. 

-- Ebony and Ivory: Furniture from British India and Ceylon showcased examples of the 
Museum’s rare holdings of Indian export furniture, spanning more than 250 years of 
furniture-making in India, presented in conjunction with the publication of Furniture 
from British India and Ceylon: A Catalogue of the Collection in the Victoria and Albert 
Museum and the Peabody Essex Museum. 

-- Painted with Thread: The Art of American Embroidery highlighted works in the 
Museum’s extensive embroidery collection, spanning 380 years, and featured works of 
embroidery art, stories about the artists, their tools and processes, and the historical and 
cultural setting in which those artists worked.  A signification publication accompanied 
the exhibition. 

-- The Art of Frank Benson, a celebration of the American Impressionist whose life and 
work was rooted in Salem and New England, but who drew upon international artistic 
and cultural trends and traditions, this exhibition explored Benson’s portraits, plein air 
works, interiors and still lifes, and outdoor scenes.  The exhibit was accompanied by a 
major catalogue of Benson’s work. 

--Worlds Revealed:  The Dawn of Japanese and American Exchange.  An exhibit jointly 
stages by the Museum and the Edo-Tokyo Museum to celebrate the 200th anniversary, in 
1999, of the first American ship – the Franklin, built in Salem – to transport goods 
directly from Japan to America, and to celebrate 200 years of artistic and cultural 
interaction and exchange.  A major catalogue accompanied the exhibition. 

--Timeless Visions: Contemporary Art of India showcased the collection of Chester and 
Davida Herwitz, now part of the Museum’s permanent collection. 

-- Kenro Izu: Sacred Places, an ensemble of more than sixty platinum palladium 
photographs of spiritual landmarks in Asia, the Middle East and Europe, many never 
before exhibited. The exhibition was accompanied by the publication, by Arena Editions, 
of a catalogue of Izu’s work. 

--Master Works of Edward Curtis, an exhibition of more than eighty original photographs 
drawn from the Museum’s collections.  Curtis was committed to photographing every 
Native American tribe west of the Mississippi River, and this exhibit showcases fine 
examples of his best-known images.  In collaboration with Arean Editions, a definitive 
volume of Curtis’ work was published. 

--The Endurance: Shackleton’s Legendary Antarctic Expedition, borrowed from the 
American Museum of Natural History, featured 150 photographs taken on glass negatives 
by Frank Hurley, a member of the expedition, as well as a number of artifacts from the 
expedition and a replica of the lifeboat James Caird. 
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 --The Secret World of the Forbidden City: Splendors From China’s Imperial Palace, 
borrowed from the Palace Museum in Beijing, offered visitors a rare chance to 
experience the rich and varied art and artifacts – scrolls, embroidery, porcelain, jade 
carving, laquerware and painting – spanning four centuries of China’s history. 

--Rendezvous with the Sea: The Glory of the French Maritime Tradition, borrowed from 
the Musee National de la Marine in Paris, presented a show of 150 objects dating back to 
the 1700’s, including extraordinarily lavish models of ships, large paintings depicting the 
bustling life of major port cities of France, and authentic maritime objects such as an 
early prototype of an aqualung by Jacques Cousteau.  The exhibition was accompanied 
by the publication of a significant catalogue. 

In addition, several Museum exhibitions have been presented at museums around the 
nation and world, including the Smithsonian Institution, the Los Angeles Museum of Art, the 
Minneapolis Art Institute, the National Museum of Korea, the Edo-Tokyo Museum, the Museum 
of Sydney and the Hong Kong Museum of Art. 
 
Programs 

The Museum’s educational mission is integral to all its activities. Education programs 
help to make the Museum’s collections meaningful and instructive to a broad audience. The 
diversity of the Museum’s collections provides a fertile ground for the development of a variety 
of programs for all ages.  The new and renovated facilities will bring new opportunities to present 
a variety of learning experiences, as it will incorporate installations of collections previously not 
on view; a computer center, with access to material on the Museum’s collections, and links to 
other collections around the world; a 7,000-square-foot Education Center with multi-purpose 
classroom-meeting-studio space and access to the Museum’s technology and collections research; 
and a 190-seat auditorium for the presentation of performances, lecture programs, and films.  The 
Museum’s programmatic offerings include: 

Interpretive programs, which serve as the broadest museum-going audience and 
include daily tours of permanent galleries and special exhibitions, daily tours of the 
Museum’s historic houses, printed guides to galleries, and interactive multimedia kiosks.  
An active and dedicated docent corps of more than 130 women and men staff the tour 
program. 

Youth Training and Employment:  In 2000, the Museum inaugurated the Museum 
Action Corps with funding from a U.S. Department of Labor Pilot and Demonstration 
Grant; in 2001, the program was also awarded a Verizon Foundation EdLink School-to-
Career grant.  Students participate in a credit-bearing high school museum studies course, 
paid work in more than 20 museum departments, and community service projects.  This 
program will continue as part of a multi-year U.S. Department of Education ECHO grant 
awarded to the Museum in the fall of 2002. 

School programs:  For children in grades kindergarten through 12, the Museum is 
working in partnership with local schools to develop and refined new programs that link 
frequent Museum visits with arts, social studies, math and science curriculum 
frameworks.  These programs are emblematic of a new generation of school programs 
within the Museum – programs that are designed to leverage the Museum’s collections, 
staff, and institutional resources to meet identified education needs at every grade level.  
Altogether, the Museum currently serves more than 22,000 children each year through a 
wide array of education programs.  Special teacher-training sessions are also offered free 
of charge throughout the year. 
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A new exhibition-based school program, Shorelines, focuses on the interaction of 
Native cultures in New England, Alaska, and Hawaii with the sea, featuring video kiosks, 
interactives, and artwork from the Native American, Oceanic, Maritime, American 
Decorative Arts, and Natural History collections.  

After-school programs:  The Museum collaborates with the Salem public schools and 
other providers of after-school programs, such as the YMCA, Boys and Girls Clubs, and 
Girls, Inc. to develop a program of activities at the Museum to enrich the ongoing after-
school experience.  After-school program providers bring groups to the Museum to 
participate in Museum Adventures, a sequence of gallery visits followed by educational 
and hands-on art activities, culminating in a Museum exhibition of student artwork for 
students and their families. 

Adult public programs enable members of the community to explore interests related to 
the Museum’s collections through lectures, film series, workshops, seminars, symposia, 
travel programs, and curator talks. 

A busy schedule of youth and family programs includes school vacation and weekend 
workshops, storytelling in the galleries, and Family Festivals based on international 
themes. 

Studio Art classes in drawing and painting for both children and adults, featuring artists 
and instructors from the Massachusetts College of Art, were instituted in 2001. 

Education managers develop programs in collaboration with curatorial, marketing, and 
development staff, with additional advice and oversight from the Board’s Programs and 
Exhibitions Committee. The Museum has received Massachusetts Cultural Council support for 
the development of Museum-based programs that meet new state curriculum requirements for 
public school students. The partnership formed for this project includes the public schools, Salem 
public access television, and the House of the Seven Gables.  
 

INSURANCE 

The Museum maintains insurance with respect to its property and its collections, the 
operation thereof, and its business, against such casualties, contingencies and risks and in such 
amounts not less than is customary in the case of museums of similar size and character.  All 
property and equipment, excluding the Museum’s collections, is covered on a full replacement 
cost basis.  The Museum’s collections are covered with a blanket $25 million policy. 

LITIGATION 

As of the date hereof, to the knowledge of the Museum’s management, there is no 
litigation pending or, to the knowledge of the Museum’s management, threatened for which 
insurance coverage does not exist or which could otherwise have a materially adverse effect on 
the Museum’s financial condition or offer its ability to carry out the transactions relating to the 
issuance of the Bonds. 

ACCREDITATION 

 The Museum is accredited by the American Association of Museums. 
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This letter and the information contained herein are submitted to the Authority for 
inclusion in its Official Statement relating to the Bonds.  The use of this letter by the Authority in 
connection with the initial sale and public offering of the Bonds, and the execution and delivery 
thereof by the undersigned official of the Museum, have been duly authorized by the Museum. 

Respectfully submitted, 

                                                                                    PEABODY ESSEX MUSEUM, INC. 
 
 /s/ Paul S. Goodof          

 Chief Operating Officer 
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Report of Independent Accountants 
 
 
To the Trustees of the 
Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position and the related 

consolidated statements of activities and consolidated cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, 

the consolidated financial position of the Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. (the "Museum") as of 

December 31, 2001, and the consolidated changes in its net assets and consolidated cash flows for the 

year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Museum's management; our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  The prior year 

summarized comparative information has been derived from the Museum’s 2000 financial statements, 

and in our report dated May 23, 2001, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial 

statements.  We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with auditing standards 

generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 

management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit 

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 
 
 
 
/S/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Boston, Massachusetts 
April 12, 2002 
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As of December 31, 2001 and 2000 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

2001 2000

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 1) 7,419,894$       2,056,166$        
Accounts receivable 104,627 361,173
Pledges receivable (Note 2) 1,089,526 1,549,290
Grants, dividends and interest receivable 1,047,668 937,347
Inventories, at cost 384,501 327,116
Prepaid expenses 211,086 387,702

Total current assets 10,257,302 5,618,794

Pledges receivable - noncurrent (Note 2) 1,362,089 1,738,413
Investments, at market (Notes 1 and 6) 82,397,606 103,114,004
Funds held by others (Note 6) 3,870,316 11,100,091
Assets of split interest agreements, net (Note 6) 2,087,365 3,212,766
Mortgages receivable 197,316 197,316
Land, buildings and equipment, net
  (Note 3) 62,669,043 34,557,596

Total assets 162,841,037$   159,538,980$    

Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 3,378,844 1,584,753
Accrued expenses 972,369 644,774
Deferred revenue 35,551 112,909
Current portion of lease liability (Note 4) 46,527 35,310

Total current liabilities 4,433,291 2,377,746

Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable (Note 7) 3,500,000 -
Long-term lease liability (Note 4) 36,265 31,834

Total liabilities 7,969,556 2,409,580

Net assets (Note 9) 154,871,481 157,129,400

Total liabilities and net assets 162,841,037$   159,538,980$    
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Activities 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2001 
(with summarized consolidated financial information 
for the year ended December 31, 2000) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

Total Temporarily Permanently Consolidated
unrestricted restricted restricted 2001 2000

Operating support and revenue:
Contributions and bequests 1,926,614$     17,715,172$   347,557$        19,989,343$     18,046,870$    
Grants 287,048 652,619 - 939,667 500,873
Income from invested funds (Note 6) 2,112,151 1,009,120 20,329 3,141,600 3,817,757
Investment return appropriated (Note 6) 4,971,366 (4,971,366) - - -
Memberships 424,585 - - 424,585 366,483
Admissions 546,410 - - 546,410 502,246
Educational programs 402,521 - - 402,521 426,307
Merchandising (Note 8) 990,442 - - 990,442 966,445
Rentals 290,980 - - 290,980 267,092
Miscellaneous 388,986 867 - 389,853 364,856
Satisfaction of program restrictions (Note 1) 4,169,867 (4,169,867) - - -
Transfer to nonoperating (Note 1) (3,265,623) - - (3,265,623) (3,504,021)

Total operating support and revenue 13,245,347 10,236,545 367,886 23,849,778 21,754,908

Expenses:
Program services:

Collections and curatorial 2,678,063 - - 2,678,063 1,997,183
Publications 187,200 - - 187,200 161,902
Educational programs 973,521 - - 973,521 974,021
Exhibitions 764,127 - - 764,127 634,240
Marketing/public relations 1,024,092 - - 1,024,092 1,086,353
Membership activities 455,972 - - 455,972 402,493

Total program services 6,082,975 - - 6,082,975 5,256,192

Supporting services:
Administrative and general 3,266,620 - - 3,266,620 3,121,404
Security and maintenance 1,406,072 - - 1,406,072 1,505,939
Fund-raising 1,346,570 - - 1,346,570 1,199,799
Merchandising (Note 8) 826,784 - - 826,784 781,953
Rentals 248,730 - - 248,730 155,826
Miscellaneous - - - - 3,094

Total supporting services 7,094,776 - - 7,094,776 6,768,015

Total program and supporting services 13,177,751 - - 13,177,751 12,024,207

Change in net assets from operating activities 67,596 10,236,545 367,886 10,672,027 9,730,701

Nonoperating activities:
Net realized gains (losses) on investments (97,028) (1,284,742) (53,054) (1,434,824) 4,968,295
Net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of investments (515,927) (6,566,437) (283,193) (7,365,557) (7,071,274)
Change in value of split interest agreements 
  and funds held by others - (379,169) (641,720) (1,020,889) (227,425)
Additional pension liability expense (365,599) - - (365,599) -
Transfer from operating (Note 1) 3,265,623 - - 3,265,623 3,504,021
Sale of collection items - 14,489 - 14,489 59,058
Collection items purchased (4,501,639) - - (4,501,639) (5,570,884)
Depreciation (1,445,488) - - (1,445,488) (1,308,777)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets (76,062) - - (76,062) -
Plant related satisfaction of program restrictions 28,344,905 (28,141,544) (203,361) - -
Satisfaction of program restrictions - collection items 4,501,639 (4,501,639) - - -

Change in net assets from nonoperating activities 29,110,424 (40,859,042) (1,181,328) (12,929,946) (5,646,986)

Increase (decrease) in net assets 29,178,020 (30,622,497) (813,442) (2,257,919) 4,083,715

Net assets at January 1 38,372,044 88,451,526 30,305,830 157,129,400 153,045,685

Net assets at December 31 67,550,064$   57,829,029$   29,492,388$   154,871,481$    157,129,400$   
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc.  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated and individual financial statements. 

2001 2000

Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets (2,257,919)$   4,083,715$      
Adjustments to reconcile increase in net assets to net cash
  provided by (used by) operating activities:

Depreciation 1,445,488 1,308,778
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 76,062 -
Contributions restricted for long-term investments and capital additions (12,119,607) (10,689,535)
Net unrealized and realized losses on long-term investments 8,800,381 2,102,979
Amortization of bond discount/premium 11,886 (1,091)
Change in value of split interest agreements and perpetual trusts 1,020,889 227,425
Gifts of stock and gifts in kind (836,952) (14,767)
Additional minimum pension liability 365,599 -

(Increase) decrease in assets:
Pledges receivable 836,088 3,422,710
Accounts receivable 256,546 3,025
Grants, dividends and interest receivable (110,321) (521,873)
Inventories (57,385) (57,974)
Prepaid expenses 176,616 (240,302)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable (252,779) 1,002,477
Accrued expenses (38,004) 229,489
Deferred revenue (77,358) (8,652)

Net cash (used by) provided by operating activities (2,760,770) 846,404

Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to land, building, equipment and construction in progress (26,694,747) (5,009,187)
Purchases of investments (25,416,660) (87,291,618)
Proceeds from sales of investments 37,320,796 79,455,798
Proceeds from funds held by others 6,500,000 -
Contributions of/distributions from split interest agreements 834,287 860,014

Net cash used by investing activities (7,456,324) (11,984,993)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds of construction mortgage 3,500,000 -
Contributions restricted for long-term investments and capital additions 12,119,607 10,689,535
Payments of capital lease obligations (38,785) -

Net cash provided by financing activities 15,580,822 10,689,535

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,363,728 (449,054)

Cash  and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,056,166 2,505,220

Cash  and cash equivalents at end of year 7,419,894$     2,056,166$      

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities:
Fixed asset acquisitions remaining in accounts payable and accrued
  expenses 2,997,099$     950,229$        
Capital leases used to finance equipment 54,433$           -$                   
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
1. Significant Accounting Policies 
 
 The accompanying financial statements reflect the consolidated financial statements of the 

Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. (the "Museum") and the Museum Cooperative of Salem, Inc. (the 
"Cooperative").  The Museum was formed on July  1, 1992 as a consolidation of the former 
Peabody Museum of Salem and the Essex Institute.  The Cooperative was formed by the Museum 
to explore and carry out development proposals for the Salem Armory Property.  The Museum 
offers its members and the public a wide variety of courses and educational programs and 
maintains an active schedule of special exhibits which complements its permanent galleries and 
period houses.  In addition to the Museum's curatorial departments, there is an extensive research 
library, departments of education and photography, a conservation laboratory and a Museum 
shop. 

 
 The significant accounting policies followed by the Museum are as follows: 
 
 Basis of Presentation 
 The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 

and in accordance with the reporting principles of not-for-profit accounting.  The financial 
statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total but not by net 
asset class.  Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the Museum's financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2000, from which the summarized information was 
derived. 

 
 Unrestricted Net Assets 
 Unrestricted net assets are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations.  Revenues are reported as 

increases in unrestricted net assets unless use of the related assets is limited by donor-imposed 
restrictions.  Expenses are reported as decreases in unrestricted net assets.  Gains and losses on 
investments and other assets or liabilities are reported as increases or decreases in unrestricted net 
assets unless their use is restricted by explicit donor stipulations or law.  For fiscal years 2001 and 
2000, the Trustees of the Museum elected to place all unrestricted contributions and all 
unrestricted interest and dividends received on invested funds into board designated net assets.   

 
 Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 
 Temporarily restricted net assets carry specific, donor-imposed restrictions on the expenditure or 

other use of contributed funds or limitations imposed by law.  Temporary restrictions may expire 
either because of the passage of time or because certain actions are taken by the Museum which 
fulfill the restriction.  Expirations of temporary restrictions on net assets, that is, the donor-
imposed stipulated purpose has been accomplished or the stipulated time period has elapsed, are 
reported as reclassifications between the applicable classes of net assets. 

 
 Permanently Restricted Net Assets 
 Permanently restricted net assets are subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they be 

maintained permanently by the Museum.  Generally the donors of these assets permit the 
Museum to use all or part of the income earned and capital appreciation on related investments 
for general or specific purposes. 

 
 Operating Activities 
 Operating activities represent revenues by source and operating expenses by major function.  Its 

purpose is to represent revenues and expenses related solely to operating activities of the 
Museum. 
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
 Nonoperating Activities 
 In fiscal year 2001, the Museum redefined its measure of operating activities.  Under the new 

definition, collection items purchased and sold are included as nonoperating activities.  
Nonoperating activities consist of income and expenses for nonoperating purposes such as 
investment gains (losses), collection item purchased and sold, depreciation, split interest 
agreements, funds held by others and satisfaction of program restrictions related to the acquisition 
or construction of capital projects.  The Museum considers all unrestricted board designated 
support and revenue nonoperating activities. 

 
 Transfers 
 Transfers to/from operating activities represent allocations from/to nonoperating activities for the 

board designated fund. 
 
 Principles of Consolidation 
 The consolidated financial statements include the Museum and its wholly-owned affiliate.  All 

significant inter-entity transactions and accounts have been eliminated. 
 
 Works of Art 
 In accordance with the general practice of art museums, the purchase of works of art is 

recognized as a decrease in unrestricted net assets and is not capitalized. 
 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 All highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less are 

classified as cash equivalents and approximate fair value.  As of December 31, 2001, the Museum 
had approximately 82% of its total cash and cash equivalents deposited in one financial 
institution.  This temporary concentration returned to levels consistent with prior year within 60 
days. 

 
 Inventories 
 Inventories, principally retail merchandise, are stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost 

calculated using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method, and market based upon net realizable value. 
 
 Gifts 
 Gifts, including unconditional promises to give, are recorded upon receipt.  Gifts other than cash 

are recorded at fair market value at the date of contribution.  Gifts with donor-imposed 
restrictions which are reported as temporarily restricted revenues are reclassified to unrestricted 
net assets when either the time restriction or purpose restriction is satisfied. 

 
 Investments 
 Investments in marketable securities are stated at market value.  The value of publicly traded 

securities is based upon quoted market prices.  Other securities for which no such quotations or 
valuations are readily available are carried at estimated fair value. 

 
 Investment gains and losses consist of realized gains and losses on sale of investments and 

unrealized gains and losses recognized on short and long-term investments.  Purchases and sales 
are recorded on the trade date.  Realized gains and losses on portfolio transactions are accounted 
for on the individual security basis.  Investment income is recorded on the accrual basis. 
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
 Property and Equipment 
 Buildings, capital improvements, period house renovations and equipment are stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows: 

 
 Buildings 30 to 50 years 
 Capital improvements 5 to 20 years 
 Equipment 3 to 10 years 
 Period house renovations 5 to 30 years 
 
 Betterments which materially add to the value of the related assets or materially extend the useful 

life of the assets are capitalized.  Equipment and furnishings of relatively small dollar value are 
recognized as decreases in current operating net assets.  When equipment is retired or has been 
fully depreciated, its cost and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the 
respective accounts.  Gains or losses arising from the dispositions are charged to unrestricted net 
assets. 

 
 The Museum does not impose time restrictions on the use of contributed long-lived assets 

received without donor stipulations about how long the contributed asset must be used. 
 
 Contributed Services and Gifts In-Kind 
 Contributions of services are recognized when provided by individuals or organizations whose 

skills would be purchased if not provided by donation.  A substantial number of unpaid 
volunteers have made significant contributions of their time to develop and maintain the 
Museum's programs.  The value of this contributed time is not reflected in these statements.  In 
fiscal year 2001, the Museum received $836,952 in contributed landscaping for the Armory Park 
property, which has been capitalized as construction in progress and has been included as an 
unrestricted contribution. 

 
 Functional Allocation of Expenses 
 The costs of providing the various program and other activities have been summarized on a 

functional basis in Note 11.  Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among program and 
supporting services benefited.  Methods used in allocating expenses include actual expenses 
incurred on a specific identification basis and an estimated percentage of square footage by each 
functional area. 

 
 Third Century Campaign 
 For the Third Century Campaign, the Museum charges certain costs against the campaign 

restricted revenues.  These costs include all directly related fundraising and marketing costs as 
well as related administrative and overhead expenses.  Included in satisfaction of program 
restrictions is $1,898,066 and $3,530,258 in fiscal year 2001 and 2000, respectively, used for the 
Third Century Campaign. 

 
 Income Taxes 
 The Museum is qualified as an exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 

Revenue Code and is not subject to state or federal income taxes on its principal operations. 
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
 Risks and Uncertainties 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.  Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

 
 Reclassifications 
 Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2000 summarized comparative information in 

order to conform to the 2001 presentation. 
 
 
2. Pledges Receivable 
 
 Pledges expected to be collected within one year are recorded at their net realizable value.  

Pledges that are expected to be collected in future years are recorded at the present value of 
estimated future cash flows.  The present value of estimated future cash flows has been measured 
utilizing a discount rate equivalent to treasury yields of similar maturity.  Pledges as of 
December 31, 2001 and 2000 are expected to be realized in the following time frame: 

 
2001 2000

Up to one year 1,089,526$   1,549,290$    
One to five years 1,470,975 1,926,000

Pledges receivable 2,560,501 3,475,290
Less:  present value discount (108,886) (187,587)

2,451,615$   3,287,703$    
 

 
 The Museum has received anonymous conditional promises to give totaling $4,393,000 at 

December 31, 2001 to be used for the Third Century Campaign.  The payment of these pledges is 
contingent upon certain conditions. 

 
 
3. Land, Buildings and Equipment 
 
 Land, buildings and equipment are carried at cost and consist of the following at December 31: 
 

2001 2000

Land and buildings 20,115,246$   20,841,623$    
Capital improvements 8,739,548 8,605,537
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4,026,649 3,543,542
Period houses 1,612,112 1,612,112

Total 34,493,555 34,602,814

Accumulated depreciation (10,668,793) (9,348,894)

Total 23,824,762 25,253,920

Construction in progress 38,844,281 9,303,676

Property and equipment, net 62,669,043$   34,557,596$    
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
4. Leases 
 
 The Museum has capital and noncancelable operating leases related to equipment.  Minimum 

future lease commitments under noncancelable leases are as follows: 
 

Capital Operating
leases leases

2002 52,210$          9,547$            
2003 31,393 -
2004 7,008 -

Total minimum lease payments 90,611 9,547$            

Less amounts representing interest (7,819)

Present value of net minimum lease payments 82,792

Less current portion (46,527)

Long-term portion of net minimum lease payments 36,265$          
 

 
 Annual rent expense related to the operating leases was approximately $9,547 and $9,547 for the 

years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. 
 
 Certain equipment is leased under agreements, which substantially cover the estimated useful 

lives of the respective assets.  These agreements have been capitalized at the present value of the 
future minimum rental payments and are included in equipment balances at December 31, 2001 
and 2000, respectively, at a value of $175,178 and $120,745 less accumulated amortization of 
$86,933 and $47,039. 

 
 
5. Pension Plan 
 
 The Museum has a defined benefit pension plan.  The benefit obligation, fair value of assets and 

funded status of the plan at December 31 were as follows: 
 

2001 2000

Benefit obligation (3,160,350)$ (2,572,381)$  
Fair value of plan assets 1,791,763 1,736,397

Funded status (1,368,587)$ (835,984)$     

Accrued benefit cost (740,455)$    (369,278)$     
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
 Weighted-average assumptions as of December 31: 
 

2001 2000

Discount rate 7.25% 7.50%
Expected return on plan assets as of the beginning of the year 8.00% 8.00%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00%

2001 2000

Benefit cost 273,622$    147,027$     
Employer contribution 268,044 33,176
Benefits paid 74,248 72,955

 
 
 The Museum was required under FAS 87 to recognize an additional minimum pension liability of 

$365,599 in 2001, which is included in accrued liabilities. 
 
 
6. Investments 
 
 Investments consisted of the following at December 31, 2001 and 2000: 
 

2001 2000
Cost Market Cost Market

Cash and cash equivalents 2,091,071$     2,091,071$     13,860,085$   13,860,085$    
Bonds and notes 15,098,753 15,540,678 15,893,488 15,923,848
Common stocks 39,971,373 64,765,857 40,605,996 73,330,071

Total investments 57,161,197$   82,397,606$   70,359,569$   103,114,004$  
 

 
 Dividends, interest, net realized gains and net unrealized appreciation, arising from investments, 

are reported: 
 

• as increases in permanently restricted net assets if the terms of the gift require that they be 
added to the principal of a permanent endowment fund; 

• as increases in temporarily restricted net assets if the terms of the gift or state law impose 
restrictions on the current use of the income or net gains; and 

• as increases in unrestricted net assets in all other cases. 
 
 The Attorney General of Massachusetts has issued written guidance that all gains on permanently 

restricted endowment that have not been appropriated in accordance with the law should be 
classified as Temporarily Restricted Net Assets. 

 
 State law allows the Board of Trustees to appropriate a percentage of net appreciation as is 

prudent considering the Museum's long- and short-term needs, present and anticipated financial 
requirements, expected total return on its investments, price level trends, and general economic 
conditions.  Under the Museum's endowment spending policy, 7% of the average market value 
for the previous 12 quarters through September 30 of the prior year of funds invested as 
endowment is used to support operations. 
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
 Investment return consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000: 
 

2001 2000

Income from invested funds 3,141,600$     3,817,757$      
Net realized gains (losses) on investments (1,434,824) 4,968,295
Net unrealized depreciation of investments (7,365,557) (7,071,274)

Total return (5,658,781)$   1,714,778$      

Return appropriated from temporarily restricted to 
  support operations (4,971,366) (4,236,635)
Return appropriated from board designated to 
  support operations (388,669) -

Total return appropriated to support operations (5,360,035)$   (4,236,635)$    
 

 
 Concentration of Investment Risk 
 Financial instruments which potentially subject the Museum to concentrations of investment risk 

consist of cash and cash equivalents and investments.  Included in investments at December 31, 
2001 are two individual investments with market values of $16,092,539 and $19,000,620, 
respectively. 

 
 Funds Held in Trust 
 The Museum is the recipient of four trusts held by others.  These arrangements represent 

unconditional promises to give and are recognized by the Museum as contribution revenue and 
assets at the time of the gifts.  The value of the contributions of $3,870,316 and $11,100,091 at 
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, is equal to the fair market value of the trusts held for 
the benefit of the Museum.  Annual distributions from the trusts are reported as investment 
income that increases permanently restricted, temporarily restricted, or unrestricted net assets 
depending on the nature of the donor's restrictions on distributions.  Adjustments to the amounts 
reported as assets, based on an annual valuation, are recognized as a change in value of the trusts. 

 
 During 2001, $6,500,000 was released from one of the trusts, pursuant to the terms of the trust, 

and used for construction of a building in association with the Third Century Campaign. 
 
 Assets of Split-Interest Agreements 
 The Museum has recorded $2,087,365 and $3,212,766 as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, 

respectively, relating to various split-interest agreements.  Assets received under these 
agreements are recorded at fair value and in the appropriate net asset category based on donor 
stipulation.  Related contributions are recognized as contribution revenue equal to the present 
value of future benefits less the liability for income payable to the donor or the donor's designee.  
During the term of these agreements, changes in the value of split-interest agreements are 
recognized in the statement of activities based on accretion of the discounted amount of the 
contribution, the expected future benefits to be received by the Museum and the expected future 
payment to other beneficiaries, based on changes in life expectancy and other actuarial 
assumptions.  Discount rates ranging from 5.5% to 6.77% were used in these calculations.  The 
discount rates were equivalent to treasury yields of similar maturity. 
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
7. Notes Payable 
 
 On February 15, 2001, the Museum obtained a $20 million loan facility from certain banks, 

collateralized by unrestricted endowment (Facility A) and a first mortgage on the land and 
buildings comprising the existing Museum facility at Liberty and Essex Streets (Facility B).  
Facility A bears interest at LIBOR plus three quarters of a percent, while Facility B bears interest 
at LIBOR plus two percent.  The loan will be used for new construction, and matures on February 
15, 2005.  Interest is payable monthly, and the rate was 2.65% at December 31, 2001.  Interest 
expense for fiscal year 2001 was $4,556.  Total borrowings as of December 31, 2001 were 
$3,500,000, all under Facility A. 

 
 
8. Merchandising Operations 
 
 Results for merchandising operations for the period ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 are 

summarized as follows: 
 

2001 2000

Revenue 990,442$    966,445$     
Cost of goods sold 489,933 497,758

Gross profit 500,509 468,687

Direct and indirect selling, general and administrative 
  expenses 429,929 373,886

Contribution after allocation of costs 70,580$      94,801$       
 

 
 Direct selling, general and administrative expenses include payroll and other direct costs, and an 

allocation of general overhead, occupancy, utilities and indirect administrative costs. 
 
 
9. Net Assets 
 
 Temporarily restricted net assets as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 include the following: 
 

2001 2000

Realized and unrealized accumulated gains on
  permanently restricted endowment assets 51,889,241$   60,318,491$    
Pledges, net 2,263,587 3,287,703
Beneficial interest in split-interest agreements 1,169,881 1,333,742
Purpose restricted contributions for future designated
  programs 2,397,932 16,206,967
Perpetual trusts 108,388 7,304,623

Total temporarily restricted net assets 57,829,029$   88,451,526$    
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
 Permanently restricted net assets as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 include the following: 
 

2001 2000

Permanently restricted endowment investments
  and period houses 24,624,948$   24,631,338$    
Pledges, net 188,028 -
Beneficial interest in split-interest agreements 917,484 1,879,024
Perpetual trusts 3,761,928 3,795,468

Total permanently restricted net assets 29,492,388$   30,305,830$    
 

 
 Unrestricted net assets as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 include the following: 
 

2001 2000

Board-designated net assets 10,301,660$ 7,648,617$    
Other unrestricted net assets 57,248,404 30,723,427

Total unrestricted net assets 67,550,064$ 38,372,044$  
 

 
 
10. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
 The Museum has made commitments of approximately $24,988,000 and $47,765,000 as of 

December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, to complete various construction projects in 
connection with the planned expansion of the Museum. 

 
 The Museum is involved in legal actions in the ordinary course of business.  In the opinion of 

management, there are no legal proceedings pending against or involving the Museum whose 
outcome is likely to have a material adverse effect upon the statements of financial position, 
statements of activities, changes in net assets and the statements of cash flows of the Museum. 
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Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
11. Functional Expenses 
 
 Operating expenses, plus depreciation, are allocated by function, as follows: 
 

2001 2000

Program services:
Collections and curatorial 3,845,764$     3,122,415$      
Publications 187,200 161,902
Educational programs 1,049,675 1,047,406
Exhibitions 2,119,676 1,948,035
Marketing and public relations 1,024,092 1,086,353
Membership activities 455,972 402,493

Total program services 8,682,379 7,768,604

Supporting services:
Administrative and general 3,425,698 3,334,017
Fundraising 1,346,570 1,199,799
Merchandising 919,862 871,644
Rentals 248,730 155,826
Miscellaneous - 3,094

Total supporting services 5,940,860 5,564,380

Total program and supporting services 14,623,239$   13,332,984$    
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APPENDIX C

C-1

DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS

In addition to terms defined elsewhere in the Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings
in the Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002 (the “Agreement”) among the Authority, the
Institution and the Trustee, unless the context otherwise requires:

“Act” means Chapter 614 of the Massachusetts Acts of 1968, as amended from time to time.

“Act of Bankruptcy of the Bank” means the Bank shall become insolvent or fail to pay its debts generally
as such debts become due or shall admit in writing its inability to pay any of its indebtedness or shall consent to or
petition for or apply to any authority for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, trustee or similar official for itself
or for all or any substantial part of its properties or assets or any such trustee, receiver, liquidator or similar official
is otherwise appointed or insolvency, reorganization, arrangement or liquidation proceedings (or similar
proceedings) shall be instituted by or against the Bank.

“Bank” means Citizens Bank of Massachusetts, with its successors and assigns in its capacity as issuer of
the Letter of Credit, and any other issuer of a Credit Facility.

“Bank Rate” means, on any date, the per annum rate of interest on such date applicable to the Institution’s
reimbursement obligations for drawings under the Letter of Credit, as described in the Reimbursement Agreement.
In no event shall the Bank Rate exceed the highest interest rate permitted by law. Payment of interest to the Bank
under the Reimbursement Agreement on any amounts payable thereunder in respect of drawings under the Letter of
Credit applied to the purchase of Pledged Bonds shall satisfy the Institution’s obligation to pay interest on such
Pledged Bonds.

“Bond Counsel” means Palmer & Dodge LLP or other nationally recognized bond counsel selected by the
Authority and reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee.

“Bondowners,” “owners,” “registered owners” or words of similar import means the registered owners of
the Bonds from time to time as shown in the books kept by the Trustee, as bond registrar and transfer agent, except
that wherever appropriate the term “owners” shall mean the owners of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes.

“Bonds” means the $35,000,000 Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority Variable Rate
Demand Revenue Bonds, Peabody Essex Museum Issue, Series 2002, and any bond or bonds duly issued in
exchange or replacement therefor.

“Business Day” means a day (i) that is not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, (ii) that is a day on which
banks are not required or authorized to close in New York, New York, (iii) that is a day on which banking institu-
tions in all of the cities in which the principal corporate trust offices of the Trustee and, if applicable, principal
offices of the Remarketing Agent and the Bank (and, in the case of the Bank, the office of the Bank specified in the
Letter of Credit for draws thereunder) are located are not required or authorized to remain closed and (iv) that is a
day on which the New York Stock Exchange is not closed.

“Commonwealth” means The Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

“Conversion Date” means the date on which a new Mode becomes effective with respect to a Bond, and
with respect to a Bond in the Multiannual Mode, the date on which a new Rate Period becomes effective.

“Credit Facility” means the Letter of Credit and any substitute irrevocable transferable letter of credit
delivered to the Trustee pursuant to the Agreement and then in effect.

“Delivery Date” means, with respect to a Bond tendered for purchase, the Purchase Date or any subsequent
Business Day on which such Bond is delivered to the Trustee as provided in the forms of Weekly and Monthly and
Multiannual Bond in the Agreement.
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“Effective Date” means, with respect to a Bond in the Weekly, Monthly or Multiannual Mode, the date on
which a new Rate Period for that Bond takes effect. The Effective Date shall be the date of initial issuance of the
Bonds and thereafter each Thursday (or next succeeding Business Day if such Thursday is not a Business Day) in
the Weekly Mode and the first Business Day of each month in the Monthly Mode.

“Eligible Funds” means (i) amounts drawn on any Credit Facility; (ii) amounts paid to the Trustee pursuant
to the Agreement which have been held by it for a period of at least 123 days during which no Event of Bankruptcy
has occurred and which have been commingled only with other Eligible Funds; (iii) amounts which if applied to the
payment of the Bonds would not, in the opinion of nationally recognized counsel experienced in bankruptcy matters
selected by the Institution and satisfactory to the Trustee, be subject to avoidance as a preference under the United
States Bankruptcy Code upon an Event of Bankruptcy; and (iv) income derived from investment of the foregoing.
The Trustee shall maintain records of Eligible Funds held by it.

“Event of Bankruptcy” means the filing of a petition in bankruptcy or the commencement of a proceeding
under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable law concerning insolvency, reorganization or
bankruptcy by or against the Institution, any affiliates thereof, any guarantor of the Bonds (other than the Bank) or
the Authority, as debtor.

“Event of Default” has the meaning given such term in the Agreement.

“Federal Tax Statement” means the Tax Certificate and Agreement pertaining to the Bonds executed by the
Institution and the Authority in connection with the original issuance of the Bonds and delivered to the Trustee.

“First Optional Redemption Date” means, for Bonds in the Fixed Rate Mode, the tenth anniversary of the
Fixed Rate Conversion Date.

“Fixed Rate” means a rate or rates of interest on the Bonds that is fixed for the remaining term of the
Bonds.

“Fixed Rate Conversion Date” means the date upon which the Fixed Rate first becomes effective for the
Bonds.

“Fixed Rate Mode” has the meaning set forth in the form of Fixed Rate Bond in the Agreement.

“Government Obligations” means obligations issued by, or the full and timely payment of which are
guaranteed by, the United States.

“Hedge Agreement” means an interest rate swap, cap, collar, floor, forward, or other hedging agreement,
arrangement or security, however denominated, expressly identified pursuant to its terms as being entered into in
connection with and in order to hedge interest rate fluctuations on all or a portion of any indebtedness.

“IRC” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended from time to time.

“Institution Bond” means any Bond registered to the Institution pursuant to the Agreement.

“Interest Accrual Period” means a calendar month, or a longer or shorter period (i) from the date of the
Bonds or (ii) to the maturity date of the Bonds, a mandatory tender date, the Fixed Rate Conversion Date or the
redemption date.

“Interest Index” means that indication of the lowest interest rate appropriate for bonds similar to the Bonds
being priced in terms of security, creditworthiness, term and tender privilege which will permit the Bonds to be sold
at a purchase price equal (excluding accrued interest) to their principal amount determined first by interviewing
three investors of portfolios holding significant numbers of such bonds (but who are not Bondowners) and second, if
that is not practicable, by referring to the best available database or publication of national recognition containing a
recent calculation of such an interest rate for comparable securities.



C-3

“Interest Payment Date” means each date on which interest shall be payable on the Bonds according to
their terms so long as any of the Bonds shall be Outstanding. While the Bonds bear interest in the Weekly or
Monthly Mode, the Interest Payment Date shall be the first Business Day of each calendar month commencing
January 2, 2003; in the Multiannual Mode and from and after the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, the Interest Payment
Date shall be the first day of January and July of each year, commencing with an January 1 or July 1 specified by the
Institution in writing which is at least two but less than ten months after the Fixed Rate Conversion Date; except that
for Pledged Bonds the Interest Payment Date shall be the first Business Day of each month. As to any Bond
whether before or after the Fixed Rate Conversion Date, the Interest Payment Date shall also be the maturity date,
mandatory tender date or redemption date thereof.

“Letter of Credit” means the irrevocable letter of credit issued by the Bank for the benefit of the Trustee on
the date of issuance of the Bonds and any extension thereof.

“Maximum Interest Rate” means the maximum interest rate on Bonds in the Weekly and Monthly Modes
which rate is initially 10% per annum. The Maximum Interest Rate may be increased at any time by the Institution
by filing with the Authority and the Trustee a certificate stating the new Maximum Interest Rate. In no event shall
an increase in the Maximum Interest Rate be permitted to cause the amount entitled to be drawn under a Credit
Facility to be less than the minimum required amount specified in the Agreement.

“Mode” means the period for and the manner in which the interest rates on the Bonds are set and includes
the Weekly Mode, the Monthly Mode, the Multiannual Mode and the Fixed Rate Mode.

“Monthly Mode” means a Rate Period with respect to the Bonds which is a one month (or slightly shorter
or longer) period which commences on the first Business Day of each calendar month and ends on the day
immediately preceding the first Business Day of the next calendar month.

“Monthly Rate” means the rate of interest determined by the Remarketing Agent for each Rate Period to be
the lowest rate which in its judgment, on the basis of prevailing financial market conditions, would permit the sale of
the Bonds in the Monthly Mode at par plus accrued interest on and as of the Effective Date, but not in excess of the
Maximum Interest Rate.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or any of its successors or assigns.

“Multiannual Mode” means the Mode in which the interest rate on the Bonds is fixed for periods of six
calendar months or integral multiples thereof designated by the Institution as described in the form of Multiannual
Bonds in the Agreement.

“Multiannual Rate” means the rate of interest that is set on Bonds while they are in the Multiannual Mode.

“Outstanding,” when used to modify Bonds, refers to Bonds issued, authenticated and delivered under the
Agreement, excluding: (i) Bonds which have been exchanged or replaced; (ii) Bonds which have been paid; (iii)
Bonds which have become due and for the payment of which moneys have been duly provided; (iv) Bonds deemed
tendered for purchase and not delivered to the Trustee on the Purchase Date, provided sufficient funds for payment
of the Purchase Price are on deposit with the Trustee; (v) Institution Bonds; and (vi) Bonds with respect to which the
Agreement has been defeased pursuant to the Agreement.

“Paying Agent” means the Paying Agent designated from time to time pursuant to the Agreement.

“Permitted Investments” means (i) Government Obligations; (ii) direct obligations and fully guaranteed
certificates of beneficial interest of the Export-Import Bank of the United States; consolidated debt obligations and
letter of credit-backed issues of the Federal Home Loan Banks; participation certificates and senior debt obligations
of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation; debentures of the Federal Housing Administration; mortgage-
backed securities (except stripped mortgage securities which are valued greater than par on the portion of unpaid
principal) and senior debt obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association or the Government National
Mortgage Association; participation certificates of the General Services Administration; guaranteed participation
certificates and guaranteed pool certificates of the Small Business Administration; debt obligations and letter of



C-4

credit-backed issues of the Student Loan Marketing Association; local authority bonds of the U.S. Department of
Housing and Urban Development; guaranteed Title XI financings of the U.S. Maritime Administration; guaranteed
transit bonds of the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority; Resolution Funding Corporation Securities;
(iii) direct obligations of any state of the United States of America or any subdivision or agency thereof whose
unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed general obligation debt is rated, at the time of purchase, at least as high as
the rating then in effect on the Bonds by S&P, or any obligation fully and unconditionally guaranteed by any state,
subdivision or agency whose unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed general obligation debt is rated, at the time of
purchase, at least as high as the rating then in effect on the Bonds by S&P or shares of an investment company or
trust registered under 15 U.S.C. § 80(a)-1 et. seq. whose portfolio is limited to the foregoing; (iv) commercial paper
(having original maturities of not more than 270 days) rated, at the time of purchase, in one of the top two highest
rating categories by Moody’s or S&P; (v) federal funds, unsecured certificates of deposit, time deposits or bankers
acceptances (in each case having maturities of not more than 365 days) of any domestic bank including a branch
office of a foreign bank which branch office is located in the United States, provided legal opinions are received to
the effect that full and timely payment of such deposit or similar obligation is enforceable against the principal
office or any branch of such bank, which, at the time of purchase, has a “Short-Term CD” rating in one of the top
two highest rating categories by Moody’s or S&P; (vi) deposits of any bank or savings and loan association which
has combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $3,000,000, provided such deposits are
continuously and fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; (vii) Investments in money-market
funds rated in the highest rating category by S&P, which funds may include those for which the Trustee or an
affiliate of the Trustee provides services for a fee, whether as investment advisor, custodian, transfer agent, sponsor,
distributor or otherwise; (viii) a Qualified GIC; (ix) repurchase agreements with banks, savings and loan
associations, trust companies or financial institutions organized under the laws of the United States or any state of
the United States (including the Trustee); provided, however, that any such bank, savings and loan association, trust
company or financial institution shall have a combined capital and surplus at least equal to $200,000,000 and, at the
time of issuance of any such repurchase agreement, shall have a rating assigned to its long-term, unsecured and
unenhanced obligations which is at least “A1” (or equivalent) by Moody’s or “A+” (or equivalent) by S&P; and
provided further, however, that (a) such agreements are fully secured by obligations of the type set forth in
paragraphs (i), (ii) or (iii) above, (b) such collateral is not subject to liens or claims of third parties, (c) such
collateral has a market value at least equal to one hundred and two percent (102%) of the amount invested and is
held by the Trustee or its agent or, in the case of collateral in the form of uncertificated securities, is registered in the
name of the Trustee as pledgee, (d) the Trustee has a valid security interest in such collateral, and (e) such
agreement shall provide that the failure to maintain such collateral at the level required by clause (c) above for a
period of ten (10) days will require the Trustee or its agents to liquidate the underlying investments; (x) “Tax
exempt bonds” as defined in IRC §150(a)(6), other than “specified private activity bonds” as defined in IRC
§57(a)(5)(C), rated at least AA or Aa by S&P or Moody’s, respectively, or the equivalent by any other nationally
recognized rating agency, at the time of acquisition thereof or shares of a so-called money market or mutual fund
that do not constitute “investment property” within the meaning of IRC §148(b)(2), provided either that the fund has
all of its assets invested in tax exempt bonds of such rating quality or, if such tax exempt bonds are not so rated, that
the fund has substantially comparable creditworthiness through insurance or otherwise and which fund is rated AAm
or AAm-G if rated by S&P or Aa if rated by Moody’s; and (xi) Any other investment which the Bank may from
time to time approve in writing as a Permitted Investment, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
Notwithstanding the immediately preceding paragraph Permitted Investments shall not include Government
Obligations, certificates of deposit and bankers’ acceptances, in each case with yields lower than the yield available
on comparable obligations of the United States Treasury, or any demand deposit or similar account with a bank,
trust company or broker, unless the account is used for holding funds for a short period of time until such funds are
reinvested or spent.

“Pledged Bond” means any Bond purchased with proceeds provided by the Credit Facility.

“Project” means the acquisition of land, site development, construction or alteration of buildings or the
acquisition or installation of furnishings and equipment, or any combination of the foregoing, in connection with (i)
the construction of a new museum building on the Institution’s campus, containing approximately 115,000 square
feet of gallery space, exhibit preparation facilities, an auditorium and public function and support space; (ii)
renovations to the Institution’s so-called “Liberty Complex” on the Institution’s campus, and consisting of East
India Marine Hall, East Hall, Weld Hall, the Dodge wing and the Asian Export wing; and (iii) the acquisition and
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installation of furniture, furnishings and equipment, interior fitup and exhibit installation for the facilities described
in (i) and (ii) above.

“Project Costs” means the costs of issuing the Bonds and the costs of carrying out the Project, including
repayment of external loans and internal advances for the same and including interest on the Bonds for up to two
years after the date of issuance of the Bonds, but excluding general administrative expenses, overhead of the
Institution and interest on internal advances.

“Purchase Date” means, while the Bonds are in a Weekly, Monthly or Multiannual Mode, the date on
which Bonds shall be required to be purchased pursuant to a mandatory or optional tender in accordance with the
provisions in the form of Weekly and Monthly and Multiannual Bonds in the Agreement.

“Purchase Price” shall have the meaning set forth in the forms of Bond in the Weekly and Monthly and
Multiannual Modes.

“Qualified GIC” means an investment contract providing for the investment of funds held by the Trustee
and insuring a minimum or fixed rate of return on investments of such funds, which contract shall: (i) be an
obligation issued or guaranteed by an insurance company or bank or holding company thereof whose senior long-
term debt obligations are rated in one of the top three highest rating categories by S & P (hereinafter defined); (ii)
provide that the Trustee may exercise all of the rights under such contract without the necessity of the taking of
action by any other person; (iii) provide that if at any time, the then current credit standing of the obligor under such
guaranteed investment contract has been lowered or withdrawn by S&P, the Trustee may terminate such contract
without penalty and be entitled to the return of all funds previously invested thereunder, together with accrued
interest thereon at the interest rate provided under such contract through the date of delivery of such funds to the
Trustee; (iv) provide that interest shall be payable not less than annually; (v) provide that the Trustee may withdraw
funds invested without penalty at any time and from time to time to be applied for the purposes described herein;
(vi) be accompanied by an enforceability opinion from counsel to the obligor under such guaranteed investment
contract in form and substance satisfactory to the Trustee; (vii) provide that the Trustee’s interest thereunder shall be
transferable to any successor Trustee hereunder; and (viii) while the Bonds are in the Weekly Mode, be approved in
writing by the Bank.

“Rate Period” or “Period” means, when used with respect to any particular rate of interest for a Bond in the
Weekly, Monthly or Multiannual Mode, the period during which such rate of interest determined for such Bond will
remain in effect as described in the Agreement.

“Reimbursement Agreement” means (a) the Reimbursement Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002
between the Institution and Citizens Bank of Massachusetts and any amendments and supplements thereto and (b)
any letter of credit agreement or reimbursement agreement by and between the Institution and any substitute Bank,
and any amendments and supplements thereto.

“Remarketing Agent” means Merrill Lynch & Co., in its capacity as remarketing agent under the
Remarketing Agreement, its successors and assigns.

“Remarketing Agreement” means the Remarketing Agreement dated as of the date of the Agreement
among the Institution and the Remarketing Agent, as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time.

“Revenues” means all rates, mortgage payments, rents, fees, charges, and other income and receipts,
including proceeds of insurance, eminent domain and sale, and including proceeds derived from any security
provided hereunder, payable to the Authority or the Trustee under this Agreement, excluding administrative fees of
the Authority, fees of the Trustee, reimbursements to the Authority or the Trustee for expenses incurred by the
Authority or the Trustee, and indemnification of the Authority and the Trustee.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services or any of its successors or assigns or, if S&P is no
longer rating the Bonds, any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Institution and
reasonably acceptable to the Trustee.
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“Tendered Bond” means any Bond tendered or deemed tendered for purchase pursuant to the Agreement.

“Trustee” means Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as trustee under the Agreement and its successors in
such capacity.

“UCC” means the Massachusetts Uniform Commercial Code.

“Weekly Mode” means a Rate Period with respect to the Bonds which is a one week (or slightly shorter for
the initial Rate Period or in the case of redemption, mandatory tender or maturity) period which commences on
Thursday (or next succeeding Business Day if such Thursday is not a Business Day) of one calendar week and ends
on the following Wednesday (or next succeeding Business Day if such Wednesday is not a Business Day), unless
the day following is not a Business Day, in which case the Weekly Mode shall end on the day preceding the next
Business Day.

“Weekly Rate” means the rate of interest determined by the Remarketing Agent for each Rate Period to be
the lowest rate which in its judgment, on the basis of prevailing financial market conditions, would permit the sale of
the Bonds in the Weekly Mode at par on and as of the Effective Date on which such Weekly Rate is determined and
announced, but not in excess of the Maximum Interest Rate.



APPENDIX D

SUMMARY OF THE AGREEMENT

The following is a brief summary prepared by Palmer & Dodge LLP, bond counsel, of certain provisions of
the Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002 (the “Agreement”), pertaining to the Bonds and the
Project. This summary does not purport to be complete, and reference is made to the Agreement for full and
complete statements of such and all provisions.

The Agreement provides for the following transactions: (i) the Authority’s issuance of its Bonds; (ii) the
Authority’s loan of the proceeds of the Bonds to the Institution to finance and refinance the Project; (iii) the
Institution’s repayment of the loan from the Authority through payment to the Trustee of all amounts necessary to
pay the Bonds; and (iv) the Authority’s assignment to the Trustee in trust for the benefit and security of the
Bondowners and the Bank of the Authority’s rights with respect to the loan to the Institution under the Agreement,
including repayment of the loan to be received from the Institution.

Establishment of Funds

The Agreement creates five funds to be held by the Trustee: the Bond Fund, the Construction Fund, the
Expense Fund, the Credit Facility Fund and the Rebate Fund. (Sections 304, 305, 306, 308 and 401)

Bond Fund

The Bond Fund is established under the Agreement for the payment of debt service on the Bonds. While
the Bonds are in the Weekly or Monthly Mode, the Institution shall make payments to the Trustee for deposit in the
Bond Fund on the Business Day immediately preceding each Interest Payment Date in an amount equal to the
interest payment then coming due on such Bonds and not later than the last day of each month in an amount equal to
one-twelfth (1/12) of the principal next coming due on the Bonds (whether at maturity, upon redemption or
otherwise). At any time when any principal of the Bonds is overdue, the Institution shall also have a continuing
obligation to pay to the Trustee for deposit in the Bond Fund an amount equal to interest on the overdue principal
but the payments described under this heading shall not otherwise bear interest. Redemption premiums shall not
bear interest.

To the extent permitted by law, the obligation of the Institution to make payments to the Authority, the
Paying Agent and the Trustee under the Agreement shall be absolute and unconditional, shall be binding and
enforceable in all circumstances whatsoever, shall not be subject to setoff, recoupment or counterclaim, and shall be
a general obligation of the Institution to which the full faith and credit of the Institution are pledged. (Sections 304,
308 and 309)

Construction Fund

Moneys and any investments held as part of the Construction Fund shall be held in trust and, except as
otherwise provided by the Agreement, shall be applied by the Authority solely to the payment or reimbursement of
Project Costs. The Institution grants to the Authority for the benefit of the Bondholders and the Bank a security
interest in the Construction Fund.

If there is an Event of Default known to the Authority with respect to payments to the Rebate Fund, Bond
Fund or to the Authority, the Paying Agent or the Trustee, the Authority may use the Construction Fund without
requisition to make up the deficiency, and the Institution shall restore the funds so used. The Institution and the
Bank may enter into one or more separate agreements (collectively, the “Disbursement Agreement”) which will set
forth the conditions under which the Bank will approve requisitions from the Construction Fund. (Section 401)

Expense Fund

Moneys in the Expense Fund shall be applied by the Authority to the payment or reimbursement of the
costs of issuing the Bonds, including the reasonable fees and expenses of financial consultants and Bond Counsel,
reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee incurred prior to the completion of the Project in accordance with the
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Agreement, any recording or similar fees and any expenses of the Institution in connection with the issuance of the
Bonds which are approved by the Authority. After all costs of issuing the Bonds have been paid, any amounts
remaining in the Expense Fund shall be transferred to the Construction Fund. To the extent the Expense Fund is
insufficient to pay any of the above costs, the Institution shall be liable for the deficiency and shall pay such
deficiency as directed by the Authority. (Section 306)

Rebate Fund

Moneys in the Rebate Fund shall be applied by the Trustee to the payment when due of any rebate due to
the United States under IRC § 148(f) and the regulations promulgated thereunder. (Section 305)

Application of Moneys

If, in addition to moneys drawn on the Credit Facility (if any), available moneys in the Bond Fund are not
sufficient on any day to pay all principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Outstanding Bonds then due or
overdue, such moneys shall, after payment of all amounts owing to the Trustee and the Authority under the
Agreement, be applied first to the payment of interest, including interest on overdue principal, in the order in which
the same became due (pro rata with respect to interest which became due at the same time) and second to the
payment of principal and premium, if any, without regard to the order in which the same became due in each case
pro rata among Bondowners; provided, however, that amounts drawn on the Credit Facility (if any) shall be applied
exclusively to pay interest and principal on Bonds in accordance with the Credit Facility. If the owners of any
Bonds have received all payments of principal and interest that have become due and payable from a draw on the
Credit Facility, the Bank shall be treated as the owner of such Bonds for purposes of applying this paragraph.
Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to this paragraph, such moneys shall be applied at such times, and
from time to time, as the Trustee in its discretion shall determine, having due regard to the amount of such moneys
becoming available for such application and the likelihood of additional moneys becoming available for such
application in the future. Whenever the Trustee shall exercise such discretion it shall fix the date (which shall be the
first day of a month unless the Trustee shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be
made, and upon such date interest on the amounts of principal paid on such date shall cease to accrue. Whenever
overdue interest is to be paid on the Bonds, the Trustee may establish a special record date as provided in the forms
of Bonds. The Trustee shall give such notice as provided in the applicable form of the Bonds and as it may deem
appropriate of the fixing of any such date and special record date. When interest or a portion of the principal is to be
paid on an overdue Bond, the Trustee may require presentation of the Bond for endorsement of the payment.
(Section 307)

Substitute Credit Facility

Upon satisfaction of the requirements described below and subject to the succeeding paragraph, the
Institution may (except during the period between the giving of notice of mandatory tender for purchase on account
of the expiration of the Credit Facility and the Purchase Date) replace a Credit Facility then in effect with a
substitute Credit Facility; provided, however, that (1) the Credit Facility being replaced shall in no event be
terminated or released until the Institution has given not less than forty-five (45) days’ written notice to the Trustee
and the Remarketing Agent, and the Trustee has received the proceeds of all outstanding drawings on the Credit
Facility being replaced; (2) the Trustee has given not less than thirty (30) days’ written notice of the termination or
release of the Credit Facility to owners of the Bonds and the identity of the provider of the substitute Credit Facility
to owners of such Bonds; and (3) the provider of the substitute Credit Facility purchases all Outstanding Pledged
Bonds, at par plus accrued interest at the Bank Rate, on the effective date of the substitute Credit Facility. The
extension of an existing Credit Facility shall not constitute a substitute Credit Facility.

Prior to the replacement of any Credit Facility the Institution shall have delivered to the Trustee: (i) an
opinion of counsel for the issuer of the substitute Credit Facility to the effect that it constitutes a legal, valid and
binding obligation of the issuer enforceable in accordance with its terms (subject to customary exceptions); (ii) an
opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the issuance of a substitute Credit Facility will not adversely affect the
exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes; (iii) a certificate of the Bank
that all amounts due under the Reimbursement Agreement have been paid and that the Institution has fulfilled all its
obligations arising out of the Reimbursement Agreement and (iv) evidence of the rating of the Bonds with the
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substitute Credit Facility by S&P. Notice of the substitution, replacement, termination or extension of a substitute
Credit Facility shall be sent by the Trustee to S&P, if S&P is then rating the Bonds.

Each Credit Facility must: (i) be an irrevocable, unconditional obligation of a financial institution; (ii) be on
terms no less favorable to the Trustee than the Letter of Credit and entitle the Trustee to draw upon or demand
payment and receive in immediately available funds an amount equal to the sum of the principal amount of the
Bonds supported by the Credit Facility and not less than forty-five (45) days’ accrued interest at the Maximum
Interest Rate on the principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding in the Weekly or Monthly Mode or two hundred
ten (210) days’ accrued interest (or such lesser or greater number of days as may be required by any rating agency
rating the Bonds in the Multiannual or Fixed Rate Mode) at the actual Multiannual or Fixed Rate on the principal
amount of Bonds then Outstanding in the Multiannual or Fixed Rate Mode, as the case may be; and (iii) provide for
a term which may not expire in less than one year and which may not expire or be terminated prior to the fifth
Business Day after the mandatory tender for purchase as provided in the Agreement. The Institution shall not enter
into any Reimbursement Agreement or agree to any amendment of a Reimbursement Agreement which in any way
limits the obligation of the Bank to provide funds under the Credit Facility without the prior written consent of the
owners of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding and entitled to the benefit thereof. (Section 316)

Remarketing of Bonds Tendered

While the Bonds are in the Weekly, Monthly or Multiannual Mode, the Remarketing Agent shall solicit
offers to purchase and use its best efforts to find a purchaser for Tendered Bonds, Pledged Bonds and Institution
Bonds, provided that bonds shall not be remarketed to the Authority, the Institution, the Bank, any guarantor of the
Bonds or “insiders” of any of them as that term is defined in the United States Bankruptcy Code. On the Purchase
Date, Bonds remarketed under the Agreement shall be made available by the Trustee to the purchasers thereof and
shall be registered in the manner directed by the recipient thereof, provided that such bonds shall not be delivered
unless and until the Trustee has received the Purchase Price therefor. Bonds not remarketed shall be held by the
Trustee. Bonds previously purchased with moneys drawn under the Credit Facility shall not be delivered upon
remarketing unless the Credit Facility has been reinstated as provided in the Agreement (unless the Credit Facility
provides for automatic reinstatement upon remarketing). (Section 312)

Payment for Purchase of Bonds

The Agreement provides that the Trustee shall draw upon the Credit Facility the amount necessary to
purchase the Tendered Bonds for which the Remarketing Agent has not received the Purchase Price. If the
Remarketing Agent does not deliver to the Trustee proceeds of remarketing sufficient, together with amounts
received from draws under the Credit Facility, to pay in full the Purchase Price of all Bonds due on the Purchase
Date, no purchase shall be consummated. (Section 311)

Covenants of the Institution

In the Agreement, the Institution covenants, among other things:

(a) the Institution will not take or omit to take any action if such action or omission (i) would cause the
Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” under Section 148 of the IRC, (ii) would cause the Bonds to not meet any of the
requirements of Section 147 or 149 of the IRC, or (iii) cause the Bonds to cease to be “qualified 501(c)(3) bonds”
under Section 145 of the IRC;

(b) in the acquisition, construction, maintenance, improvement and operation of the Project, the Institution
has complied and will comply in all material respects with all applicable building, zoning, land use, environmental
protection, historical, sanitary and safety laws, rules and regulations and will not permit any nuisance thereon,
except that failure to comply with any law, rule, requirement or regulation shall not be a breach of this covenant so
long as the Institution is diligently and in good faith contesting the validity thereof;

(c) the Institution will make timely payment of all taxes and assessments and other municipal or
governmental charges which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien on the Project or any part thereof; but it shall
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not be a breach of this covenant if the Institution fails to pay any such item during any period in which the
Institution is diligently and in good faith contesting the validity thereof; and

(d) the Institution agrees that the Project shall be used only for the purposes described in the Act.
(Sections 402, 403 and 902)

Events of Default

“Event of Default” in the Agreement means any one of the events set forth below and “Default” means any
Event of Default without regard to any lapse of time or notice:

(a) Any principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any Bond shall not be paid when due, whether at
maturity, by acceleration, upon redemption or otherwise or any Purchase Price for Bonds shall not be paid as
provided in the Agreement.

(b) The Institution shall fail to observe or perform any of its other covenants or agreements contained
in the Agreement and such failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice given to the
Institution by the Trustee or the Bondowners of at least 25% in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding.

(c) The occurrence of certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency of the Institution.

(d) While the Bonds are supported by a Credit Facility, the Trustee shall have received written notice
from the Bank of the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Reimbursement Agreement.

(e) The Trustee shall receive written notice from the Bank within ten (10) days after a drawing under
the Credit Facility to pay interest on the Bonds that the Bank has not reinstated the amount so drawn, and such non-
reinstatement causes the total amount of the obligation of the Bank under the Credit Facility to be less than the
principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds (other than Pledged Bonds or Institution Bonds), plus applicable
redemption premium, if any, and accrued interest for a period of forty-five (45) days at the Maximum Interest Rate
with respect to the principal amount of such Bonds then Outstanding in the Weekly or Monthly Mode or, if
applicable, two hundred ten (210) days (or such lesser or greater number of days as may be required by any rating
agency then rating the Bonds in the Multiannual or Fixed Rate Mode) at the Multiannual or Fixed Rate if the Bonds
are in the Multiannual or Fixed Rate Mode, respectively.

At any time before an acceleration of Bonds, the Trustee may waive a Default under clause (b) above, and
annul its consequences by written notice to the Institution, and in the absence of inconsistent instructions from
Bondowners pursuant to the Agreement shall do so upon written instruction of the Bank or the owners of at least
twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of such Bonds Outstanding with the written consent of the Bank.
(Section 501)

Remedies for Events of Default

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the following remedies are provided for in the Agreement:

(a) Acceleration.

(i) Bonds Supported by a Credit Facility. If the Event of Default is one described in clause (d) or (e) under
the heading “Events of Default,” the principal of the Bonds that are supported by the Credit Facility and
Pledged Bonds and accrued interest thereon shall automatically become immediately due and payable
without any further notice or action. So long as a Credit Facility is in effect and the Bank has neither failed
to honor a properly presented and conforming drawing thereunder nor given notice of non-reinstatement as
described in the Agreement, no acceleration shall be declared by reason of an Event of Default described in
clause (a), (b), or (c) under the heading “Events of Default” without the prior written consent of the Bank.
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(ii) Bonds Not Supported by a Credit Facility. If the Event of Default is one described in clause
(a), (b) or (c) under the heading “Events of Default,” the Trustee may, and upon the written request of the
Bondowners of at least 25% in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding (other than Pledged Bonds) that
are not supported by a Credit Facility shall, by written notice to the Institution, the Authority, the Paying
Agent, and the Remarketing Agent declare immediately due and payable the principal of such Outstanding
Bonds (other than Pledged Bonds) and Institution Bonds and the accrued interest thereon, whereupon the
same shall become immediately due and payable without any further action or notice. Subject to the
Agreement, if at any time after such acceleration and before any judgment or decree for the payment of
moneys with respect thereto has been entered all amounts payable to the Authority and the Trustee under
the Agreement and on Bonds subject to acceleration as described under this clause (a)(ii) (except principal
of and interest on the Bonds which are due solely by reason of such acceleration) shall have been paid or
provided for by deposit with the Trustee and all existing Defaults shall have been cured or waived, then the
Bondowners representing a majority in principal amount of the Bonds subject to acceleration as described
under this clause (a)(ii) may annul such acceleration and its consequences by written notice to the
Authority, the Trustee and the Institution. Such annulment shall be binding upon the Authority, the Trustee
and all of the Bondowners, but no such annulment shall extend to or affect any subsequent Default or
impair any right or remedy consequent thereto.

(b) Rights as a Secured Party. Subject to the Agreement, the Trustee may exercise all of the rights and
remedies of a secured party under the UCC. Notice sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or
delivered during business hours, to the Institution at least ten (10) days before an event under UCC Section 9-612 or
any successor provision of law shall constitute reasonable notification of such event. (Section 502)

Court Proceedings

Subject to the provisions described under “Rights of the Bank” below, the Trustee may enforce the
provisions of the Agreement by appropriate legal proceedings for the specific performance of any covenant,
obligation or agreement contained in the Agreement whether or not a Default or an Event of Default exists, or for
the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable remedy, and may recover damages caused by any breach
by the Institution of the provisions of the Agreement, including (to the extent the Agreement may lawfully provide)
court costs, reasonable attorney’s fees and other costs and expenses incurred in enforcing the obligations of the
Institution under the Agreement. The Authority may likewise enforce obligations owed to it under the Agreement
which it has not assigned to the Trustee. All rights under the Agreement and the Bonds may be enforced by the
Trustee without the possession of any Bonds or the production thereof at the trial or other proceedings relative
thereto, and any proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its name for the ratable benefit of the
Bondowners. (Section 503)

Revenues after Default

After the occurrence of an Event of Default, any funds pledged as security under the Agreement and any
other moneys received by the Trustee (other than amounts irrevocably set aside to pay particular Bonds) shall be
applied to amounts due under the Agreement (without regard to any grace periods), which amounts shall be applied
in the order specified in the Agreement. (Section 504)

The Credit Facility; Acceleration

Upon declaration of acceleration of the Bonds prior to expiration of the Credit Facility, the Trustee shall
draw immediately on the Credit Facility in an amount equal to the aggregate unpaid principal of and interest on the
Bonds supported by the Credit Facility to the date of declaration of acceleration for Bonds on which date interest
shall cease to accrue. Upon receipt of payment of such a draw, the Trustee shall immediately pay therefrom to the
owners of the Bonds (other than Pledged Bonds and Institution Bonds) the principal and accrued interest due. The
Trustee shall not require indemnification for any draw required as described under this heading except and unless
such instruction is prohibited by or violates applicable law or any outstanding or pending court or governmental
order or decree. (Section 505)
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Rights of Bondowners

Subject to the provisions described under “Rights of the Bank” below, if an Event of Default occurs and is
continuing, and if the Bondowners representing not less than 25% in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding
shall have requested the Trustee in writing to exercise one or more of the rights and remedies provided under the
Agreement and offered indemnity reasonably acceptable to the Trustee as provided in the Agreement, the Trustee
shall be required to exercise such one or more of the rights and remedies under the Agreement as the Trustee shall
determine to be in the best interest of the Bondowners and not inconsistent with any directions given in accordance
with the Agreement. No Bondowner shall have any right to institute an action in law or equity or to pursue any
other remedy under the Agreement with respect to any Bond unless (i) an Event of Default of which the Trustee has
been notified has occurred and Bondowners representing not less than 25% in principal amount of the Bonds
Outstanding shall have requested the Trustee in writing to exercise its rights and remedies with respect thereto and
shall have offered the Trustee reasonable opportunity to do so and indemnity as provided in the Agreement, and (ii)
the Trustee shall within a reasonable time thereafter fail to exercise any of such rights or remedies. No Bondowner
shall have any right to institute any action or pursue any other remedy if and to the extent that the surrender,
impairment, waiver, or loss of the lien of the Agreement would, under applicable law, result. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, each Bondowner shall have a right of action to enforce payment of the Bonds at and after the due dates
thereof at the place, from the sources and in the manner expressed in the Bonds. For purposes of the provisions
described under this heading, so long as the Bank has not failed to honor a properly presented and conforming draw
under the Credit Facility, the Bank issuing such Credit Facility shall be treated as owner of such Bonds. (Section
506)

Performance of Institution’s Obligations

Unless otherwise provided in the Reimbursement Agreement, if the Institution shall fail to observe or
perform any of its agreements or obligations under the Agreement, the Authority or the Trustee may perform the
same in its own name or in the Institution’s name and each is irrevocably appointed the Institution’s attorney-in-fact
for such purpose. Unless an Event of Default exists, the Authority or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall give at
least five (5) days’ written notice to the Institution before taking action as described under this heading, except that
in case of emergency as reasonably determined by the acting party, it may act on lesser notice or give the notice
promptly after rather than before taking the action. The reasonable cost of any such action performed by the Trustee
or the Authority shall be paid or reimbursed by the Institution within thirty (30) days after the Trustee or the
Authority notifies the Institution of such cost. (Section 507)

Subrogation Rights of Bank

So long as no Act of Bankruptcy of the Bank exists, in the event that (i) an Event of Default shall occur and
be continuing under the Agreement while the Bonds are in the Weekly or Monthly Mode, or (ii) the Trustee shall
draw under the Credit Facility in connection with the payment of principal or Purchase Price of, premium, if any, or
interest on the Bonds (other than Institution Bonds or Pledged Bonds), and in either such case the Bank shall have
provided the Trustee with funds pursuant to the Credit Facility for the payment of the principal or Purchase Price of,
premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds (other than Institution Bonds or Pledged Bonds), then, in any such event,
the Bank shall be subrogated to all rights theretofore possessed under the Agreement by the Trustee and the
Bondowners in respect of which such principal or Purchase Price of, premium, if any, and interest shall have been
paid with funds provided by the Bank (to the extent such funds provided by the Bank pursuant to the Credit Facility
shall not have been reimbursed to the Bank). After the payment of any such Outstanding Bonds owned by the
Bondowners other than the Bank, any reference in the Agreement to the holders of such Bonds or such Bondowners
shall mean the Bank to the extent of its subrogation rights resulting from the payments made pursuant to the Credit
Facility. Notwithstanding any provision contained in the Agreement to the contrary, under no circumstances shall
the Authority’s rights or the Trustee’s rights relating to the Trustee as opposed to rights for the benefit of
Bondowners reserved in the Agreement, including without limitation the right of indemnification or the Authority’s
right or the Trustee’s right to enforce the same, be subrogated to the Bank. (Section 509)
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Rights of the Bank

All consents, approvals and requests required of the Bank shall be deemed not required if the Bank has
failed to fulfill its obligations to make payments under the Credit Facility in accordance with the terms thereof, or an
Act of Bankruptcy of the Bank has occurred and is continuing. Subject to the immediately preceding sentence, but
notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, in the event that all Outstanding Bonds (other than Institution
Bonds and Pledged Bonds) are secured by the Bank pursuant to the Credit Facility, the exercise of direction of all
remedies granted under the Agreement (other than acceleration of the Bonds upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default described in clauses (d) or (e) under the heading “Events of Default”) and the granting of any waivers as
described under the heading “Events of Default” shall be subject solely to the direction and prior written consent of
the Bank. Further, the Trustee, in its exercise of its rights for the benefit of Bondowners under the Agreement and
the rights of the Authority assigned under the Agreement (but not including the rights of the Trustee or the Authority
under the Agreement for its own benefit including, but not limited to, indemnification and any fees and expenses
owed to it), in the event that all Outstanding bonds are Pledged Bonds, shall be subject to the direction of the Bank.
In the event that less than all Outstanding Bonds are secured by the Bank pursuant to the Credit Facility, the Bank
shall be treated as the owner of all Pledged Bonds for purposes of giving directions, consents, waivers or other
actions. In no event shall the Bonds be accelerated without the prior written consent of the Bank so long as the
Credit Facility is in full force and effect and the Bank has neither defaulted thereunder by failing to honor a draft
submitted under the Credit Facility in strict conformity therewith nor given the notice of non-reinstatement
described in clause (e) under the heading “Events of Default.” (Section 510)

Amendments

The Agreement may be amended without the consent of the owners of the Bonds, in order to (i) cure any
ambiguity, defect or omission in the Agreement that does not materially adversely affect the interests of the
Bondowners, (ii) grant additional rights or security to the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondowners, (iii) add
additional Events of Default as shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of the Agreement and which shall not
materially adversely affect the interests of the Bondowners, (iv) qualify the Agreement under the Trust Indenture
Act of 1939, as amended, or corresponding provisions of federal laws from time to time in effect, (v) effective upon
any Conversion Date, make any amendment affecting the Bonds being converted, (vi) make such other provisions in
regard to matters or questions arising under the Agreement as shall not materially adversely affect the interests of
the Bondowners, or (vii) effect the delivery of a substitute Credit Facility. The Agreement may otherwise be
amended only with the consent of the owners of more than 50% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds
Outstanding; provided, that no amendment shall be made which adversely affects the rights of some but less than all
the Bonds Outstanding without the consent of the owners of more than 50% in aggregate principal amount of the
Bonds so affected; and provided further, that no amendment of the Agreement shall be effective to (i) change the
principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any Bonds, (ii) change the interest payment dates, maturity dates or
purchase or redemption provisions of any Bonds, (iii) reduce the percentage of Bondowners whose consent is
required for the amendment of the Agreement or (iv) modify the lien upon or pledge of the payments and other
revenues assigned and pledged under the Agreement (including any Credit Facility), without the consent, in each
case, of the owner of each Bond which would be affected by the action proposed to be taken. When the Trustee
determines that the requisite number of consents have been obtained for an amendment which requires Bondowner
consents, it shall, within ninety (90) days, file a certificate to that effect in its records and mail notice to the
Bondowners. No action or proceeding to invalidate the amendment shall be instituted or maintained unless it is
commenced within sixty (60) days after such mailing. A consent to an amendment may be revoked by a notice
given by the Bondowner and received by the Trustee prior to the Trustee’s certification that the requisite consents
have been obtained.

So long as a Credit Facility supports the Bonds or any obligations remain owing to the Bank under the
Reimbursement Agreement, no amendment to the Agreement shall be made without the prior written consent of the
Bank. (Section 1001)
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Indemnification; Limits of Responsibility; Replacement of the Trustee

The Agreement sets forth certain immunities and limitations of the responsibilities of the Authority and the
Trustee and provides for indemnification of the Authority and the Trustee against claims relating to the Agreement
or the Project.

The Trustee may resign on not less than 30 days’ notice given in writing to the Authority, the Bondowners,
the Bank and the Institution, but such resignation shall not take effect until a successor has been appointed and has
assumed the duties of the Trustee set forth in the Agreement. The Trustee may be removed (i) by written notice
from the owners of a majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds to the Trustee, the Authority and the
Institution; or (ii) so long as no Default exists under the Agreement, by the Institution with the consent of the
Authority in its sole discretion. (Sections 602, 604 and 702)

Defeasance

When there are in the Credit Facility Fund and/or the Bond Fund sufficient funds, or, in the case of the
Bond Fund, non-callable and non-prepayable Government Obligations in such principal amounts, bearing interest at
such rates and with such maturities (including, with respect to any Bonds in the Weekly or Monthly Mode,
maturities no greater than the lesser of seven (7) days or the next Effective Date, respectively, to fund the payment
of the Purchase Price) as will provide, without reinvestment, sufficient funds to pay the Purchase Price or principal
of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds in full as and when such amounts become due, and when all the rights
under the Agreement of the Authority, the Bank and the Trustee have been provided for, (1) the Bondowners will
cease to be entitled to any right, benefit or security under the Agreement except the right to receive payment of the
funds deposited and held for payment and other rights set forth below or which rights by their nature cannot be
satisfied prior to or simultaneously with termination of the lien of the Agreement, (2) the security interests created
by the Agreement (except in such funds and investments) shall terminate, (3) the Bonds shall be deemed paid, and
(4) the Authority and the Trustee shall execute and deliver such instruments as may be necessary to discharge the
lien and security interests created under the Agreement; provided, however, that (a) with respect to any Bonds that
are supported by a Credit Facility, all such funds and obligations in the Bond Fund shall be Eligible Funds, (b) if any
such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, such Bonds shall have been duly called for redemption
or irrevocable instructions for such a call shall have been given to the Trustee and (c) if the Bonds bear interest at
the Weekly Rate or Monthly Rate, and the Bonds are not to be redeemed or paid on the date of such deposit, the
Trustee shall have received written confirmation from S&P, if S&P is then rating the Bonds, that the proposed
defeasance will not in and of itself cause a reduction or withdrawal of the rating then in effect on the Bonds. Any
funds or property held by the Trustee for payment of the Bonds under this section and not required for such payment
shall (unless there is an Event of Default under the Agreement, in which case they shall be applied as provided in the
Agreement), after satisfaction of all the rights of the Authority, the Trustee and the Bank, and payment of the rebate,
if any, due to the United States under IRC §148(f), and upon such indemnification, if any, as the Authority or the
Trustee may reasonably require, be distributed to the Institution. If Bonds are not presented for final payment when
due and moneys are available in the hands of the Trustee therefor, the Trustee shall, without liability for interest
thereon, continue to hold the moneys held for that purpose subject to the Agreement, and interest shall cease to
accrue on the principal amount represented thereby.

When there are in the Bond Fund funds or securities as described in the preceding paragraph as are
sufficient to pay the Purchase Price, principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, some but not all of the Bonds in
full as and when such amounts become due and the other conditions in the preceding paragraph have been met with
respect to such Bonds, the particular Bonds (or portions thereof) for which such provision for payment shall have
been considered made shall be selected by lot by the Trustee (or, if the Bonds are in the Book-Entry Only System, in
such manner as DTC shall determine) and thereupon the Trustee and the Authority shall take similar action to
release the security interests created by the Agreement in respect of such Bonds (except in such funds or securities
and investments thereof), subject, however, to compliance with the applicable conditions set forth in the provisions
above.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, those provisions relating to the maturity of Bonds, interest payments and
dates thereof, the tender of Bonds for purchase and the Trustee’s remedies with respect thereto, and provisions
relating to exchange, transfer and registration of Bonds, replacement and cancellation of Bonds, the holding of
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moneys in trust and the duties of the Trustee in connection with all of the foregoing and the fees, expenses and
indemnities of the Trustee and the Authority and the Institution’s obligations described under the heading “Rebate
Fund,” shall remain in full force and effect and shall be binding upon the Trustee, the Authority, the Institution and
the Bondowners notwithstanding the release and discharge of the Agreement until the Bonds have been actually paid
in full. (Section 203)
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  APPENDIX E 

   

CERTAIN INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK 
 
General 
 

The following information concerning Citizens Bank of Massachusetts (the “Bank”) has 
been provided by representatives of the Bank and has not been independently certified or verified 
by the Issuer, the Borrower or the Underwriter.   
 

The Bank, a Massachusetts bank with origins dating to 1825, is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Citizens Financial Group, Inc. (“Citizens”), a Delaware corporation incorporated in 
1984.  In addition to the Bank, Citizens is the holding company for Citizens Bank of Rhode 
Island, a Rhode Island stock savings bank which was originally organized under the laws of 
Rhode Island in 1871, as well as banks in New Hampshire, Pennsylvania, Delaware and 
Connecticut.  Citizens is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. (“The 
Royal Bank”).  The Royal Bank acquired Citizens in 1988. 
 

The Letter of Credit is an obligation of the Bank and not of Citizens, The Royal Bank or 
any of their other subsidiaries. 
 

The Bank offers a complete range of banking services operating through 181 branches 
and offices in Massachusetts as “Citizens Bank”.  The Bank owns Citizens Leasing Corporation 
(“Citizens Leasing”), a Rhode Island corporation, primarily engaged in equipment lease 
financing.  Citizens Leasing owns loans, lease loans, and other assets.  The Bank’s loan portfolio 
is divided between commercial loans, including leases and commercial real estate loans, and 
consumer loans, including residential real estate mortgage loans. 
 

The Bank is subject to supervision and examination by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (the “FDIC”).  It is also subject to requirements and restrictions under federal and 
state law, including requirements to maintain reserves against deposits, restrictions on the types 
and amounts of loans that may be granted and the interest that may be charged thereon, and 
limitations on the types of investments that may be made and the types of services that may be 
offered.  Various consumer laws and regulations also affect the operations of Citizens’ subsidiary 
banks.   
 

Citizens is the largest bank holding company headquartered in Rhode Island in terms of 
both deposits and assets.  Citizens also operates subsidiaries engaged in banking-related business 
lines. In December 2001, Citizens purchased the retail, business banking and certain middle 
market units of Mellon Financial Corporation.  Citizens’ Pennsylvania subsidiary is now one of 
Pennsylvania’s largest banks.  In January 2000, Citizens purchased UST Corp. in Boston.  The 
UST Corp. transaction included its trust subsidiary, United States Trust Co., with more than $3.5 
billion under management for individual and institutional investors; and its newly acquired 
insurance brokerage, Brewer & Lord.   
 

Based on its Consolidated Financial Statement for Bank Holding Companies, Report for 
the quarter ended June 30, 2002, as of that date, Citizens had total assets of $55.5 billion, total 
deposits of $41.6 billion, total loans and leases before allowance for loan losses of $26.9 billion 
($26.5 billion net of allowance), and total equity capital of $6.1 billion.  Based on its Call Report 
for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, as of that date, the Bank had total assets of $19.4 billion, 
total deposits of $13.8 billion, total loans and leases before allowance for loan losses of $10.1 
billion ($9.9 billion net of allowance), and total equity capital of $2.6 billion. 
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Additional Information 
 

The foregoing summary information is provided for convenience purposes only.  
Important additional information with respect to Citizens and the Bank is contained in the 
publicly available portions of the Bank’s Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income for a 
Bank with Domestic and Foreign Offices - FFIEC 0-31, as submitted to the FDIC. 
 

The Bank hereby undertakes to provide, without charge to each person to whom a copy 
of this Official Statement has been delivered, on the written request of any such person, a copy of 
any and all of the publicly available portions of the document referred to above, other than 
exhibits to such document.  Written requests for such copies should be directed to Margaret 
Watkins, Vice President, Citizens Bank of Rhode Island, 20 Blackstone Valley Place, Lincoln, RI 
02865. 
 

Except as set forth in this appendix, neither the Bank nor its affiliates make any 
representations as to the contents of this Official Statement, the suitability of the Bonds for any 
investor, the feasibility or performance of any project or compliance with any securities or tax 
laws and regulations. 
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APPENDIX F 
 
 

PROPOSED FORM OF THE LETTER OF CREDIT 
 

   

IRREVOCABLE DIRECT PAY LETTER OF CREDIT NO. ___________ 
 
DATE OF ISSUE:  December 30, 2002 
 
Amount/Currency: 
Up to USD $35,431,507.00 
Up to Thirty-Five Million Four Hundred 
Thirty-One Thousand Five Hundred Seven and 
00/100 US Dollars 
 
Date and Place of Expiry: 
December 30, 2009 at the Issuing Bank 
(or, if not a Business Day, the next succeeding 
Business Day) 

 
BENEFICIARY: 
 
Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee under 
  Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of 
  November 12 , 2002 
c/o Chittenden Trust Company 
2 Burlington Square 
Burlington, VT  01532 
Attention:  Corporate Trust Dept. 
 
Dear Sirs: 

 At the request and for the account of our customer, Peabody Essex Museum, Inc., East 
India Square, 161 Essex Street, Salem, MA 01970 (the “Borrower”), we hereby establish in your 
favor, as Trustee under the below-defined Indenture pursuant to which $35,000,000.00 in 
aggregate principal amount of Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority 
Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Peabody Essex Museum Issue, Series 2002 (the 
“Bonds”) are being issued by Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the 
“Issuer”), this Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ in the amount of 
$35,431,507.00 (the “Stated Amount”), of which (1) $35,000,000.00 (as from time to time 
reduced or reinstated as provided in this Letter of Credit, the “Principal Component”) shall 
support the payment of the principal or portion of the purchase price corresponding to principal 
of the Bonds, and (2) $431,507.00 (as from time to time reduced or reinstated as provided in this 
Letter of Credit, the “Interest Component”) shall support the payment of up to 45 days’ interest 
on the Bonds or portion of the purchase price corresponding to interest at an assumed rate of 
10% per annum, effective immediately and expiring at 5:00 P.M. (Boston time) on the below-
defined Stated Termination Date or earlier as hereinafter provided.  Any payment pursuant to a 
drawing under this Letter of Credit will be made by us with our own funds, and not from any 
separate funds of the Issuer or the Borrower.  As used herein, the term “Indenture” will be 
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deemed to mean that certain Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002 among 
the Issuer, the Borrower and Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as trustee (the “Trustee”).  As 
used herein, the term “Stated Termination Date” means December 30, 2009 (or, if not a Business 
Day, the next succeeding Business Day). 

 
We hereby irrevocably authorize you to draw on us, in an aggregate amount not to 

exceed the amount of this Letter of Credit set forth above and in accordance with the terms and 
conditions and subject to the reductions in amount as hereinafter set forth, (1) in one drawing per 
month (subject to the provisions contained in the next following paragraph) by your draft (in the 
form of Annex A attached hereto), payable at sight on a Business Day, and accompanied by your 
written and completed certificate signed by you in the form of Annex B attached hereto (such 
draft accompanied by such certificate being your “Interest Drawing”), an amount not exceeding 
the Interest Component, representing 45 days’ interest on the Bonds, computed at an assumed 
rate of 10% per annum; (2) in one or more drawings by one or more of your drafts (in the form 
of Annex A attached hereto), payable at sight on a Business Day, and accompanied by your 
written and completed certificate signed by you in the form of Annex C attached hereto (any 
such draft accompanied by such certificate being your “Tender Drawing”), an aggregate amount 
not exceeding the sum of the Principal Component and the Interest Component; (3) in one or 
more drawings by one or more of your drafts (in the form of Annex A attached hereto), payable 
at sight on a Business Day, and accompanied by your written and completed certificate signed by 
you in the form of Annex D attached hereto (any such draft accompanied by such certificate 
being your “Partial Redemption Drawing”), an aggregate amount not exceeding the sum of the 
Principal Component and the Interest Component; and (4) in a single drawing by your draft (in 
the form of Annex A attached hereto), payable at sight on a Business Day, and accompanied by 
your written and completed certificate signed by you in the form of Annex E attached hereto 
(such draft accompanied by such certificate being your “Final Drawing”, and any Interest 
Drawing, Tender Drawing, Partial Redemption Drawing or Final Drawing referred to herein 
being a “Drawing”), an amount not exceeding the sum of the Principal Component and the 
Interest Component.  Each such Drawing shall cover principal of and/or interest on the Bonds.  
“Business Day” means any day (i) that is not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, (ii) on which 
banks are not required or authorized to close in Boston, MA, (iii) on which banking institutions 
in each of the cities in which the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee is located, the 
principal office of the Remarketing Agent (as defined in the Indenture) is located, our principal 
office (said office being, at this time, located in Boston, MA) is located and/or our office 
specified herein for draws hereunder is located are not required or authorized to remain closed 
and (iv) on which the New York Stock Exchange is not closed. 

 
If you shall draw on us by your Interest Drawing under clause (1) of the first sentence of 

the immediately preceding paragraph and you shall not have received from us within ten (10) 
calendar days from the date of such drawing a written notice to the effect that a default exists 
under our reimbursement agreement with the Borrower and that the Interest Component of this 
Letter of Credit will not be reinstated, your right to draw on us in a single drawing by your 
Interest Drawing under said clause (1) shall be automatically reinstated and, effective the 
eleventh (11th) calendar day from the date of such drawing, you shall again be authorized to 
draw on us by your Interest Drawing in accordance with said clause (1); provided, however, that 
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the Interest Component of this Letter of Credit shall be decreased as hereinafter provided in 
connection with amounts drawn pursuant to any Partial Redemption Drawings or Tender 
Drawings.  The automatic reinstatement of your right to draw on us by your Interest Drawing 
shall be applicable to successive drawings by your Interest Drawings under clause (1) of the first 
sentence of the immediately preceding paragraph so long as this Letter of Credit shall not have 
terminated as set forth below. 

 
Upon our honoring any Tender Drawing or Partial Redemption Drawing presented by 

you hereunder, (i) the Principal Component of this Letter of Credit and the amounts available to 
be drawn hereunder by you by any subsequent Drawing shall be automatically decreased by an 
amount equal to the portion of such Tender Drawing or Partial Redemption Drawing relating to 
principal of the Bonds, and (ii) the Interest Component of this Letter of Credit and the amounts 
available to be drawn hereunder by you with respect to interest on the Bonds by any subsequent 
Drawing shall be automatically decreased by an amount equal to the portion of the Interest 
Component relating to Bonds purchased or redeemed with the proceeds of such Tender Drawing 
or Partial Redemption Drawing, but shall automatically reinstate as follows: 

 
 (A)  with respect to any decrease upon payment of any Tender Drawing, the 
amount of the Principal Component of this Letter of Credit and the portion of the Interest 
Component relating thereto shall be increased when and to the extent, but only when and 
to the extent, that we are reimbursed by or on behalf of the Borrower for any amount 
drawn hereunder by any Tender Drawing in respect of principal.  Any amount received 
by us from or on behalf of the Borrower in reimbursement of amounts drawn hereunder 
by any Tender Drawing in respect of principal shall, if accompanied by your completed 
certificate signed by you in the form of Annex F attached hereto, be applied to the extent 
of the amount indicated therein to reimburse us for amounts drawn hereunder by your 
Tender Drawing; and 
 
 (B)  with respect to any decrease upon payment of any Partial Redemption 
Drawing or upon any Final Drawing, neither the amount of the Principal Component 
relating thereto nor the related Interest Component shall be reinstated. 
 
Funds from us under this Letter of Credit are available to you against presentation of 

your Interest Drawing, your Tender Drawing, your Partial Redemption Drawing and your Final 
Drawing.  Each sight draft drawn under this Letter of Credit must bear on its face the clause 
“Drawn under Citizens Bank of Massachusetts Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit 
No. _________.”  Each Drawing shall be presented to us at the following address:  Citizens 
Bank of Massachusetts, International Division, 20 Cabot Road, Mail Stop: MMF470, Medford, 
MA 02155.  A Drawing shall be deemed to have been presented on the date actually received by 
us.  Presentation will also be deemed made upon our receipt of your telecopier transmission to us 
(at Fax No. (781) 391-8701) of a facsimile of the appropriate sight draft and drawing certificate 
properly completed and signed, together with (i) your undertaking to send to us by nationally 
recognized overnight courier, for receipt on the next following Business Day, the signed 
originals of such documents and (ii) your telephonic advice to us (at (781) 655-4238 or such 
other number as we shall specify to you) of your sending of the above-described telecopier 
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transmission.  Presentation may not be made in any manner other than as provided in this 
paragraph.  If we receive any of your Drawings (other than a Tender Drawing) at our aforesaid 
office, all in strict conformity with the terms and conditions of this Letter of Credit, not later than 
10:00 A.M. (Boston time) on a Business Day (provided that this Letter of Credit has not then 
terminated), we will cause payment of same by 2:00 P.M. (Boston time) on the next following 
Business Day in accordance with your payment instructions.  If we receive any of your Drawings 
(other than a Tender Drawing) at such office, all in strict conformity with the terms and 
conditions of this Letter of Credit, after 10:00 A.M. (Boston time) on a Business Day (provided 
that this Letter of Credit has not then terminated), we will cause payment of same by 12:00 noon 
(Boston time) on the second succeeding Business Day in accordance with your payment 
instructions.  If we receive any Tender Drawing at our aforesaid office, all in strict conformity 
with the terms and conditions of this Letter of Credit, not later than 10:00 A.M. (Boston time) on 
any Business Day (provided that this Letter of Credit has not then terminated), we will cause 
payment of same by 2:00 P.M. (Boston time) on the same Business Day in accordance with your 
payment instructions.  A Tender Drawing so received after 10:00 A.M. (Boston time) on any 
Business Day will be deemed, for the purposes of this paragraph and the next following 
paragraph, to have been received on the succeeding Business Day.  If requested by you, payment 
under this Letter of Credit may be made by wire transfer of Federal Reserve Bank funds to your 
account in a bank on the Federal Reserve wire system or by deposit of same day funds into a 
designated account that you maintain with us.  As used in this Letter of Credit “cause payment” 
shall mean (i) the deposit of same day funds into a designated account with us, if such deposit is 
requested; or (ii) if wire transfer is requested, the entry of an appropriate wire transfer in the 
Federal Reserve wire system and the obtaining of a Federal Reserve reference number. 

 
Upon the earliest of (i) our honoring your Final Drawing presented hereunder 

accompanied by this Letter of Credit, (ii) 5:00 p.m. (Boston time) on the date on which we 
receive a certificate signed by you accompanied by this Letter of Credit stating that the Borrower 
has provided and you have accepted a substitute or replacement “Credit Facility” (as defined in 
the Indenture) in accordance with the terms of the Indenture that is effective the date of such 
certificate, (iii) 5:00 p.m. (Boston time) on the date on which we receive a certificate signed by 
you accompanied by this Letter of Credit stating that a Fixed Rate Conversion Date (as defined 
in the Indenture) has occurred pursuant to the Indenture or that a Multiannual Rate (as defined in 
the Indenture) has become effective under the Indenture with respect to any Bonds, or (iv) the 
Stated Termination Date, this Letter of Credit shall terminate. 

 
This Letter of Credit is transferable in its entirety (but not in part) to any transferee whom 

you certify to us has succeeded you as Trustee under the Indenture, and may be successively 
transferred.  Transfer of the available balance under this Letter of Credit to such transferee shall 
be effected by the presentation to us of this Letter of Credit accompanied by a certificate in the 
form of Annex G attached hereto.  Upon such presentation, we shall forthwith transfer the same 
to your transferee.  A transfer fee is payable to us as set forth in our reimbursement agreement 
with the Borrower. 

 
This Letter of Credit sets forth in full our undertaking, and such undertaking shall not in 

any way be modified, amended, amplified or limited by reference to any document, instrument 
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or agreement referred to herein (including, without limitation, the Bonds), except only the 
Drawings referred to herein, which are hereby incorporated by reference; and any such reference 
shall not be deemed to incorporate herein by reference any document, instrument or agreement 
except for such Drawings. 

 
Only you (or a transferee permitted by the terms of this Letter of Credit) may make 

drawings under this Letter of Credit.  Upon the payment to you or to your account of the amount 
specified in a sight draft drawn hereunder, we shall be fully discharged on our obligation under 
this Letter of Credit with respect to such draft, and we shall not thereafter be obligated to make 
any further payments under this Letter of Credit in respect of such draft to you or to any other 
person who may have made to you or who makes to you a demand for payment of principal of, 
or interest on, any Bond. 

 
To the extent consistent with the express provisions hereof, this Letter of Credit shall be 

governed by the laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, except to the extent such laws 
are inconsistent with the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits (1993 
Revision), International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 500 (the “UCP”) in which event 
the UCP shall govern except as modified hereby (including, without limitation, the provisions on 
transferability). 

 
Communications with respect to this Letter of Credit shall be in writing and shall be 

addressed to us at Citizens Bank of Massachusetts, International Division, 20 Cabot Road, Mail 
Stop: MMF470, Medford, MA 02155, and shall specifically refer to the number of this Letter of 
Credit. 
 
 Very truly yours, 
 

CITIZENS BANK OF MASSACHUSETTS 
 
 
By:____________________________________ 

Authorized Signature 
 
 

By:____________________________________ 
Authorized Signature 
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Annex A 
 

[Form of Sight Draft] 
 

DRAWN UNDER CITIZENS BANK OF MASSACHUSETTS 
IRREVOCABLE DIRECT PAY 

LETTER OF CREDIT NO. _________ 
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED 
 
Pay on Demand to 
 
_________________________, as trustee 
 
(U.S. $_________________) 
 
Charge to account of Citizens Bank of Massachusetts 
 
 Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ dated December 30, 2002 
 
TO: Citizens Bank of Massachusetts 
 International Division  
 20 Cabot Road 
 Mail Stop:  MMF470 
 Medford, MA  02155 
 
      ___________________, as Trustee 
 
      By:_________________________ 
            Authorized Officer 
 
 The signature below constitutes an endorsement of this sight draft. 
 
      ___________________, as Trustee 
 
      By:_________________________ 
            Authorized Officer 
 
Dated:_________________ 

 
 
 

[Insert payment instructions.] 
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Annex B 
 

[Form of Certificate for Interest Drawing] 
 

“CERTIFICATE FOR DRAWING IN CONNECTION WITH THE PAYMENT 
OF UP TO 45 DAYS’ INTEREST 

 
Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ 

 
The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of the undersigned Trustee (the ‘Trustee’), 

hereby certifies to Citizens Bank of Massachusetts (the ‘Bank’), with reference to Irrevocable 
Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ (the ‘Letter of Credit’; the terms defined therein and 
not otherwise defined herein being used herein as therein defined) issued by the Bank in favor of 
the Trustee, as follows: 

 
(1)  The Trustee is the Trustee under the Indenture. 
 
(2)  The Trustee is making a drawing under the Letter of Credit with respect to a 
payment of interest on Bonds, which payment is due and payable or which will become 
due and payable on the date specified as follows:  [date].  As of the record date for such 
interest payment, none of such Bonds to which this drawing relates were Institution 
Bonds or Pledged Bonds, as those terms are defined in the Indenture. 
 
(3)  [The Interest Drawing of which this Certificate is a part is the first Interest 
Drawing presented by the Trustee under the Letter of Credit, and covers interest on the 
Bonds accruing on and after December 30, 2002.]*  OR  [Not less than 10 days has 
elapsed since the Interest Drawing last presented by the Trustee under the Letter of Credit 
was honored and paid by the Bank and the Trustee has not received within ten days after 
payment of such Interest Drawing a notice from the Bank that a default exists under the 
reimbursement agreement between the Borrower and the Bank.]**  
 
(4)  The amount of the Interest Drawing of which this Certificate is a part is 
$_____________.  Said amount was computed in compliance with the terms and 
conditions of the Bonds and the Indenture and does not exceed the amount available to be 
drawn by the Trustee as the Interest Component under the Letter of Credit. 
 
(5)  Upon receipt by the undersigned of the amount demanded hereby, (a) the 
undersigned will apply the same directly to the payment when due of the interest amount 
owing on account of the Bonds on an interest payment date, (b) no portion of said amount 

                         

 *  To be used in the Certificate relating to the first Interest Drawing only. 
**  To be used in each Certificate relating to each Interest Drawing other than the first Interest  
      Drawing. 
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shall be applied by the undersigned for any other purpose, and (c) no portion of said 
amount shall be commingled with other funds held by the undersigned. 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Trustee has executed and delivered this Certificate as of 
the     day of     , 20__. 
 
       [                               ] 
 
       as Trustee 
 
 

By:________________________________” 
Name: 
Title:      
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Annex C 
 

[Form of Certificate for Tender Drawing] 
 

“CERTIFICATE FOR DRAWING IN CONNECTION WITH THE PAYMENT OF 
THE PURCHASE PRICE OF BONDS TENDERED AT THE OPTION OF 

THE HOLDERS THEREOF OR PURSUANT TO MANDATORY TENDER 
 

Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ 
 
 

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of the undersigned Trustee (the ‘Trustee’), 
hereby certifies to Citizens Bank of Massachusetts (the ‘Bank’), with reference to Irrevocable 
Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ (the ‘Letter of Credit’; the terms defined therein and 
not otherwise defined herein being used herein as therein defined) issued by the Bank in favor of 
the Trustee, as follows: 

 
(1) The Trustee is the Trustee under the Indenture. 
 
(2) The Trustee is making a drawing under the Letter of Credit with respect to a 

payment, upon a tender of all or less than all of the Bonds that are Outstanding (as defined in the 
Indenture) (other than Institution Bonds or Pledged Bonds, as those terms are defined in the 
Indenture), of the unpaid principal amount of, and up to 45 days’ interest on, the Bonds to be 
purchased as a result of [optional tender pursuant to the terms of Section 301(d)(iii) of the 
Indenture] [mandatory tender pursuant to the terms of Section 301(d)(iv) of the Indenture].* 

 
 (3) The amount of the Tender Drawing of which this Certificate is a part is equal to 
the sum of (i) $____________ being drawn in respect of the payment of unpaid principal of 
Bonds (other than Institution Bonds or Pledged Bonds, as those terms are defined in the 
Indenture) to be purchased as a result of a tender, plus (ii) $___________ being drawn in respect 
of the payment of interest on such Bonds. 
 

(4) The Trustee shall register or cause to be registered in the name of the Bank, or its 
designee, as pledgee of the Borrower, as provided in Section 312 of the Indenture, and shall 
deliver or cause to be delivered to the Bank or its designee a principal amount of Bonds equal to 
the principal amount of the Tender Drawing of which this Certificate is a part as promptly as 
practicable, and in any event within three (3) Business Days after presentation of said Tender 
Drawing. 

 
(5) Upon receipt by the undersigned of the amount demanded hereby, (a) the 

undersigned will apply the same directly to the payment when due of the purchase price of, and 
interest on, Bonds tendered pursuant to the Indenture (or, to the extent not needed for that 
purpose, will be returned to the Bank), (b) no portion of said amount shall be applied by the 
                         

 * Select one 
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undersigned for any other purpose, and (c) no portion of said amount shall be commingled with 
other funds held by the undersigned. 

 
(6) The amount of the Tender Drawing of which this Certificate is a part was 

computed in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Bonds and the Indenture and does 
not exceed the amount available to be drawn by the Trustee under the Letter of Credit; the 
amount being drawn hereby in respect of interest does not exceed the Interest Component and 
the amount being drawn hereby in respect of principal does not exceed the Principal Component. 

 
The Trustee acknowledges that, pursuant to the terms of the Letter of Credit, upon the 

Bank’s honoring of the Tender Drawing of which this Certificate is a part, the amount of the 
Letter of Credit and the amounts available to be drawn by the Trustee thereunder by any 
subsequent Drawing are automatically decreased, subject to reinstatement as set forth in the 
Letter of Credit. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Trustee has executed and delivered this Certificate as of 
the _____ day of _________________, _____. 
 

 [     ] 
 _______________________________ 
 as Trustee  
 
 By:_____________________________” 

Name: 
Title: 
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Annex D 
 

[Form of Certificate for Partial Redemption Drawing] 
 

“CERTIFICATE FOR DRAWING IN CONNECTION WITH THE PAYMENT 
OF PRINCIPAL AND UP TO 45 DAYS’ INTEREST UPON PARTIAL 

REDEMPTION 
 

Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. ________ 
 
 

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of the undersigned Trustee (the ‘Trustee’), 
hereby certifies to Citizens Bank of Massachusetts (the ‘Bank’), with reference to Irrevocable 
Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ (the ‘Letter of Credit’; the terms defined therein and 
not otherwise defined herein being used herein as therein defined) issued by the Bank in favor of 
the Trustee, as follows: 

 
(1) The Trustee is the Trustee under the Indenture. 
 
(2) The Trustee is making a drawing under the Letter of Credit with respect to a 

payment, upon redemption of less than all of the Bonds that are Outstanding (as defined in the 
Indenture), of the unpaid principal amount of, and up to 45 days’ interest on, the Bonds to be 
redeemed pursuant to Section 310 of the Indenture (other than Institution Bonds or Pledged 
Bonds, as those terms are defined in the Indenture). 

 
(3) The amount of the Partial Redemption Drawing of which this Certificate is a part 

is equal to the sum of (i) $____________ being drawn in respect of the payment of unpaid 
principal of Bonds (other than Institution Bonds or Pledged Bonds, as those terms are defined in 
the Indenture) to be redeemed, plus (ii) $_________ being drawn in respect of the payment of 
interest on such Bonds. 

 
(4) The amount of the Partial Redemption Drawing of which this Certificate is a part 

was computed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Bonds and the Indenture and 
does not exceed the amount available to be drawn by the Trustee under the Letter of Credit; the 
amount being drawn hereby in respect of interest does not exceed the Interest Component and 
the amount being drawn hereby in respect of principal does not exceed the Principal Component. 

 
(5) This Certificate and the Partial Redemption Drawing of which it is a part are 

dated, and are being presented to the Bank for payment on, the date on which the unpaid 
principal amount of and interest on Bonds to be redeemed are due and payable under the 
Indenture upon redemption of less than all of the Bonds that are Outstanding (as defined in the 
Indenture). 

 
(6) Upon receipt by the undersigned of the amount demanded hereby, (a) the 

undersigned will apply the same directly to the payment when due of the principal amount of, 
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and interest on, Bonds to be redeemed pursuant to the Indenture, (b) no portion of said amount 
shall be applied by the undersigned for any other purpose, and (c) no portion of said amount 
shall be commingled with other funds held by the undersigned. 

 
The Trustee acknowledges that, pursuant to the terms of the Letter of Credit, upon the 

Bank’s honoring the Partial Redemption Drawing of which this Certificate is a part, the amount 
of the Letter of Credit and the amounts available to be drawn by the Trustee thereunder by any 
subsequent Drawing are automatically and permanently decreased by the amounts set forth in the 
Letter of Credit. The Trustee acknowledges, that pursuant to the immediately preceding 
sentence, (a) the Principal Component of the Letter of Credit is being permanently reduced by 
$_____________ (the amount set forth in clause (i) of Paragraph 3 above), and (b) the maximum 
amount to which the Interest Component can be reinstated under the Letter of Credit is being 
permanently reduced by $___________ (the product of (x) the amount set forth in clause (i) of 
Paragraph 3 above, times (y) 0.10, times (z) 45/365). 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Trustee has executed and delivered this Certificate as of 
the _______ day of _________, 20 _____. 
 

 [  ] 
 
 as Trustee 
 
 By:__________________________” 
      Name: 
      Title:     
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Annex E 
 

[Form of Certificate for Final Drawing] 
 

“CERTIFICATE FOR DRAWING IN CONNECTION WITH THE PAYMENT OF 
PRINCIPAL AND UP TO 45 DAYS’ INTEREST, UPON STATED OR ACCELERATED 

MATURITY OR OPTIONAL OR MANDATORY REDEMPTION AS A WHOLE 
 

Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ 
 
 
 The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of the undersigned Trustee (the ‘Trustee’), 
hereby certifies to Citizens Bank of Massachusetts (the ‘Bank’), with reference to Irrevocable 
Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ (the ‘Letter of Credit’; the terms defined therein and 
not otherwise defined herein being used herein as therein defined) issued by the Bank in favor of 
the Trustee, as follows: 
 

(l) The Trustee is the Trustee under the Indenture. 
 
(2) The Trustee is making a drawing under the Letter of Credit with respect to a 

payment* 
 

[ ] upon stated maturity, pursuant to Section 301(b) of the Indenture, 
 
[ ] upon acceleration, pursuant to Section 502 of the Indenture, 
 
[ ] upon optional redemption in whole, pursuant to Section 310 of the Indenture, 
 
[ ] upon mandatory redemption in whole, pursuant to Section 310 of the 

Indenture, 
 

of the unpaid principal amount of and up to 45 days’ interest on, all of the Bonds that are 
Outstanding within the meaning of the Indenture (other than Institution Bonds or Pledged Bonds, 
as those terms are defined in the Indenture). 
 

(3) The amount of the Final Drawing of which this Certificate is a part is equal to the 
sum of (i) $_____________ being drawn in respect of the payment of unpaid principal of Bonds 
(other than Institution Bonds or Pledged Bonds, as those terms are defined in the Indenture), plus 
(ii) $_________ being drawn in respect of the payment of interest on such Bonds. 

 
(4) The amount of the Final Drawing of which this Certificate is a part was computed 

in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Bonds and the Indenture and does not exceed 
the amount available to be drawn by the Trustee under the Letter of Credit; the amount being 
                         
* Check applicable Section. 
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drawn hereby in respect of interest does not exceed the Interest Component and the amount 
being drawn hereby in respect of principal of Bonds does not exceed the Principal Component. 

 
(5) Upon receipt by the undersigned of the amount demanded hereby, (a) the 

undersigned will apply the same directly to the payment when due of the principal amount of, 
and interest on, the Bonds pursuant to the Indenture, (b) no portion of said amount shall be 
applied by the undersigned for any other purpose, and (c) no portion of said amount shall be 
commingled with other funds held by the undersigned. 

 
The Trustee acknowledges that, pursuant to the terms of the Letter of Credit, upon the 

Bank’s honoring the Final Drawing of which this Certificate is a part, the Letter of Credit is 
automatically terminated and no further amounts are available to be drawn by the Trustee 
thereunder. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Trustee has executed and delivered this Certificate as of 
the _____________ day of ____________, _____. 
 

 [  ] 
 
 as Trustee 
 
 By:_________________________” 
      Name: 

             Title:     
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Annex F 
 

[Form of Reinstatement Certificate for Tender Drawing] 
 

“CERTIFICATE FOR THE REINSTATEMENT OF AMOUNTS AVAILABLE UNDER 
IRREVOCABLE DIRECT PAY LETTER OF CREDIT NO. _________ 

 
The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of the undersigned Trustee (the ‘Trustee’), 

hereby certifies to Citizens Bank of Massachusetts (the ‘Bank’), with reference to Irrevocable 
Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. _________ (the ‘Letter of Credit’; the terms defined therein and 
not otherwise defined herein being used herein as therein defined) issued by the Bank in favor of 
the Trustee, as follows: 

 
(1) The Trustee is the Trustee under the Indenture. 
 
(2) The amount of $__________ paid to you today by or on behalf of the Borrower is 

a payment made to reimburse you, pursuant to Section 2(f) of the Reimbursement Agreement 
dated as of November 12, 2002 (the ‘Reimbursement Agreement’) between the Borrower and the 
Bank, for amounts drawn under the Letter of Credit by Tender Drawings.  Of such amount, 
$___________ represents the aggregate principal amount of Bonds resold or to be resold on 
behalf of the Borrower.  The Trustee hereby requests that you reinstate the Principal Component 
of the Letter of Credit upon receipt of such payment in an amount equal to said principal amount 
of Bonds and that you reinstate the portion of the Interest Component of the Letter of Credit 
relating to such principal amount of Bonds. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Trustee has executed and delivered this Certificate as of 

the __________ day of ___________, _____. 
 [__________________________] 
 as Trustee 
 
 
 By:_______________________” 
      Name: 

             Title: 
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Annex G 
 

[Form of Transfer Certificate] 
 

“INSTRUCTION TO TRANSFER 
 
 
            [Date] 
 
 
Citizens Bank of Massachusetts 
International Division 
20 Cabot Road 
Mail Stop:  MMF470 
Medford, MA  02155 

 
Re:  Citizens Bank of Massachusetts Irrevocable Direct Pay Letter of Credit  

No. _________ 
 
Gentlemen: 
 

For value received, the undersigned beneficiary hereby irrevocably transfers to the 
following (the Transferee): 

 
________________________________ 

[Name of Transferee] 
 

__________________________________ 
[Address] 

` 
 

 
all rights of the undersigned beneficiary to draw under the above-captioned Letter of Credit (the 
‘Letter of Credit’) in its entirety.  The Transferee has succeeded the undersigned as Trustee 
under the Indenture (as defined in the Letter of Credit). 
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 By this transfer, all rights of the undersigned beneficiary in the Letter of Credit are 
transferred to the Transferee and the Transferee shall have the sole rights as beneficiary thereof, 
including sole rights relating to any amendments of the Letter of Credit, whether increases in the 
amount to be drawn thereunder, extensions of the expiration date thereof, or other amendments, 
and whether such amendments now exist or are made after the date hereof.  All amendments of 
the Letter of Credit are to be delivered directly to the Transferee without necessity of any 
consent of or notice to the undersigned beneficiary.  The undersigned hereby certifies that the 
Transferee has become successor Trustee under the Indenture, and has accepted such 
appointment in writing. 
 
 The original of the Letter of Credit is returned herewith, and in accordance therewith we 
ask you to endorse the within transfer on the reverse thereof, and forward it directly to the 
Transferee with your customary notice of transfer. 
 
SIGNATURE AUTHENTICATED 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
(Bank) 
 

Very truly yours, 
 
[             ], as predecessor Trustee 
 
By:_________________________________ 
 Authorized Officer 

 
 
 We certify that we have succeeded [predecessor Trustee] as trustee under the Indenture. 
 
 
 [Name of Transferee] 
 
 
 By: ” 
  Authorized Officer 
 
ACCEPTED BY: 
CITIZENS BANK OF MASSACHUSETTS 
 
 
By:_________________________________ 
 Authorized Signature 
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  APPENDIX G 

 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF 
THE REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

 Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. (the “Borrower”) has entered into a Reimbursement 
Agreement with Citizens Bank of Massachusetts (the “Bank”) pursuant to which the Borrower 
has agreed to reimburse the Bank for sums drawn on the Letter of Credit.  The Reimbursement 
Agreement also provides for commitment fees, drawing fees, transfer fees and other fees and 
charges.  The Borrower’s obligations under the Reimbursement Agreement are to be secured by 
the grant of security interests in accounts receivable and related property of the Borrower. 

 The Reimbursement Agreement sets forth conditions to the issuance of the Letter of 
Credit and certain representations and warranties which are to be true at the closing date.  Such 
representations and warranties include representations as to:  due organization, legal existence 
and legal capacity of the Borrower; due corporate approval, execution and delivery of financing 
documents; enforceability of financing documents; no litigation; compliance with applicable 
agreements; payment of taxes; compliance with laws; obtaining permits; no violation of 
Regulation U; lack of encumbrances; accuracy of financial information; no adverse changes; no 
ERISA violation; no burdensome contracts; principal place of business of the Borrower and 
locations of books and records relating to collateral; environmental matters; no casualty or 
condemnation; no adverse easements or restrictions on the Borrower’s property; utility services 
and access to the Borrower’s property; no flood zone; intellectual property matters; solvency of 
the Borrower; and accuracy of information furnished. 

 The Reimbursement Agreement also contains affirmative and negative covenants and 
reporting requirements.  Affirmative covenants of the Borrower include:  payment of amounts 
due to the Bank; payment of taxes, charges and other obligations; maintenance of insurance; 
maintenance of the Borrower’s legal existence and qualification; compliance with laws; the 
Bank’s rights of access and inspection; maintenance of proper books and records; maintenance 
and repair of property; rate covenant; continued conduct of business by the Borrower and a 
prohibition against the Borrower undertaking new lines of business; maintenance of the 
Borrower’s principal banking relationships with the Bank; maintenance of satisfactory 
management; providing further assurances; maintenance by the Borrower of a debt service 
coverage ratio of not less than 1.25 to 1; maintenance by the Borrower of a “modified leverage 
ratio” (as defined therein) of not less than 1.0 to 1; and compliance with the Bank’s disbursement 
requirements.  Negative covenants include:  limitation on further indebtedness, subject to 
exceptions and baskets described therein; limitation on further liens, subject to exceptions 
described therein; limitation on guaranties, subject to exceptions described therein; prohibition 
against dissolution or merger and limitations on asset dispositions as described therein; 
prohibitions against factoring; limitations on loans to other persons and investments in other 
persons, subject to exceptions described therein; prohibition against asset write-ups and changes 
in fiscal year; limitations on adverse changes to ERISA plans; prohibition against change in 
principal place of business or location of assets, change in name, legal structure or jurisdiction of 
incorporation or other similar changes, unless the Bank is given notice and such documentation 
as it may require in order to protect its security interests; prohibition against sale-leaseback 
transactions; limitations on formation of subsidiaries, investment in subsidiaries and membership 
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in partnerships; limitations on transactions with affiliates; requirements relating to environmental 
hazards; limitations on changes to proposed Project; limitations on payment of distributions; and 
prohibition against becoming a subsidiary of another entity.  Reporting requirements include 
requirements to furnish: annual audited financial statements of the Borrower; quarterly 
management-prepared financial statements; quarterly and annual compliance certificates; notice 
of default; annual operating budget; quarterly investment reports; quarterly campaign reports; 
management letters; notice of material litigation; notice of ERISA violations; notice of change of 
accountants; notice of environmental violations; notice of loss of material permits; notice of 
material loss or casualty damage; notice of material labor problems; notice of other adverse 
developments; and such other information as the Bank may reasonably request. 

 The Reimbursement Agreement also sets out certain Events of Default.  These include:  
(i) failure to pay; (ii) failure to observe certain affirmative covenants (including covenants 
relating to insurance, payment of taxes, legal existence, compliance with laws and observance of 
financial ratios), as well as failure to comply with any of the negative covenants or reporting 
requirements; (iii) default under any other covenant for 30 days after notice; (iv) failure of any 
representation or warranty to have been true in any material respect; (v) cross-default to other 
agreements now or hereafter made by the Borrower with the Bank; (vi) cross-default to other 
indebtedness in excess of $250,000; (vii) dissolution of the Borrower or bankruptcy, 
reorganization or similar proceedings affecting the Borrower or any of its subsidiaries, other than 
involuntary proceedings dismissed within 60 days; (viii) material ERISA violations; (ix) material 
loss, theft, damage or destruction; (x) unenforceability of financing documents; (xi) any loss of 
perfection or priority or context of the Bank’s liens; (xii) final uninsured judgments in excess of 
$100,000 outstanding for more than 30 days; (xiii) occurrence of material adverse change; 
(xiv) cross-defaults to Bond Trust Indenture and other agreements; and (xv) any material 
environmental problem. 

 Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Reimbursement Agreement, the 
Bank may, among other things:  (i) direct the Bond Trustee to accelerate the Bonds; (ii) enforce 
its rights under its security agreement and related documentation; (iii) enforce its rights against 
the Borrower through legal action; (iv) exercise other remedies under applicable law or other 
agreements, and/or (v) give notice of non-reinstatement of the interest component of the Letter of 
Credit. 

 The Reimbursement Agreement also contains provisions as to the Bank’s right (but not 
obligation) to cure certain defaults of the Borrower; indemnification of the Bank by the 
Borrower; amendments and waivers; notices and other miscellaneous provisions. 
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APPENDIX H

H-1

[PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL]

[Closing Date]

Massachusetts Health and Educational
Facilities Authority

99 Summer Street, Suite 1000
Boston, Massachusetts 02110

We have acted as bond counsel to the Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority”)
in connection with the issuance by the Authority of the following bonds (the “Bonds”):

$35,000,000
Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds,

Peabody Essex Museum Issue, Series 2002

We have examined the law and such certified proceedings and other papers as deemed necessary to render this
opinion, including the Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002 (the “Agreement”) among the
Authority, Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. (the “Institution”) and Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee (the
“Trustee”).

As to questions of fact material to our opinion we have relied upon representations of the Authority and the
Institution contained in the Agreement, the certified proceedings and other certifications of public officials furnished
to us, and certifications by officials of the Institution, without undertaking to verify the same by independent
investigation.

The Bonds are issued pursuant to the Agreement. The Bonds are payable solely from funds to be provided therefor
by the Institution pursuant to the Agreement, including amounts drawn by the Trustee under a letter of credit
supporting the Bonds (the “Letter of Credit”) issued by Citizens Bank of Massachusetts (the “Bank”) to the Trustee
pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002 between the Bank and the Institution (the
“Reimbursement Agreement”). Under the Agreement the Institution has agreed to make payments sufficient to pay
when due the principal (including sinking fund installments) of, and premium (if any) and interest on the Bonds.
Such payments and other moneys payable to the Authority or the Trustee under the Agreement, (collectively the
“Revenues”), and the rights of the Authority under the Agreement to receive the same (excluding, however, certain
administrative fees, indemnification and reimbursements), are pledged and assigned by the Authority to the Trustee
as security for the Bonds. The Bonds are payable solely from the Revenues.

Reference is made to an opinion of even date of Ropes & Gray, counsel to the Institution, with respect to, among
other matters, the corporate existence of the Institution, the power of the Institution to enter into and perform the
Agreement, the authorization, execution and delivery of the Agreement by the Institution, and the extent to which
the Agreement is binding and enforceable upon the Institution.

We express no opinion with respect to compliance by the Institution with applicable legal requirements with respect
to the Agreement, the Letter of Credit or the Reimbursement Agreement or in connection with the construction,
equipping or operation of the Project.

Based on our examination, we are of opinion, as of the date hereof and under existing law, as follows:

1. The Authority is a duly created and validly existing body corporate and politic and a public
instrumentality of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts with the power to enter into and perform the Agreement
and to issue the Bonds.
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2. The Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Authority and is a valid
and binding obligation of the Authority enforceable upon the Authority. As provided in Chapter 614 of the Acts of
1968 of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as amended, the Agreement creates a valid lien on the Revenues and
on the rights of the Authority or the Trustee on behalf of the Authority to receive Revenues under the Agreement
(except certain rights to indemnification, reimbursements and fees) to secure the Bonds.

3. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Authority and are valid and
binding special obligations of the Authority, payable solely from the Revenues.

4. Under existing law, interest on the Bonds is excluded from the gross income of the owners of the
Bonds for federal income tax purposes. In addition, interest on the Bonds will not be treated as a preference item in
calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “IRC”) on
individuals and corporations. However, we call your attention to the fact that interest on the Bonds will be taken
into account in determining adjusted current earnings for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax
imposed on corporations (as defined for federal income tax purposes). We also call your attention to the fact that
failure by the Institution or the Authority to comply subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds with certain
requirements of the IRC may cause interest on the Bonds to become includable in the gross income of the owners of
the Bonds for federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Institution and, to
the extent necessary, the Authority have covenanted in the Agreement to take all lawful action necessary under the
IRC to ensure that interest on the Bonds will remain excluded from the gross income of the owners of the Bonds for
federal income tax purposes and to refrain from taking any action which would cause interest on the Bonds to
become includable in such gross income. We express no opinion regarding any other federal tax consequences
arising with respect to the Bonds.

5. Under existing law, interest on the Bonds and any profit made on the sale thereof are exempt from
Massachusetts personal income taxes and the Bonds are exempt from Massachusetts personal property taxes. We
express no opinion as to other Massachusetts tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds nor as to the
taxability of the Bonds or the income therefrom under the laws of any state other than Massachusetts.

It is to be understood that the rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds and the
Agreement are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting
creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter enacted to the extent constitutionally applicable and that their enforcement
may also be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.

Yours faithfully,



APPENDIX I

PROPOSED FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and delivered by
Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. (the “Institution”) and Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as dissemination agent (in
such capacity, the “Dissemination Agent”) in connection with the issuance of $35,000,000 Massachusetts Health
and Educational Facilities Authority Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Peabody Essex Museum Issue, Series
2002 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are being issued and the proceeds thereof loaned to the Institution pursuant to the
Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of November 12, 2002 (the “Agreement”) among the Massachusetts Health and
Educational Facilities Authority (the “Issuer”), the Institution and Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as trustee (in
such capacity as the “Trustee”). The Institution and the Dissemination Agent covenant and agree as follows:

SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement. This Disclosure Agreement is being executed and
delivered by the Institution and the Dissemination Agent for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds and in order to
assist the Participating Underwriters in complying with the Rule. The Institution and the Dissemination Agent
acknowledge that the Issuer has undertaken no responsibility with respect to any reports, notices or disclosures
provided or required under this Disclosure Agreement, and has no liability to any person, including any owner of the
Bonds, with respect to any such reports, notices or disclosures.

SECTION 2. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Agreement, which apply to any
capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement unless otherwise defined in this Section, the following
capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Institution pursuant to, and as described
in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.

“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the Chief Operating Officer of the Institution or its designee, or
such other person as the Institution shall designate in writing to the Dissemination Agent from time to time.

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean Flagship Bank and Trust Company, acting in its capacity as
Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the Institution and
which has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation.

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Agreement.

“National Repository” shall mean any nationally recognized municipal securities information repository for
purposes of the Rule. The current National Repositories are listed on Exhibit A attached hereto.

“Owners of the Bonds” shall mean the registered owners, including beneficial owners, of the Bonds.

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds required to comply
with the Rule in connection with the offering of the Bonds.

“Repository” shall mean each National Repository and each State Depository.

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

“State Depository” shall mean any public or private depository or entity designated by The Commonwealth
of Massachusetts as a state information depository for the purpose of the Rule. As of the date of this Disclosure
Agreement, there is no State Depository.

SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports.

(a) Not later than one hundred thirty-five days after the end of the Institution’s fiscal year,
commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2002, the Dissemination Agent shall provide to each
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Repository an Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.
Not later than fifteen business days prior to said date, the Institution shall provide the Annual Report to the
Dissemination Agent and the Trustee (if the Trustee is not the Dissemination Agent). In each case, the Annual
Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, and may
cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement; provided that the audited
financial statements of the Institution may be submitted, when available, separately from the balance of the Annual
Report. If audited financial statements for the preceding fiscal year are not available when the Annual Report is
submitted, the Annual Report will include unaudited financial statements for the preceding fiscal year and the
Institution shall provide the audited financial statements as soon as practicable after the audited financial statements
become available.

(b) If by fifteen business days prior to the date specified in subsection (a) for providing the
Annual Report to the Repositories, the Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the Annual Report, the
Dissemination Agent shall contact the Institution to determine if the Institution is in compliance with subsection (a).

(c) If the Dissemination Agent has not been provided with an Annual Report within five days
prior to the date required in subsection (a), the Trustee shall send a notice to each Repository in substantially the
form attached as Exhibit B.

(d) The Dissemination Agent shall:

(i) determine each year within five business days prior to the date for providing the
Annual Report the name and address of each National Repository and each State Depository, if
any; and

(ii) within 30 days of providing the Annual Report to each Repository (but not later
than 150 days after the end of the Institution’s fiscal year) file a report with the Institution, the
Issuer and (if the Dissemination Agent is not the Trustee) the Trustee certifying that the Annual
Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, stating the date it was provided,
and listing all the Repositories to which it was provided.

(e) If the Annual Report is not furnished to the Repositories within 135 days after the end of the
Institution’s fiscal year, the Dissemination Agent shall also furnish the Institution, the Issuer and the Trustee (if the
Dissemination Agent is not the Trustee) with an explanation for any late submission or failure to submit the Annual
Report or the Institution’s annual financial statements to any Repository.

(f) Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 3, if any materials to be provided under clause (a)
of this Section to the Dissemination Agent are not received from the Institution within the time period specified in
clause (a) but are received (in whole or in part) at a later date, the Dissemination Agent shall furnish such materials
received from the Institution to the Repositories within 30 days of its receipt of such materials and, within 30 days of
providing such materials to the Repositories, shall file a report with the Institution, the Issuer and the Trustee (if it is
not the Dissemination Agent) similar in content to the report described in clause (d)(ii) of this Section. Except for
its duties expressly set forth in this Section, the Dissemination Agent shall have no responsibility for the failure of
the Institution to provide it with the materials described in clause (a) on a timely basis.

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports. The Institution’s Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by
reference the following:

(a) Quantitative information for the preceding fiscal year of the type presented in Appendix A of
the Issuer’s Official Statement dated December 20, 2002 relating to the Bonds in the tables appearing under the
headings “Financial Information—Membership and Attendance,” “Financial Information—Annual Contributions for
Operations,” “Financial Information—Investments” (the table labeled “Peabody Essex Museum Investments at
Market”) and Exhibit A to Appendix A entitled “Summary Financial Information, Peabody Essex Museum.”
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(b) The most recently available audited financial statements of the Institution, prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as in effect from time to time.

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other documents, including official
statements of debt issues with respect to which the Institution is an “obligated person” (as defined by the Rule),
which have been filed with each of the Repositories or the Securities and Exchange Commission. If the document
incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board. The Institution shall clearly identify each such other document so incorporated by reference.

SECTION 5. Reporting of Material Events.

(a) This Section 5 shall govern the giving of notices of the occurrence of any of the following
events with respect to the Bonds, to the extent known by the Institution or the Dissemination Agent as applicable:

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies.

2. Non-payment related defaults.

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties.

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties.

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform.

6. Receipt by the Issuer of an adverse tax opinion or the occurrence of an event affecting the tax-
exempt status of the Bonds.

7. Modifications to rights of the Owners of the Bonds.

8. Bond calls (the giving of notice of regularly scheduled mandatory sinking fund redemption shall
not be deemed material for this purpose under clauses (b) and (c) of this Section 5).

9. Defeasance of the Bonds or any portion thereof.

10. Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds.

11. Rating changes.

(b) The Dissemination Agent shall, in a timely manner after obtaining actual knowledge of the
occurrence of any of the Listed Events, contact the Disclosure Representative, inform such person of the event, and
request that the Institution promptly notify the Trustee in writing whether or not to report the event pursuant to
subsection (e).

(c) Whenever the Institution obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event, because of a
notice from the Dissemination Agent pursuant to subsection (b) or otherwise, if such Listed Event is material under
applicable federal securities laws, the Institution shall promptly notify the Dissemination Agent in writing. Such
notice shall instruct the Dissemination Agent to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (e).

(d) If such Listed Event is not material, the Institution shall so notify the Dissemination Agent in
writing and instruct the Dissemination Agent not to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (e).

(e) If the Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the Institution to report the occurrence of a
Listed Event, the Trustee shall file a notice of such occurrence with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, the
National Depositories and State Depositories, if any, with a copy to the Institution.
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SECTION 6. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Institution’s obligations under this Disclosure
Agreement shall terminate upon the legal defeasance in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, prior
redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds or upon delivery to the Dissemination Agent of an opinion of
counsel expert in federal securities laws selected by the Institution and acceptable to the Dissemination Agent to the
effect that compliance with this Disclosure Agreement no longer is required by the Rule. If the Institution’s
obligations under the Agreement are assumed in full by some other entity, such person shall be responsible for
compliance with this Disclosure Agreement in the same manner as if it were the Institution and the original
Institution shall have no further responsibility hereunder.

SECTION 7. Dissemination Agent. The Institution may, from time to time, appoint or engage a
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, and may discharge
any Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. If at any time there is not
any other designated Dissemination Agent, the Institution shall be the Dissemination Agent. The initial
Dissemination Agent shall be Flagship Bank and Trust Company.

The Dissemination Agent accepts and agrees to perform the duties imposed upon it by this Disclosure
Agreement, but only upon the terms and conditions set forth herein. The Dissemination Agent shall have only such
duties in its capacity as such as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Agreement. To the extent that Flagship
Bank and Trust Company’s duties as Dissemination Agent conflict with its duties as Trustee under the Agreement,
the duties of Flagship Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee, shall take precedence.

The Dissemination Agent may resign and thereby become discharged from the duties as such under this
Disclosure Agreement by notice in writing mailed postage prepaid to the Institution, such resignation to become
effective on the tenth (10th) business day following the Institution’s receipt of notice thereof (or at such different
date and time as stated in such notice). Any such resignation shall take effect immediately upon the appointment of
a new Dissemination Agent hereunder, if such new Dissemination Agent shall be appointed before the time stated in
such notice (if any) and shall then accept the duties of Dissemination Agent hereunder. The Institution agrees to
undertake the obligations of Dissemination Agent hereunder if a successor Dissemination Agent is not engaged
before the effective date of the resignation of the previous Dissemination Agent.

SECTION 8. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the
Institution and the Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure Agreement (and, except as provided in the last
sentence of Section 8, the Dissemination Agent shall agree to any amendment so requested by the Institution or if
the Dissemination Agent is the Institution, then the Trustee) and any provision of this Disclosure Agreement may be
waived if such amendment or waiver is permitted by the Rule, as evidenced by an opinion of counsel expert in
federal securities law acceptable to the Institution and the Dissemination Agent or if the Dissemination Agent is the
Institution, then the Trustee, which may also include bond counsel to the Issuer, to the effect that such amendment
or waiver would not cause the Disclosure Agreement to violate the Rule. The first Annual Report filed after
enactment of any amendment to or waiver of this Disclosure Agreement shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons
for the amendment or waiver and the impact of the change in the type of information being provided in the Annual
Report. Neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent shall be required to accept or acknowledge any
amendment of this Disclosure Agreement if the amendment adversely affects its respective rights or immunities or
increases its respective duties hereunder.

If the amendment pertains to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, the
Annual Report for the year in which the change is made shall include a comparison between the financial statements
or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former
accounting principles. The comparison shall include a qualitative discussion of the differences in the accounting
principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles on the presentation of the financial information
in order to provide information to investors to enable them to evaluate the ability of the Institution to meet its
obligations. To the extent reasonably feasible, the comparison shall also be quantitative. A notice of the change in
the accounting principles shall be sent to each Repository.

SECTION 9. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the
Institution from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure
Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or
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notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Agreement. If the
Institution chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in
addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the Institution shall have no obligation
under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event.

SECTION 10. Default. In the event of a failure of the Institution or the Dissemination Agent to comply
with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee may (and, at the request of the Owners of at least 51%
aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, shall), or any Owner of Bonds may, seek a court order for
specific performance by the Institution or Dissemination Agent of its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement.
A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Agreement, and the
sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any failure of the Institution or Dissemination Agent to
comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an action for specific performance of the defaulting party’s
obligations hereunder and not for money damages in any amount.

SECTION 11. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent
shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Agreement and Section 602(e) of the
Agreement. The Institution agrees, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent,
its officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and liabilities which it may incur
arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses
(including attorneys’ fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due to the
Dissemination Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct. The obligations of the Institution under this Section shall
survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds.

SECTION 12. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the Issuer,
the Institution, the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, and the Owners from time to time of the Bonds, and shall
create no rights in any other person or entity.

SECTION 13. Counterparts. This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each
of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

SECTION 14. Notices. Unless otherwise expressly provided, all notices to the Issuer, the Institution,
the Trustee, and the Dissemination Agent shall be in writing and shall be deemed sufficiently given if sent by
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or delivered during a Business Day to such parties at the address
specified in Section 1102 of the Agreement and with respect to the Dissemination Agent, at Two Burlington Square,
Burlington, Vermont 05401, attention Corporate Trust Department or, as to all of the foregoing, to such other
address as the addressee shall have indicated by prior written notice to the one giving notice.

SECTION 15. Disclaimer. No Annual Report or notice of a Listed Event filed by or on behalf of the
Institution under this Disclosure Agreement shall obligate the Institution to file any information regarding matters
other than those specifically described in Section 4 and Section 5 hereof, nor shall any such filing constitute a
representation by the Institution or raise any inference that no other material events have occurred with respect to the
Institution or the Bonds or that all material information regarding the Institution or the Bonds has been disclosed.
The Institution shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update information provided pursuant to
this Disclosure Agreement except as specifically stated herein.

SECTION 16. Fees. The Institution shall pay to the Dissemination Agent reasonable compensation for
its services and pay or reimburse the Dissemination Agent for its reasonable expenses and disbursements, including
attorneys' fees, hereunder. Any fees, expenses, reimbursements or other charges which the Dissemination Agent
may be entitled to receive from the Institution hereunder, if not paid when due, shall bear interest at the "base rate"
of the Trustee (or, if none, the nearest equivalent).

SECTION 17. Governing Law. This instrument shall be governed by the internal laws of The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Disclosure Agreement to be duly executed under
seal all as of the date hereof.

Date: December __, 2002 PEABODY ESSEX MUSEUM, INC.

By______________________________
Title:

FLAGSHIP BANK AND TRUST
COMPANY, as Dissemination Agent

By_____________________________
Vice President
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EXHIBIT A

NATIONAL REPOSITORIES

Bloomberg Municipal Repository
100 Business Park Drive

Skillman, New Jersey 08558
Phone: (609) 279-3225
Fax: (609) 279-5962

http://www.bloomberg.com/markets/muni_contactinfo.html
Email: Munis@Bloomberg.com

DPC Data Inc.
One Executive Drive
Fort Lee, NJ 07024

Phone: (201) 346-0701
Fax: (201) 947-0107

http://www.dpcdata.com
Email: nrmsir@dpcdata.com

FT Interactive Data
Attn: NRMSIR

100 William Street
New York, New York 10038

Phone: (212) 771-6999
Fax: (212) 771-7390 (Secondary Market Information)

(212) 771-7391 (Primary Market Information)
http://www.interactivedata.com
Email: NRMSIR@FTID.com

Standard & Poor’s J. J. Kenny Repository
55 Water Street

45th Floor
New York, NY 10041
Phone: (212) 438-4595
Fax: (212) 438-3975

www.jjkenny.com/jjkenny/pser_descrip_data_rep.html
Email: nrmsir_repository@sandp.com
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EXHIBIT B

NOTICE TO REPOSITORIES OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Name of Issuer: Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority

Name of Issue: Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Peabody Essex Museum Issue, Series 2002

Date of Issuance: December __, 2002

CUSIP Numbers:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Peabody Essex Museum, Inc. (the “Institution”) has not provided an
Annual Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by the Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated
December __, 2002 between the Institution and the Trustee. [The Institution anticipates that the Annual Report will
be filed by ___________________.]

Dated: ________________

FLAGSHIP BANK AND TRUST
COMPANY, as Dissemination Agent

By__________________________

cc: Peabody Essex Museum, Inc.
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